WLICH
HE o

By S5k Stock code:2338.HK

2021 | 4E

Annual Report

-

ggis=nz
== > - 184 5 A

FSEEe -7 S EEEESsESNEEEEEEEEERRE.. aEr( cEEmmm 02020202 CEEEEESEm

LT imEr{ eEmmmm $ =EEEEEREm_ S
1

\'wﬁ ;/
— >
3 HESSEITIR I BIR 2 G

-------
-------
e

g i NVEICHAI POWER CO..LTD.



Chairman’s Statement

7 139
EFEHRES

16 Management Discussion and Analysis 141
EEBENREAD N

34 Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management 143
EE EEREREEAE

45 Directors’ Report 144
Esegs

93 Supervisory Committee’s Report 146
EEERE

99 Corporate Governance Report 149
hEERBRSE

122 Auditors’ Report Lue
EiHE

132 Consolidated Balance Sheet Lu8

EHEERMER

AHREERBHE

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
EHEERER

Company Balance Sheet
REEERER

Company Income Statement
DA A BER

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
RARREZZBR

Company Cash Flow Statement
AARERER

Notes to Financial Statements
B A SRR M A

Supplemental Information

Financial Summary

MBHBE




CORPORATE INFORMATION nasmn

DIRECTORS g5
Executive Directors HITES
Tan Xuguang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) BIBN(EERFEEHNTE)
Zhang Quan ® R
Xu Xinyu "I E
Sun Shaojun RALE
Yuan Hongming (Executive President) RERP(HITHEE)
Yan Jianbo (Executive President) BREN(HITHEE)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Zhang Liangfu RRE
Jiang Kui AN
Gordon Riske Gordon Riske
Michael Martin Macht Michael Martin Macht
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUFHITES
Li Hongwu AR
Wen Daocai HEA
Jiang Yan B E
Yu Zhuoping REF
Zhao Huifang HEF
SUPERVISORS ===
Lu Wenwu B R
Ma Changhai BEE
Wu Hongwei REE
COMPANY SECRETARIES naliE
Hu Yunyun (ACCA) = = (ACCA)
(appointed on 30 March 2022) RZZE-_—_F=ZA=+8HLMH
Kwong Kwan Tong (CPA, FCCA, ACMA) BB JE & (CPA, FCCA, ACMA)
(resigned on 30 March 2022) (RZZZZF=A=+H&I)
SECRETARIES TO THE BOARD SS2w3
Liu Tonggang (appointed on 17 August 2021) ZIRMAPR_E=Z—FNANA+TtHLE)
Wang Li (resigned on 17 August 2021) FEWRZZEZ—FNA+ELAGMT

02 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. 4N NBRMNERAS
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

HoNG KONG H-SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

SHARE INFORMATION

Number of issued shares as at 8,726,556,821 Shares
31 December 2021: (6,783,516,821 A Shares,
and 1,943,040,000 H Shares)

Board lot (H Shares) 1,000 H Shares
(A Shares) 100 A Shares

Abbreviation of the Company’s share and Stock Codes
A Shares: Weichai Power (#4%£%)77) 000338
H Shares: Weichai Power (#££8)17) 2338

Stock Exchange Listings
A Shares: Shenzhen Stock Exchange

H Shares: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”)

INVESTORS AND MEDIA RELATIONS

The Company: Capital Operation Department
Tel: (86) 536-229 7056
Fax: (86) 536-819 7073

Website: www.weichaipower.com

Public Relations Wonderful Sky Financial Group Limited
Consultant: Tel: (852) 2851 1038
Fax: (852) 2598 1588
Website: www.wsfg.hk

nao &l (4&)

SRHRECKRBFERE

EEPREBELFELERLQA

BB
AT
2R RNBEBHR183H

A AR O17181712-17165% &

RHER

NZB-—%F 8,726,556,821 %
+ZA=+—88 (6,783,516,821 R AR -
BEITRMHEE 12.1,943,040,000 f& H %)

5B (HR) 1,000 fg H i
(AR) 100 B A %

H

NCINL SRR DY SR A

ARZ ¢ 5 B) ) (Weichai Power) 000338
HA% : % 4 &) /1 (Weichai Power) 2338
RS

AR RYIFEF R 5P

HE : BABMARXSMARRAA
(BB F])

SEENFERERAER

AN N EREED
& % (86) 536-229 7056
{5 H : (86) 536-819 7073
4k : www.weichaipower.com

ASJ- K MABKEBERAT
B : B #% ¢ (852) 2851 1038

fEH : (852) 2598 1588
Ak - www.wsfg.hk

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 £E#R 05



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

I.

FREH

Off
Il

REVIEW OF OPERATING CONDITIONS

In 2021, the Chinese government pursued to construct a new
development landscape and promoted high-quality development. With
the nation’s continuously rising strategic technological power and
strengthened industrial chain resilience, China’s key macroeconomic
indicators maintained within a reasonable range and achieved a good
start of the “14th Five-Year Plan”. The annual gross domestic product
reached RMB114 trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of 8.1%.
The heavy-duty truck industry of China delivered sales volume of
1,395,000 units, representing a year-on-year decrease of 13.8%; the
construction machinery industry of China delivered sales volume of
1,014,000 units (including 417,000 units of diesel forklift trucks),
representing a year-on-year growth of 10.4%.

—KZRRNORBE

201F A RABRBFHEENERER
FREEER BEREBERFEHED
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HE HBI13958W R T/B13.8%: T
TEHMITEEEARI014B & (Hp
XBEMNTER) ALERI04%
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

08

During the reporting period, the Company remained focused on its
principal businesses and proactively responded to external and internal
environmental changes and critical market challenges, achieving high-
quality development. Through expediting breakthroughs in key and core
technologies, we strived to offer the most competitive products and
services and solidified our leading position in the market. Strong
breakthroughs have been made in new business format, new energy
and new technology; overseas business has grown substantially; and the
advantages of diversified businesses and the effect of structural
adjustment have been highlighted, further enhancing our comprehensive
competitiveness. In 2021, the Company’s revenue increased by
approximately 3.2% as compared with that in the corresponding period
of 2020 to approximately RMB203,548 million. Net profit attributable to
shareholders of the listed company was approximately RMB9,254
million, representing an increase of approximately 0.3% as compared
with that in the corresponding period of 2020. Basic earnings per share
was RMB1.1, representing a decrease of approximately 5.2% as
compared with that in the corresponding period of 2020.

1.  Power System Business
Moving towards the high end in all series and aspects, we strived
to take lead in the industry with key and core technologies.
Leveraging the globally collaborated research and development
(R&D) platform, we continued to enhance our forward-looking
research and development capabilities and established a product
development system based on the segment markets. In January
2022, we launched the world’s first diesel engine with a thermal
efficiency of 51.09%, which made another world record. The
enhanced economic efficiency and reliability of our road-going
engines and the leading competitiveness of our products have
won us good reputation in the market. We completed the
development of the new generation WP2.5N/WP7H/WP13H
products whose indicators have reached the world-class level.
Tapping into the high-end pick-up truck market with the 2H
platform, we filled our gap in the 2L engine sector. Following our
inclusion in the first environmental information disclosure list of
Non-road-going Stage IV Products in China, we have sped up our
product layout, innovation and upgrading and completed the
launch of such products in key segment markets and regions. We
continued to upgrade the powertrain system and strengthened

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

our advantages of the industrial chain. In terms of traditional
power, we completed the development of integrated powertrain
system of engines with high thermal efficiency + automated
mechanical transmission (AMT) + axle, which led to a great
enhancement in the power and comfort level. The establishment
of our system simulation capability has achieved remarkable
progress, leading to a significant reduction in fuel consumption
and weight. The excavator hydraulic powertrain of “Weichai
Engine + Linde Hydraulics” has established a significant
differentiated competitive advantage and been widely recognised
by the market and customers. The development of the 240hp CVT
powertrain has been completed and the tractor equipped with this
product is the first model of automatic CVT heavy-duty tractor in
China. Meanwhile, the development of the sample machine of
340hp CVT powertrain has been completed. We have created
significant advantages of product differentiation in different
industries including hydraulic pressure powertrain for static
hydraulic loaders, road rollers and agricultural machinery.

During the reporting period, the development of the Company’s
powertrain business was steady: sales volume of engines increased
year-on-year by 3.1% to 1,020,000 units, in which the sales
volume of heavy-duty truck engines was 429,000 units, achieving
a year-on-year growth in market share by 2.8 percentage points to
30.7%; sales volume of gear boxes was 1,153,000 units, in which
the sales volume of heavy-duty truck gear boxes was 1,010,000
units, achieving a year-on-year growth in market share by 5.3
percentage points to 72.4%; sales volume of axles was 938,000
units, in which the sales volume of medium-heavy duty truck axles
was 697,000 units. At the same time, our high-end strategic
products continued to make contribution, with the sales revenue
of large-diameter engines achieving RMB1.41 billion, representing
a year-on-year growth of 49.3%, and the sales revenue of high-
end hydraulic products achieving RMB560 million, representing a
year-on-year growth of 11.8%. With the continuous optimisation
of the Company’s product structure and the market structure, the
Company’s competitiveness has improved significantly.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

10

Commercial Vehicles Business

By giving full play to the advantages of complete vehicles and
machineries as a leading segment and leveraging the Group's
industrial chain resources, the Company responded promptly to
the demands of customers from the segment markets. Focusing
on the upgrade of laws and regulations on China VI emission
standards, Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (BkFaEE#Y
REAPRAT]), a controlling subsidiary of the Company,
continued to adjust and optimise its product structure and
recorded a total heavy-duty trucks sales volume of 150,000 units.
Seizing the opportunities arising from the switch to China VI
standards, we continued to increase the market share of our major
products in segment markets. Products including port tractors,
urban dump trucks and coal, sand and gravel transportation trucks
continued to maintain the industry’s leading position. The growth
rate of the 480hp standard load logistics vehicles ranked first in
the industry. Overseas and export businesses grew significantly
with an annual sales volume of 19,000 units throughout the Year,
representing a year-on-year increase of 72%. Innovation-driven
development created new competitive edges for complete vehicles
comprehensively. Shaanxi Heavy-duty X6000, a new generation of
self-developed high-end heavy-duty truck, was put into mass
promotion. It is industry-leading in terms of key indicators such as
fuel efficiency, comfort, safety and intelligence and leads the high-
end heavy-duty trucks in China to a new era. We put great effort
in promoting intelligent manufacturing upgrade and
transformation from old to new energy, which improved the
production efficiency by a maximum of 35%. We also accelerated
the construction of a new heavy-duty truck intelligent
manufacturing base to build up new momentum for development.
Leveraging the high-quality big data platform, our pre-sale PPM
index achieved a year-on-year decrease of 57%, winning us the
nomination award of the 4th “China Quality Award”.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.

Intelligent Logistics Business

KION Group AG (“KION"), an overseas controlling subsidiary of
the Company, is a globally leading supplier in the area of
intralogistics, and has two major businesses, namely, Industrial
Trucks & Services and Supply Chain Solutions. KION assists
factories, warehouses and distribution centres to optimise their
materials flow and information flow through the design,
establishment and improvement of logistics solutions in over a
hundred countries and regions around the world. In 2021,
benefitting from the recovery of Industrial Trucks & Services and
the continuous growth of Supply Chain Solutions, KION achieved
outstanding performance in various operating indicators and
realised a sales revenue of EUR10.29 billion, representing a year-
on-year growth of 23.4% and hitting a record high, in which the
business of Supply Chain Solutions (represented by Dematic
Group) realised a sales revenue of EUR3.8 billion, representing a
substantial year-on-year growth of 44.5%, and a total profit of
EUR290 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 97.4%. In
December 2021, the commencement of operation of the “KION
China Forklift Truck Project — Phase One” which also marked the
commencement of the “US Dematic Group Project” will help the
Company to expand its intelligent logistics business in the Asia-
Pacific market, especially the Chinese market.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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New Business Format, New Energy and New
Technology

The Company actively implemented the national carbon peak and
carbon neutrality development strategies by cultivating and
strengthening the new business format and new technologies
such as new energy, electronic control and intelligent networking.
We firmly controlled the high-quality new energy resources and
mastered the core technologies, and accelerated the
implementation of industrialisation. The Company has made
comprehensive layout for its three major powertrain platforms,
namely fuel cell, hybrid and battery electric, and developed the full
series of 30-200kW fuel cell products and put it into mass
production with industry-leading core technology. In April 2021,
led by Weichai, the National Fuel Cell Technology Innovation
Centre (B BARI T ETEIFTH L)) was established in Shandong.
We entered into strategic cooperation with Switzerland-based
FISCHER Spindle Group AG with a view to providing global
customers with high-performance, high-quality and highly cost-
effective fuel cell compressor product solutions. We actively
participated in advancing the “Hydrogen Energy into Ten
Thousand Homes (F#E )" Scientific Technology Demonstration
Project in promoting breakthroughs and industrialisation of the
core technology along the entire hydrogen energy industry chain.
The accumulated operating mileage of hydrogen fuel cell buses
exceeds 15 million kilometers. The application of hydrogen fuel
cell heavy-duty trucks has been achieved in multiple scenarios such
as ports, parks, steel mills and highways. Empowered by digital
technology, we are able to seize the new opportunities of future
development. We sped up the development of controllers in the
power domain, intelligent driving domain and cockpit domain as
well as the development of domain-based electrical/electronic
vehicular architectures, in order to take lead in the development
towards electric-powered, autonomous and connected commercial
vehicles. We explored digital products, digital services and new
business models as well as the transition from traditional
information architecture to platform-supported digital architecture.
We used the smart cloud platform to connect real-time operation
data of products to serve the internal operations and external
customers, thereby realising efficient operation.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

IT. DiviIDENDS AND CAPITALISATION OF RESERVE

I1I

On 30 March 2022, the Company’'s 2021 profit distribution proposal
was considered and approved by the Company’s third meeting of the
sixth session of the Board. Based on the 8,726,556,821 shares eligible
for distribution as at 31 December 2021, the Company intends to
distribute to all shareholders a cash dividend of RMB1.85 (including tax)
for every 10 shares held, without any capitalisation of reserve.
Completion of the proposal is subject to the consideration and approval
by the 2021 annual general meeting of the Company. The expected
payment date for the cash dividend as well as the relevant record date
on the entitlements to the payment of the cash dividend will be
determined by the Board and announced no later than two months after
the date of obtaining the said shareholders’ approval.

QUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

In 2022, affected by the volatile development of the pandemic and the
complicated international political environment, the global economic
recovery is facing multiple challenges, such as increasing debts and
inflation, which will bring greater pressure and slow down the economic
growth. China’s economic development will face pressure from three
major aspects, namely decreasing demand, supply shock and weakening
expectations. The Chinese government will sustain stability while seeking
progress by continuing its proactive fiscal policy and prudent monetary
policy and enhancing its endogenous power of development. Affected
by factors such as overstimulation of demand in the switch to China VI
and the continuous promotion of the “transformation from road
haulage to rail-freight transport (A8Z§)", the overall new demand in
the heavy-duty truck industry will be weakened. However, factors such
as infrastructure development in advance, growth in export and the
traffic restriction policies of China IV and China V standard automobiles
in some regions still will bring a certain amount of new demands. Under
the influences of the carbon peak and carbon neutrality strategy and
advantageous policies such as rights of way, environmental protection
and subsidies, new energy heavy-duty truck will usher in a period of
rapid growth. Light trucks with blue plates, new regulations on annual
inspection and weighing as well as the rapid growth of cold chain
transportation and logistics will bring favorable factors to the light-duty
truck industry. Infrastructure and the implementation of the Non-road
Stage IV Emission Regulations will bring certain opportunities to the
construction machinery industry. The demand for seaborne bulk cargo is
expected to be strong and the freight rate will remain at a high level as
the increase of logistics capacity is less than that of cargo volume. The
demand for engines in the coastal cargo shipping market will increase
slightly.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

14

New situation, new opportunities and new challenges. In 2022, the
Company will accurately grasp the market situation, seize market
opportunities, and step up our efforts in cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement to achieve lean management. Accelerating the
breakthrough of “bottleneck” technologies to consolidate our core
competitiveness, we will continue to lead the industry to the high end.

Focusing on the annual targets, the Company will firmly strive for
market expansion. Aiming at customer satisfaction, the Company will
conduct accurate research on segment markets to provide effective
inputs for product development. We will continue to fortify our
dominant markets and accelerate breakthroughs in strategic markets.
Giving full play to the advantages of comprehensive full-series products
and fully expanding in non-road-going markets and overseas markets
such as those for construction machinery and agricultural equipment, we
will speed up the sales of strategic products such as large-diameter
engines, hydraulics and new energies products. We will make flexible
use of new media matrices for “online and offline” all-channel and all-
dimensional publicity, thereby continuously enhancing our brand
influence. We will adopt technology-driven solutions to take the lead
amid technological revolution and industrial transformation. Speeding up
the R&D of power system integration, we focus on driving up the
performance of complete vehicles and machineries to provide optimal
solutions for power systems. We will facilitate the commercial
application of thermal efficiency of diesel engines and pursue better
thermal efficiency. With the advantages of the globally coordinated R&D
platform, we will conduct ongoing competitive benchmarking to ensure
that our products are globally leading in respect of various indicators
such as affordability, reliability and power performance. Leveraging the
National Fuel Cell Technology Innovation Centre (BZR A} st fiif &Il 5T
A0y, we will give play to the coordinated advantages between
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

IV

technological and resource innovations in order to expedite the technical
bottleneck breakthrough and industrial implementation for fuel cell
industrial chain. We will focus on high-quality development to
continuously improve quality and efficiency. The Company will rely on
processes and data to promote the comprehensive management of the
whole industrial chain comprising “research, production, supply, sales
and services”. We will dig deep into data values to speed up our digital
transformation. By accelerating the upgrade and promotion of the WOS
model, we will optimise the appraisal mechanism to enhance the overall
level of operation. By strengthening the product quality control, we
strive to sustain and enhance the consistency of our products in respect
of their appearance, performance and lifespan, so as to create high-end
products in the industry. We will step up our cost reduction work during
the courses of design, processing, procurement and manufacturing and
take multiple measures to enhance the profitability of different series of
products, thereby striving to take a lead in high-quality development.

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere appreciation to all
our shareholders, the general public and our customers for their care
and support, as well as to all of our staff for their hard work and
dedication!
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Directors are pleased to present a management discussion and analysis of
the results of operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
as follows:

I. INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

The Company is one of the vehicle and equipment manufacturing
conglomerates in the PRC with the best comprehensive strengths. It is a
leading company in the areas of powertrain, complete vehicles and
machineries, hydraulic controlling parts, new energy cells and
automotive ECU and parts and components, which is equipped with the
most comprehensive golden industrial chain of engines, gear boxes and
axles, and offers related aftersales market services. Meanwhile, with its
leading advantages in intelligent logistics, the Group is able to provide
the most comprehensive logistics solutions to its customers.

1. Commercial Vehicles, Construction Machinery and
Agricultural Equipment Industries
In 2021, the recovery of the global economy was still affected by
the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite the availability of COVID-19
vaccination in various countries, the virus variants raged in many
countries and affected the effectiveness of pandemic prevention
and control. The Chinese government sustained stability while
seeking progress and responded calmly to the challenges brought
by the COVID-19 pandemic, so as to promote high-quality
economic development. With the continued proactive fiscal
measures and prudent monetary policies implemented by the
Chinese government, the major macroeconomic indicators were
within a reasonable range, and the economic development
showed a positive trend of improvement on the basis of stability.
In 2021, the gross domestic product of the PRC reached RMB114
trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of 8.1%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

For the heavy-duty truck market, as affected by factors such as
overstimulation of demand in the switch to China VI and the
continuous promotion of the “transformation from road haulage
to rail-freight transport (A&#2§#)", the overall new demand in the
heavy-duty truck industry reduced. However, with national new
infrastructures and investment in fixed assets, and implementation
of the traffic restriction policies of China IV and China V standards
automobiles in some regions, it is expected that the heavy-duty
truck market shall continue to operate at a high level. During the
Year, the heavy-duty truck industry achieved a sales volume of
approximately 1,395,000 units, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 13.8%; the construction machinery
industry (including forklift trucks using internal combustion
engines) achieved an annual sales volume of approximately
1,014,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 10.4%.

Forklift Truck and Supply Chain Solutions Industry
The International Monetary Fund announced that, the global
economic output resumed a positive increase of 5.9% in 2021
from the decrease of 3.1% in the previous year. Due to the
differences in the scale and progress of pandemic prevention and
control and vaccination as well as different economic and fiscal
policy incentives adopted by countries and regions, the pace of
recovery varied around the world. With the pandemic under
control, the Chinese economic growth was higher than the global
average level due to strong export and domestic demand.
Following the recovery of economic growth, the global order
volume of industrial forklift trucks increased from approximately
1,639,000 units in 2020 to approximately 2,343,000 units during
the Year, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
43.0%. In the supply chain solution industry, increasing consumers
switched to online shopping due to the pandemic. Driven by the
e-commerce, food and consumer goods retail industries, demand
for automation and intelligence in warehouses and distribution
centres continued to increase. As estimated by Interact Analysis, a
research institution, global revenue for warehouse automation
solutions recorded an increase of approximately 21% in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

IT. THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

18

An analysis of the Group’s business segments is set out in Note XIII.2 to
the consolidated financial statements. The following is an overview of
the operating conditions of the major products of the Group:

Powertrain, Complete Vehicles and Machines and
Key Components

The Group has been adhering to the innovation-oriented approach
in making breakthroughs in core technologies with the advantages
of the globally coordinated R&D platform. In 2021, the Company
released the first diesel engines in the world with a thermal
efficiency of 51.09%, which once again broke its record. We
continued to improve the core competitiveness of our products
and sped up the integration of industrial chain. During the Year,
the Company sold a total of approximately 1,020,000 units of
engines, representing an increase of approximately 3.1% as
compared to approximately 989,000 units in the same period in
2020. The Company sold approximately 1,153,000 units of gear
boxes, in which the sales volume of heavy-duty truck gear boxes
was approximately 1,010,000 units, achieving a market share of
72.4%. The engines segment contributed RMB52,331 million to
the sales revenue of the Group during the Year, representing a
year-on-year increase of 10.2%.

Focusing on the upgrade of laws and regulations for China VI
emission standards, Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited
(BrPEEARE AR A A, a controlling subsidiary of the Group,
fully took a leading role in complete vehicles by focusing on
customers’ demand in segment markets and continuously
optimising its product structure. Its products, including port
tractors, urban dump trucks and coal, sand and gravel
transportation trucks continued to rank top in the industry. During
the Year, the Group sold approximately 150,000 units of heavy-
duty trucks, representing a decrease of approximately 17.1% as
compared to approximately 181,000 units for the same period in
2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

2. Intelligent Logistics

During the Year, as the global order volume of industrial forklift
trucks increased, the number of the Group's forklift truck orders
increased from approximately 198,300 units in the previous year
to approximately 299,400 units, representing a significant year-on-
year increase of approximately 51.0%, outperforming the industry
with the most significant growth in Central America. The annual
amount of orders increased by approximately 40.9% to
approximately EUR8,166 million. The amount of orders of supply
chain solution services increased by approximately 18.5% year-on-
year to approximately EUR4,329 million from approximately
EUR3,654 million in the corresponding period last year, mainly
attributable to the rapid growth of e-commerce and demand for
automation of warehouse and logistics as well as the Group's
abilities to provide state-of-the-art information technologies in
sensors, softwares, big data and cloud solutions and to apply
these technologies to its internal logistics projects. Intelligent
logistics business contributed approximately RMB78,480 million to
the Group’'s sales revenue, representing an increase of
approximately 20.8% from approximately RMB64,979 million in
the same period of last year.

Last year, the Company expected that its sales revenue in 2021 would
increase by approximately 15% to approximately RMB227.0 billion. The
actual sales revenue amounted to approximately RMB203.5 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 3%. The lower-
than-expected actual sales revenue was mainly affected by the decline in
demand for heavy-duty trucks and the volatile COVID-19 situation.

Looking into 2022, the global economy will still be under the impacts of
factors including the COVID-19 variants, geopolitical tensions and
inflation. The Company will expedite the research and development of
the integrated powertrain system and focus on high quality development
to seize the initiative in the industry reform. As at 31 December 2021,
the Company’s order on hand amounted to approximately RMB60.2
billion. The Company expects that its sales revenue in 2022 would
increase by approximately 5% to approximately RMB213.7 billion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

ITI. FINANCIAL REVIEW
1. The Group’s Results of Operations

20

a.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Revenue

In 2021, the Group's revenue amounted to approximately
RMB203,548 million,
approximately RMB6,260 million or approximately 3.2%
from approximately RMB197,288 million in the
corresponding period in 2020. Despite the reduction in sale
volume in the heavy-duty truck industry, the Group

representing an increase of

continued to increase its investment in research and
development and expedited breakthroughs in key and core
technologies to increase the competitiveness of its products,
which led to an increase of 2.8 percentage points in market
share of engines to approximately 30.7%, offsetting some
adverse market factors. Meanwhile, benefitting from the
change in the pattern of consumption and increased
demand for warehouse automation and updates by
enterprises, the revenue from the Group’s intelligent
logistics business increased significantly. Revenue from
principal operations amounted to approximately
RMB198,499 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB6,795 million or approximately 3.5%
from approximately RMB191,704 million in the
corresponding period last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Profit from Principal Operations

During the Year, the Group generated profit from principal
operations in the amount of approximately RMB38,907
million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB1,257 million or 3.3% from approximately RMB37,650
million recorded in the corresponding period in 2020. This
was primarily attributable to the robust growth in overseas
businesses and intelligent logistics business that led to an
increase in the profit they contributed. The Group strictly
controlled the costs and maintained a stable profit margin
from principal operations at approximately 19.6%.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by
approximately 0.5% to approximately RMB10,903 million in
the Year from approximately RMB10,961 million in the
corresponding period of 2020. This was primarily
attributable to the decrease in the after-sales and repair
fees, costs of freight and packaging and marketing
expenses. The distribution and selling expenses as a
percentage of revenue dropped from approximately 5.6% in
the corresponding period of last year to approximately 5.4%
during the Year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by
approximately RMB325 million or approximately 4.2% from
approximately RMB7,731 million in the corresponding
period of 2020 to approximately RMB8,056 million in the
Year. The increase was mainly due to the increased number
of staff for expansion of overseas business during the Year,
which led to an increase in expenses for staff costs.
However, the overall expenses were under effective control.
The general and administrative expenses as a percentage of
revenue remained stable at approximately 4.0%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT)

During the Year, the Group’s EBIT was approximately
RMB15,132 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB1,285 million or 9.3% from
approximately RMB13,847 million in the corresponding
period of 2020. The increase in EBIT was primarily
attributable to the increase in profit contributed by the
intelligent logistics business, increase in gain on change of
fair value and decrease in impairment loss of credit. As a
result, EBIT margin increased from approximately 7.0% last
year to approximately 7.4% during the Year.

Finance Expenses

Finance expenses increased from a net expense of
approximately RMB296 million in the corresponding period
of 2020 to a net income of approximately RMB450 million
during the Year. This was mainly due to the increase in
interest income and decrease in exchange losses and bank
handling fees.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group's income tax expenses increased by
approximately 76.5% from approximately RMB1,412 million
in the corresponding period in 2020 to approximately
RMB2,493 million during the Year. During the Year, the
Group's significant increase in offshore profits led to the
increase in the average effective tax rate from approximately
11.1% in the corresponding period last year to
approximately 17.7% during the Year.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group’s net profit increased by approximately 2.4%
from approximately RMB11,296 million in the corresponding
period of 2020 to approximately RMB11,562 million during
the Year. The Group’s net profit margin for the Year
remained stable at approximately 5.7% as compared to the
corresponding period last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Liquidity and Cash Flow

During the Year, the Group generated net operating cash
flows of approximately RMB14,658 million and net cash
flows from financing activities of approximately RMB3,123
million. A portion of that was applied to the acquisition of
60% equity interest of Chongyou Hi-Tech Electronic Fuel
Injection System (Chongging) Co., Ltd. (total consideration
amounting to approximately RMB477 million), 100% equity
interest of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd.
(total consideration amounting to approximately RMB314
million) and 39.31% equity interest of Weichai Lovol Heavy
Industry Co., Ltd. (total consideration amounting to
approximately RMB985 million), repayment of borrowings,
payment of interest, as well as the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment for the expansion of the Group’s
business. As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents (net of interest-bearing debts) amounted to
net cash of RMB42,579 million (as of 31 December 2020,
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents (net of interest-
bearing debts) amounted to net cash of RMB23,652
million). Based on the above calculations, the Group is in a
net cash position. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s
gearing ratio (net interest-bearing debts/(shareholders’
equity + net interest-bearing debts)) was approximately
18.0% (as at 31 December 2020: 26.6%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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2.

Financial Position

a.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Assets and Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB277,044 million, of which approximately
RMB160,638 million were current assets. As at 31
December 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB75,043 million (as at 31 December
2020: RMB62,429 million). On the same date, the Group's
total liabilities amounted to approximately RMB174,082
million, of which approximately RMB115,382 million were
current liabilities. The current ratio was approximately 1.39x
(as at 31 December 2020: 1.23x).

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total equity of
approximately RMB102,962 million, of which approximately
RMB70,907 million was attributable to equity holders of the
Company and the remaining balance was minority interests.
Interest attributable to minority interest holders includes the
perpetual capital securities in the principal amount of
US$775 million issued in September 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately RMB22,555 million, which
included bonds of approximately RMB6,600 million and
bank borrowings of approximately RMB15,955 million.
Borrowings repayable on demand or within a period not
exceeding one year were approximately RMB3,049 million;
borrowings repayable within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years were approximately RMB2,348
million; borrowings repayable within a period of more than
two years but not exceeding five years were approximately
RMB9,937 million; and borrowings repayable within a
period of more than 5 years were approximately RMB621
million. The bank borrowings included fixed interest rate
bank borrowings of approximately RMB1,817 million and
floating interest rate bank borrowings of approximately
RMB14,138 million. Other than Euro-denominated
borrowings equivalent to approximately RMB10,461 million,
USD-denominated borrowings equivalent to approximately
RMB1,528 million and GBP-denominated borrowings
equivalent to approximately RMB239 million, borrowings are
primarily Renminbi-denominated borrowings. The revenue
of the Group is mainly in Renminbi and Euro. Contracts
have been entered into with financial institutions to swap
the USD775 million USD-denominated perpetual capital
securities issued in September 2017 to Euro, and therefore
the Group does not consider its currency risk significant. As
a policy, the Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debts and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2021, bank deposits, notes receivable,
receivable financing, financial assets held for trading and
accounts receivable of approximately RMB19,572 million (as
at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB24,929 million)
were pledged to banks to secure the Group’s notes payable,
letter of guarantee, acceptance bills and letter of credit, etc.
issued by banks. The pledged bank deposits carry prevailing
bank interest rates. The pledge will be released upon the
settlement of the relevant bank borrowings. The fair value
of the bank deposits as at the balance sheet date was
approximately the same as the carrying amount. Fixed assets
and long-term receivables of approximately RMB6,247
million were also pledged by the Group to secure bank
borrowings, guarantee its liabilities under the staff
retirement benefit and use in asset securitization financing.

Contingencies

As at 31 December 2021, the Group provided certain
distributors and agents with bank guarantee amounting to
approximately RMB1,409 million (as at 31 December 2020:
approximately RMB3,587 million) to secure their obtaining
and use of banking facilities.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group provided guarantee for
joint liabilities in respect of failure of the lessees under
finance leases to settle instalment payments plus interest.
Risk exposure in respect of possible guarantee for joint
liabilities amounted to approximately RMB2,800 million (as
at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB3,550 million).

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Commitments

As at 31 December 2021,
commitments of approximately RMB6,018 million (as at 31
December 2020: approximately RMB3,285 million),
principally for the capital expenditure for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment. The capital expenditure will

the Group had capital

be financed by internal resources.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no other
investment commitments (as at 31 December 2020:
approximately RMB682 million).

3. Other Financial Information

a.

Employees

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately
82,600 employees (including approximately 39,600
employees of KION). During the Year, the Group paid
remuneration of approximately RMB28,927 million. The
emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the remuneration committee of the Company on the
basis of their merits, qualifications and competence. During
the Year, the Company formulated training projects for staff
that suit positions of different levels and provided
customised and standardised trainings through combination
of Wei Learning (an online platform) and offline courses.
Relevant trainings were conducted for all senior leaders,
newly promoted middle-level cadres and newly promoted
middle-level cadres of the Company to comprehensively
enhance the leadership and political literacy of the
management, and promote the construction of the
Company’s core decision-making power. During the Year,
training expenses of approximately RMB37 million in total
were incurred and a total of 3,793,000 hours of training
was provided to 28,403 participants.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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b. Material Investment, Major Acquisition and
Disposal
During the Year, the Group did not have any material
investment, major acquisition or disposal.

¢. Subsequent Events

(i) On 30 March 2022, the Company’s 2021 profit
distribution proposal was considered and approved by
the Company’s third meeting of the sixth session of
the Board. Based on the 8,726,556,821 shares eligible
for distribution as at 31 December 2021, the
Company intends to distribute to all shareholders a
cash dividend of RMB1.85 (including tax) for every 10
shares held, without any capitalisation of reserve.
Completion of the proposal is subject to the
consideration and approval by the 2021 annual
general meeting of the Company.

(i)~ On 30 March 2022, the proposed adjustment to the
timeline for the application of proceeds from the non-
public issuance of A Shares (the details of such
issuance were set out below) was considered and
approved by the Company'’s third meeting of the sixth
session of the Board. The adjusted timetable for the
application of the relevant proceeds is set out below:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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RMB million

ARBEH&ETT
Amount of
proceeds
Narme of investment project proposed to Adjusted application of proceeds
EREAZE be applied RRRERELRRTE
Name of project Name of sub-project ERgd 201 202 plVE] 2024
LEEL] TRE4R BRAGE  amE  anE uBF  0uE
Fuel cell industry chain development project Hydrogen-fueled cell and key components industrialsation project 500.00 65.13 200.00 23487 -
RHEDEREERER EMRTRRBRSINER AR
Solic oxide fuel cell and key components industrialisation project 500.00 8.16 12055 21435 156.94
EEELNEHE R REREDEER (AR
Key components of fuel cell powertrain research and development and 1,000.00 146.44 210.00 350.00 29356
construction capabiliies project
RHERDNERGOEIEFEREER NERER
Ful series of H platform high-end road-going engines  New million units digitalised power industry base stage | project 3,000.00 12.14 90000 1,200.00 887.86
of China VI or above emission standards project  FAS AR F LB NEFEN —HEE
RRIIEARM LHRRENT R BRA
EndHEER H platform engines intelligent manufacturing pgrade project 1,000.00 118.04 260.00 400.00 21%
HEREBRERHENRER
Large diameter high-end engine industrialsation Large diameter high-end engine laboratory project 1,075.00 140.79 31150 330.00 29271
project RIEEREIRERERANE
AIERREIRER(ER
High efficiency and high speed self-owned brand engine £85.00 7765 250.00 270.00 8735
industrialsation project
BEREANEEARER VAR
Large diameter high-end engine development project 1,240.00 194.84 248.00 42500 316
RIERREHERREE
Ful series hydraulic pressure powertrain and large-scale continuously variable transmission (CVT) powertrain 3,000.00 166.02 9773 101139 904.86
industrialisation project
2RRERNERARRCT N ERESLER
Total 12,000.00 92921 34778 443561 321740
it
Notes: 5
1. The figures for 2021 are the actual ZE - —FHEFRBAAA

amounts applied by the Company to the
relevant investment projects, and

2. the figures for 2022 to 2024 are adjusted
investment application amounts to be
applied to the relevant investment projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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The adjustment is mainly due to the operational needs of
the Group and the actual status of the relevant investment
projects and is in compliance with the relevant requirements
for the management of proceeds raised of the Chinese
Securities Regulation Commission and the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. It will not adversely affect the implementation of
the relevant investment projects, change the proposed use
of proceeds or harm the interest of the shareholders of the
Company. Such adjustment will not adversely impact the
normal production and operation of the Company and is in
line with the long-term development strategy of the
Company.

For further details of the abovementioned adjustment to the
timeline for the application of proceeds, please refer to the
announcement of the Company entitled * C4LEEN H AR DA
RABEMR22IFFEEEE S FHEGRBERNFIER
4 (the Special Report of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. on the
Deposit and Use of the Proceeds Raised in the Year 2021)"
dated 30 March 2022 published on the website of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Use of proceeds

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 24 December 2020, 25 January 2021, 26 January
2021, 29 January 2021, 12 April 2021, 23 April 2021 and
26 May 2021, and the circular (the “Circular”) of the
Company dated 11 January 2021, in respect of, inter alia,
the non-public issuance of A shares of the Company (A
Shares”).

The reasons for the non-public issuance of A Shares include
to raise funds for the specific investments projects detailed
in the table below and to replenish working capital, which
will strengthen the capital capability of the Group and lay a
sound foundation for the Group’s further expansion of its
operations, and, in turn, enable it to realise breakthrough in
its development and enhance its competitive strength.

The non-public issuance of A Shares of the Company was
completed on 31 May 2021 and the relevant new A Shares
were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 1 June
2021. A total of 792,682,926 A Shares of RMB1.00 each
(with an aggregate nominal value of RMB792,682,926)
were issued to 25 subscribers which are in compliance with
the relevant requirements of the
Administration of Issuance of Securities by Listed
((ETMARREARETEREIE)) and the
“Implementation Rules for the Non-public Issuance of
Shares by Listed Companies” ({ LT R RIFEAFEITHREE
MeAMEl) ) and are third parties independent of the Company
and its connected persons at the issue price of RMB16.40
(and net price of approximately RMB16.38) per A Share.

“Measures for

Companies”
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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The issue price of RMB16.40 per A Share represents a
premium of approximately 9.26% to the benchmarked price
of HK$18.02 (equivalent to approximately RMB15.01), such
benchmarked price being the closing price of H Shares on
the date of the Company’s acceptance of the subscriptions
involving the non-public issuance of A Shares under the

relevant general mandate. The total proceeds of the non-

public issuance of A Shares amounted to
RMB12,999,999,986.40. The status of the use of such
proceeds as of 31 December 2021 is set out below:

B2 B 51 ch 5 iifr (4&)
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BRI
RMB million
ARBHHET
The amount
Total of proceeds
investment applied as of 31
amount of The amount  December 2021
Name of the investment project the relevant of proceeds BzoE
BREAZEH project to be applied 12A31A
Project name Sub-project name EH BRE¢ BRES
EEEL FEEER BRELE BRALE CERALE
Fuel Cell Industry Chain Development Hydrogen-fueled cell and key components industrialisation 712.28 500.00 65.13
Project project
MEEBEZERRER ARHENRERTIHER(ER
Solid oxide fuel cell and key components industrialisation 1,512.50 500.00 8.16
project
BEatMRHE LR BREDHELNEE
Key components of fuel cell powertrain research and 1,479.27 1,000.00 146.44
development and construction capabilities project
REELHNERRLOSHERERBEL NER
EH
Full Series of H Platform High-end New million units digitalised power industry base stage | 5,625.85 3,000.00 12.14
Road-going Engines of China VI or project
above Emission Standards Project TEERETLBNEEE L —HEA
RRIBARN EHHRENTSE
KEEREEHER H platform engines intelligent manufacturing upgrade 1,100.00 1,000.00 118.04

project
HPRRBREERENRER

R NRMBERAT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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RMB million

ARBEETT
The amount
Total of proceeds
investment applied as of 31
amount of The amount  December 2021
Name of the investment project the relevant of proceeds BzaE
BEREBEE project to be applied 128318
Project name Sub-project name ER BRES B5ge
CEEL FERER BRELE RRALE ERALE
Large Diameter High-end Engine Large diameter high-end engine laboratory project 1,395.00 1,075.00 140.79
Industrialisation Project AIGERREDREREREZER
AIEEREDRER(IER
High efficiency and high speed self-owned brand engine 998.42 685.00 77.65
industrialisation project
BEImBANERSREESER
Large diameter high-end engine development project 1,847.84 1,240.00 194.84
ALEEREDERRIER
Full Series hydraulic pressure powertrain and large-scale continuously variable transmission (CVT) 3,134.08 3,000.00 166.02
powertrain industrialisation project
2RIREDNERAREH hEREZLEE
Replenishment of working capital 1,000.00 1,000.00 800.71
BANBDES
Total 18,805.24 13,000.00 1,729.92
At

It is expected that the remaining proceeds, being

approximately RMB11.27 billion in aggregate, would

continue to be used for the relevant investment projects as

set out above. The Board considers that the proceeds from

the issuance of A shares had been and will be applied in

accordance with the specific uses and timeline of proposed

use of proceeds as disclosed in the Circular (with adjusted
timeline approved by the Board on 30 March 2022).
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Mr. Tan Xuguang, Chinese, aged 60, is the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, chairman of Shandong Heavy Industry
Group Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (which
holds A Shares of the Company with details as set out below and is thus
interested in the shares of the Company under Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance) and chairman of China National Heavy Duty
Truck Group Co., Ltd. He is also the chairman of Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Company Limited, Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. and Shandong
Guochuang Fuel Cell Technological Innovation Co., Ltd., a supervisor of
KION Group AG and the chairman of the board of directors and a non-
executive director of Ferretti S.P.A. Mr. Tan joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1977 and had held various positions including chairman and
general manager of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd.,
general manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, chairman of Torch
Automobile Group Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
Co., Ltd., and chairman of Shandong Communications Industry Group
Holding Co., Ltd. Mr. Tan is a senior engineer and holds a doctor’s
degree in engineering. Mr. Tan was appointed as a Representative of the
Tenth, Eleventh, Twelfth and Thirteenth National People’s Congress of
the PRC. He was awarded the title of “Outstanding Member of the
100th Anniversary of the National Communist Party”; “National Labour
Model” in 2005 and 2020; and the”Most Beautiful Struggler” of the
70th Anniversary of the Founding of the PRC. He has been engaged in
technological innovation and engineering management of diesel engines
and power systems and is one of the most influential people in the
industry at home and abroad. He was the first person who received the
first prize of National Science and Technology Progress Award and was
awarded Guanghua Engineering Science and Technology Award and
Shandong Provincial Highest Science and Technology Award.

Mr. Zhang Quan, Chinese, aged 58, is an Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Zhang joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1986 and
had held various positions including the director of the quality control
department and the marketing department, general manager of
marketing and general manager of the sales and marketing company of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory and Executive President of the Company.
Mr. Zhang is currently holding various positions including a director of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited, Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co.,
Ltd., Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd.,, XCMG Construction Machinery Co.,
Ltd., Weichai Lovol Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. and Weichai Intelligent
Technology Co., Ltd. and chairman of Weichai Power Westport New
Energy Engine Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang is a senior economist and holds an
MBA degree.
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DIRECTORS,

SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Xu Xinyu, Chinese, aged 58, is an Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Xu joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1986 and had
held various positions including the deputy general manager of
Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., deputy general manager
and executive deputy general manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory,
director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai
Power (Weifang) Investment Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Power
(Shanghai) Technology Development Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai
Power (Beijing) International Resource Investment Co., Ltd., chairman of
Société International des Moteurs Baudouin, chairman of Weichai
America Corp., director of Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Ltd., deputy general manager of Weichai Group
Holdings Limited and Executive President of the Company. Mr. Xu is
currently holding various positions including a vice chairman of Weichai
Group Holdings Limited, chairman of Weichai Power (Luxembourg)
Holding S.a r.l., chairman of Ferretti International Holdings S.p.A. and
non-executive director of Ferretti S.P.A.. Mr. Xu is a senior economist,
senior political engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree in science and an
MBA degree.

Mr. Sun Shaojun, Chinese, aged 56, is an Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Sun joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1988 and
had held various positions including a supervisor of the engineering
department, the chief engineer of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory,
director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. and director of Weichai
Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd., chairman of the U.S.— based PSI Inc.
and Executive President of the Company. Mr. Sun is currently holding
various positions including deputy general manager of Shandong Heavy
Industry Group Co., Ltd., executive director of Sinotruk (Hong Kong)
Limited, director of Weichai Group Holdings Limited, director of Weichai
New Energy Technology Co., Ltd, chairman of Weichai Intelligent
Technology Co., Ltd., director of the Canada-based Ballard Power
Systems Inc., director of KAMAZ Weichai LLC. and vice chairman of the
U.S.— based PSI Inc. He is a researcher in applied engineering technology,
and holds a doctoral degree in engineering. He is a candidate of “EZX
HF&AALIE" (National Million and Ten Million Talents Project),
receives a special subsidy from the State Council and was appointed as
"NEEARBNSEILESEEFER (Taishan Mountain scholar
specialist appointed by Shandong People s Government).

.—A—.n

Mr. Yuan Hongming, Chinese, aged 56, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 8 June 2017 and as an Executive President
of the Company on 5 September 2017. He held various positions
including the deputy general manager and chief engineer of Shaanxi
Automotive Group Co., Ltd. (RPa5EEEEREEAR]), deputy
general manager and general manager of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor
Company Limited (BRPGEARTEAR/AF]) and general manager and
chief accountant of Shaanxi Automotive Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (BR#g
REIEREE AR A A]). He is currently holding various positions
including the chairman of the board of directors of Shaanxi Automotive
Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (BRFE/REEIEAZ £ E AR A 7)), the chairman of
the board of directors and general manager of Shaanxi Automotive
Group Co., Ltd. BRFEFELEEBREEAT), and the vice chairman of
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (BRPREEASE AR A 7).
Mr. Yuan is a senior engineer and a holder of a bachelor's degree in
engineering. Mr. Yuan also obtained the qualification of a machinery
senior professional manager (B4 T 2% S MERZELIEA).
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Mr. Yan lJianbo, Chinese, aged 59, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 8 June 2017 and as an Executive President
of the Company on 5 September 2017. He held various positions
including the deputy general manager of Shaanxi Auto Gear General
Works (BRFE)TE &8 42 M), deputy general manager and director of
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co. Ltd. (BRFEATiFE AR ST A R]), and deputy
general manager, general manager and director of Shaanxi Fast Gear
Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (BRFA TS EESHERARETA
Al). He is currently holding various positions including the secretary of
the party committee and the chairman of the board of directors of
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (BRFE A4 /T8 =
SEE AR ETAR]), the general manager and a director of Shaanxi
Fast Gear Co. Ltd. BREETHrEaBABR AT AF]), and the party
committee secretary and the chairman of Qinchuan Machine Tool & Tool
(Group) Corp. Mr. Yan is a senior engineer and a holder of an executive
master of business administration degree.

Mr. Zhang Liangfu, Chinese, aged 52, was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the Company on 29 June 2020. He had held
various positions including the division head of the general division and
the division head of the finance budget division of the Finance Bureau of
Weifang, an executive director and the general manager of Weifang
New Energy Investment and Development Company Limited, the deputy
party committee secretary and the general manager of Weifang Financial
Holding Group Company Limited, deputy party committee secretary and
the general manager of Weifang Investment Group Company Limited.
Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman and party committee secretary of
Weifang Investment Group Company Limited and a director of Weichai
Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang is a senior accountant and a
holder of master’s degree in public administration.

Mr. Jiang Kui, Chinese, aged 57, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 29 June 2012. He had held various
positions including engineer and deputy general manager of assembly
department of Shandong Bulldozer General Factory (158 #1448 ),
deputy general manager of Shantui Import and Export Company (LI #
H A2 7)), deputy director, director of manufacturing department,
deputy general manager and director of Shantui Construction Machinery
Co., Ltd. (LU T2#MADBR/AR]), deputy general manager of
Shandong Engineering Machinery Group Co., Ltd. (IR T2 EEH
[R/A7]), executive deputy general manager and vice chairman of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited, chairman of Shanzhong Jianji Co., Ltd.,
director of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. and a director of
the U.S.-based PSI Inc. He is currently holding various positions including
the general manager of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., a
director of Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd., a supervisor of
KION Group AG, an non-executive director of Sinotruk (Hong Kong)
Limited, a director of Sinotruk (BVI) Limited, a director of the Canada-
based Ballard Power Systems Inc., and the chairman of Weichai Ballard
Hydrogen Energy Technology Company Limited. He is a senior engineer
and holds an MBA degree.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Gordon Riske, American/German, aged 64, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company on 24 June 2013. He was the
chief executive officer of KUKA Roboter GmbH, chairman of the
executive board of directors of Deutz AG in Cologne, Germany, chief
executive officer of KION Material Handling GmbH, a member of the
board of directors of KION Holding 2 GmbH and the chief executive
officer of KION Group AG. He is currently a director of Atlas Copco AB
and chairman of the board of directors of Sunlight SA. He holds a
degree in electronic engineering and a bachelor’s degree in business
administration.

Mr. Michael Martin Macht, German, aged 61, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company on 14 June 2018. He was
previously a researcher at the Fraunhofer Institute for Industrial
Engineering IAQ, a director of Porsche Consulting Co., Ltd., chairman of
the board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, a director of Porsche Holding
SE, a director of Volkswagen AG and a director of Ferrett. S.P.A. and a
supervisor of Endurance Capital AG. He is currently the chairman of the
supervisory committee of KION Group AG, a supervisor of MAHLE
GmbH, non-executive director of Mclaren Ltd., supervisor of Mahle &
Behr, and the chairman of the supervisory committee of Rosenberger
GmbH & co. KG.. He holds an honorary doctorate degree granted by
Universitat Stuttgart.

Mr. Li Hongwu, Chinese, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 8 June 2017. He was an
independent director of Shandong Jinling Mining Co., Ltd. and is
currently an associate professor at the Law School of Shandong
University, a solicitor at Shandong Wenhan Law Firm (L1 5 S8 72 Al 5 75
Ff7), and an independent director of Shandong Head Co., Ltd. Mr. Li
holds a master of laws degree granted by Shandong University.

Mr. Wen Daocai, Chinese, aged 64, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 14 June 2018. He was
previously the chairman and general manager of the Yangzhou Silk
Group. Mr. Wen is an engineer and holds a degree in agricultural
machinery granted by Jiangsu University. He is a postgraduate from the
Central Party School of the Communist Party of China.
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Ms. Jiang Yan, Chinese, aged 48, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 June 2020. She
successively held various positions including the head of the audit
division Il of the issuance supervision department of the CSRC, and is
currently an internal audit consultant of various investment banks
including Minsheng Securities Co., Ltd. and an independent director of
Liaoning Wellhope Agri-Tech Joint Stock Co., Ltd. She is a certified
public accountant, a certified public valuer and a holder of a doctor’s
degree in management.

Mr. Yu Zhuoping, Chinese, aged 61, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 June 2020. He
successively held various positions including an assistant to the president,
the head of the Department of Automotive Engineering and the
executive deputy head of the New Energy Center of Automotive
Engineering and the dean of the School of Automotive Studies at Tongji
University, a director of SAIC Motor Corporation Limited, an
independent director of Shanghai Aerospace Automobile
Electromechanical Co., Ltd. and an independent non-executive director
of China Titans Energy Technology Group Co., Limited and an
independent director of Guangdong Dazhi Environmental Protection
Technology Co., Ltd. He is currently holding various positions including
the head of the Collaborative Innovation Center for Intelligent New
Energy Vehicle at Tongji University, counsellor of Shanghai Municipal
Government, the chairman of Tongji Automotive Design and Research
Institute Co., Ltd., a member of the general expert panel of the national
“New Energy Vehicle” pilot special project, a member of the School
Department of Science and Technology Commission of the Ministry of
Education, a member of the academic committees of the State Key
Laboratory of Automotive Safety and Energy-saving, the State Key
Laboratory of Automotive Simulation and Control and the State Key
Laboratory of Advanced Design and Manufacturing of Vehicle Body, vice
president of Society of Automotive Engineers of Shanghai, independent
director of Shanghai Highly (Group) Co., Ltd., independent director of
Ningbo Shenglong Automotive Powertrain System Co., Ltd., non-
executive director of Huazhong In-Vehicle Holdings Company Limited,
independent director of Jiangling Motors Corporation, Ltd and
independent director of Huayu Automotive Systems Company Limited.
Mr. Yu holds a doctor’s degree in engineering, and is a professor and
doctoral advisor.
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DIRECTORS,

SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ms. Zhao Huifang, Chinese, aged 69, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 June 2020.
She successively held various positions including the dean of the School
of Management, the director of the MBA/MPA management centre and
the director of the Institute of Financial Management of Hefei University
of Technology, a committee member of the Tertiary Education Guidance
Committee for Professional Industry and Business Administration
Education of the Ministry of Education, and an independent director of
Huaan Securities Co., Ltd. and Anhui Transport Consulting & Design
Institute Co., Ltd. She is currently holding various positions including an
independent director of iFLYTEK Co., Ltd., Sinomach General Machinery
Science & Technology Co., Ltd., Anhui Ankai Automobile Co., Ltd. and
Time Publishing and Media Co., Ltd., and concurrently the honorary
president of the Tertiary Engineering School Sub-Society of the
Accounting Society of China, the committee member of the Accounting
Education Professional Committee of the Accounting Society of China,
the executive council member of Anhui Provincial Audit Society and the
council member of Anhui Provincial Federation of Social Sciences. Ms.
Zhao holds a bachelor’'s degree and is a professor and supervisor of
master students.

(2) SUPERVISORS

Mr. Lu Wenwu, Chinese, aged 57, is the chairman of the supervisory
committee of the Company. Mr. Lu joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory
in 1982 and had held various positions at Weichai Diesel Engine Factory
including the deputy general manager of the 615 Factory and deputy
general manager of the mid-speed engine factory, deputy director of the
human resources department, and at Weichai Power Co., Ltd. as general
manager of the 615 Factory, general manager of No. 1 Factory and
director of the production department, and a director of staff career
development centre and a director of the party committee working
department. He is now holding various positions including the chairman
of the labour union of the Company and the chairman of supervisory
committee of Weichai Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Lu is a senior
political engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Wu Hongwei, Chinese, aged 55, was appointed as a supervisor of
the Company on 30 August 2017. He joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1991 and held various positions including the deputy manager
of the finance department of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co.,
Ltd, executive deputy director of the finance department of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, chief accountant of Chongging Weichai Diesel
Engine Factory, director of the finance department of Weichai Power
Co., Ltd., director of Kama Co., Ltd., and director of the finance
department, director and chief financial officer of Weichai Group
Holdings Limited. He is currently a director of Weichai Heavy-duty
Machinery Co., Ltd. He is an accountant and holds a Master of Business
Administration degree.

Mr. Ma Changhai, Chinese, aged 47, is a supervisor of the Company.
Mr. Ma joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1997. He held various
positions including the deputy manager of administration department of
Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., administrative officer,
head of brand management department, and officer at the
administrative office of external affairs of the Company, chairman of
Weichai Power (Beijing) International Resource Investment Co., Ltd. and
head of the organisation department of the party committee of Weichai
Group Holdings Limited. He is currently holding various positions
including the deputy party committee secretary, deputy general
manager, compliance director and board secretary of Weichai Group
Holdings Limited, deputy party committee secretary of the Company, a
director of Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International Development Co.,
Ltd., a director of Weichai International (Hong Kong) Energy Group Co.,
Ltd., director of Weichai Power (Beijing) International Resource
Investment Co., Ltd., chairman of Chongging Weichai Engine Co., Ltd.
and chairman of Weichai Lovol Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. He is a senior
political engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree.

(3) SENIOR MANAGEMENT

40

Mr. Feng Gang, Chinese, aged 57, is an Executive President of the
Company. He joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in 1986 and held
various positions including the manager of technology service
department and executive deputy general manager of sales department
of the head office and executive deputy director of marketing
management department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory and deputy
general manager and vice president of the Company. He is currently
holding various positions including a director of Kama Co., Ltd. and
Weichai Lovol Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. and chairman of Linde Hydraulics
(China) Co., Ltd. Mr. Feng is a senior engineer and holds a bachelor’s
degree in engineering. He is an awardee of the National May 1st Labor
Medal of China and was granted the title of Weichai Scientist in
February 2018.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Chen Wenmiao, Chinese, aged 38, is an Executive President of the
Company. Mr. Chen joined the Company in 2010 and held various
positions including the director of the product test centre of the
technology centre of the Company, deputy head of the engine
technology research institute, deputy general manager of Weichai
(Weifang) New Energy Technology Co., Ltd, assistant to president of the
Company, executive vice-president of the engine research institute, vice-
president of the scientific research institute, president of the new
technology research institute and vice president of the Company. He is
currently holding various positions including deputy chief designer of the
Company and president of future technology research institute,
president of the new energy research institute of Weichai New Energy
Technology Co., Ltd, vice chairman of Fischer Weichai Fuel Cell
Compressor Co., Ltd., chief scientist of Shandong Guochuang Fuel Cell
Technology Innovation Center Co., Ltd and chairman of the supervisory
board of ARADEX AG. He is a senior engineer and holds a doctoral
degree in engineering. He was granted the title of Weichai Youth
Scientist in July 2017.

Mr. Wang Zhijian, Chinese, aged 50, is an Executive President of the
Company. Mr. Wang joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1993. He
held various positions including an assistant to the general manager of
Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel Engine Co., Ltd., assistant to the head of
the marketing department of the Company, assistant to the general
manager of the marketing company, director of the application
engineering department, director of the quality department, director of
the new product manufacturing center, chief quality engineer, chief
quality director, director of the technical centre, head of the engine
research institute, chief technical director, assistant to the president of
the Company, deputy vice president of the new technology research
institute and vice president of the Company. He is currently holding
various positions including deputy chief designer of the Company and
chairman of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. He is a senior
engineer and holds a master's degree in engineering and a master’s
degree in business administration.

Mr. Cheng Guangxu, Chinese, aged 49, is an Executive President of
the Company. He held various positions including a technical engineer of
Yangzhou Diesel Engine Factory, deputy chief technical officer and
deputy general manager of marketing department of Yangzhou Diesel
Engine Co., Ltd., an assistant to the general manager of Weichai Power
Yangzhou Diesel Engine Co., Ltd., general manager of truck power sales
company of the Company, assistant to president and vice president of
the Company. He is currently holding various positions including the
director of the marketing department of the Company and a director of
Shandong Automobile Manufacturing Co., Ltd.. He is a senior engineer
and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering.
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Mr. Ding Yingdong, Chinese, aged 53, is a Vice President of the
Company. Mr. Ding joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1990 and
had held various positions including deputy director of corporate
planning department and director of human resources department of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, director of human resources and
corporate management department, the director, supervisor and
assistant to president of the operational management department and a
supervisor of Weichai Group Holdings Limited. He is currently holding
various positions including the general manager of the Company’s
Shanghai branch, director of Shanghai operation centre and a director of
Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd. Mr. Ding is a senior economist
and holds the qualification of senior manager of corporate human
resources, a bachelor’s degree in engineering and an MBA degree.

Ms. Ling Yun, Chinese, aged 51, is a Vice President of the Company.
She joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in November 1989 and held
various positions including assistant to the head of the financial
management department of Weichai Diesel Engine Factory, chief
financial officer and manager of the finance department of Shandong
Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., head of planning and finance
department and director of Weichai Group Holdings Limited, head of
the finance department and assistant to the president of the Company,
head of the financial management department of Shandong Heavy
Industry Group Co., Ltd., chairman of the supervisory committee of
Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd. and director of Shandong
Heavy Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd. She is currently a director of and
chief financial officer of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited.
and a director of Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. She holds the
qualification of a certified public accountant, senior accountant and a
master’s degree in science.

Mr. Jiang Ningtao, Chinese, aged 40, is a Vice President of the
Company. He joined the Company in July 2004 and held various
positions including as an assistant to the head and vice head of the
operation department, head of factory and chief quality director of No.
1 Factory, head of business operation and management department,
director of performance assessment and director of Weichai Intelligent
Technology Co., Ltd. He is currently a director of Weichai Lovol Heavy
Industry Co., Ltd. and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Wang Decheng, Chinese, aged 43, is a Vice President of the
Company. He joined the Company in July 2004 and held various
positions including vice head of the application engineering department
and director of application engineering center, application engineering
director, engine platform director, executive vice-president of the engine
research institute and assistant to president of the Company. He is
currently a deputy chief designer, chief designer of on-road diesel
engines, head of the engine research institute and chief safety officer of
the Company. He is a senior engineer and holds a master’s degree in
engineering. He was granted the title of Weichai Youth Scientist in July
2017.

Mr. Guo Shenggang, Chinese, aged 45, is a Vice President of the
Company. He joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in July 2000 and held
various positions including a deputy director of the technology centre,
executive vice-president of the engine research institute, engine platform
director, application engineering director and assistant to the president
of the Company. He is currently a deputy chief designer and director of
application engineering center of the Company. He is a senior engineer
and holds a master's degree in engineering and a master’s degree in
management. He was granted the title of Weichai Youth Scientist and
Weichai Scientist in July 2017 and July 2019, respectively.

Mr. Liu Xingyin, Chinese, aged 54, is a Vice President of the Company.
He joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in August 1991 and held
various positions including an officer of the sub-section of the
technology department of Weichai Diesel Engine Factory and assistant to
director of the technical centre, vice head of the product development
department, head of the product planning and value engineering
department, head of the value engineering department and director of
value engineering of the Company. He is a senior engineer and holds a
bachelor’s degree in engineering.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

44

Ms. Qu Hongkun, Chinese, aged 41, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. She joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in July 2005
and held various positions including the chief financial officer and the
head of the finance department of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co.,
Ltd., head of the financial management department of Shandong Heavy
Industry Group Co., Ltd., chief financial officer of China National Heavy
Duty Truck Group Company Limited, director, chief financial officer and
the head of the finance department of Sinotruk (Hong Kong) Limited,
head of the finance department and director of Weichai Group Holdings
Limited, director of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd.
and head of the financial management department of the Company.
She is currently a director of Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd.
and Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. and chairman of the supervisory
committee of Weichai (Yangzhou) Yaxing Motor Company Limited. She
holds the qualification of a certified public accountant, senior accountant
and a bachelor’s degree in management.

Mr. Liu Tonggang, Chinese, aged 36, is the secretary to the Board of
the Company. He joined Weichai Power Co., Ltd. in July 2011 and was
transferred to the securities department in June 2012. He held various
positions including investor relation and business manager and deputy
director of the capital operation department of the Company. He is
currently a director of Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Ltd. and an economist. He hold a master’s degree in
management.

Ms. Hu Yunyun, Chinese, aged 41, is the company secretary and
authorised representative of the Company. She joined the Company in
July 2006 and held various positions including operations manager of
the Company’s Hong Kong Office and assistant company secretary of
the Company. She is currently a deputy general representative for Hong
Kong affairs under the Company's office and a director of Weichai
International (Hong Kong) Energy Group Co., Ltd. and Weichai Holding
Group (Hong Kong) Investment Co., Ltd. She is an accountant and an
associate of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
holds a master’s degree in management.
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DIRECTORS” REPORT

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale of diesel
engines, automobiles and other major automobile components, other
components, new energy powertrain systems and ancillary products, import
and export services, and forklift trucks and supply chain solution services. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities
during the Year. The activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set
out in Note VII to the financial statement.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review, major risks, financial analysis and future prospects of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Chairman’s
Statement on pages 7 to 15 and Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 16 to 33. The Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion
and Analysis form part of the Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 132 to 445. In respect of the comparative
figures for 2021 as set out in these financial statements, in view of the merger
and absorption of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd. by the
Company during the year 31 December 2021, which is considered as a
business combination under common control, and has been accounted for as
if it had been consolidated as at the beginning of the period pursuant to the
“Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 20 — Business
Combination” ( {>EEHAERIFE205% —BEAHF) ), the opening balance
date was dealt with on a retrospective basis.

The Board proposed to distribute to all shareholders a cash dividend of
RMB1.85 (including tax) for every 10 shares held, without any capitalisation of
reserve based on the 8,726,556,821 shares eligible for distribution as at 31
December 2021, without any capitalisation of reserve.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on
page 448. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company
and the Group during the Year are set out in Note V.17 to the financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
Year are set out in Note V.16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year are
set out in Note V.44 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Year are set out in Notes V.45 to 49 to the financial statements and in the
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company's reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations, amounted to
RMB38,205,698,062.71.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable contributions totaling
approximately RMB12,333,019.02.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Tan Xuguang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhang Quan

Xu Xinyu

Sun Shaojun

Yuan Hongming (Executive President)

Yan Jianbo (Executive President)

Non-executive Directors
Zhang Liangfu

Jiang Kui

Gordon Riske

Michael Martin Macht

Independent Non-executive Directors
Li Hongwu

Wen Daocai

Jiang Yan

Yu Zhuoping

Zhao Huifang

SUPERVISORS

Lu Wenwu
Ma Changhai
Wu Hongwei

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), and as at the date of this report, the
Company still considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 34 to 44 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors, non-executive directors, independent non-
executive directors and supervisors of the Company has entered into a service
contract with the Company and their relevant terms of office shall be from 28
June 2021 to the conclusion of the 2023 annual general meeting of the
Company, save that the term of office of Mr. Li Hongwu, an independent non-
executive director, shall be from 28 June 2021 to 7 June 2023.

None of the above directors and supervisors has entered into a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without the payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No director, supervisor or entity connected with a director or supervisor had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during or at the end of the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance which
provides appropriate cover for the directors of the Group. At no time during
the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report, was or is
there any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any
of the directors of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short position (if any) of the
directors, the chief executives and the supervisors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
(the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Number of
"A" shares

EEEHS ()

B3 NESBNKIMKEEEKMN

—E-—F+_R=+—H BF &&
BERABREERARALREABEZECE
: &

XVER BBy - MR RES+  HERE
BHrLHEGRINE2EREARAAFTE
MERMACE HRELHRAAESELT
EERXFNBRETA(RETRDRES A
EARAREEBMERSGMBERAR(EE
BN ERERER(WAE)MNT

Percentage of
Number of the issued
"H" shares share capital

Name of director Capacity held held of the Company
EA QT
R Fi EETRAE
BEEHE g % AREE HE & B EEiR1
Tan Xuguang Beneficial owner 58,842,596 (Note 1) - 0.67%
3 K E=EBA (Kt7F1)
Zhang Quan Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.16%
R R EnEB A (Ktat1)
Xu Xinyu Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.16%
T E ExnlEAA (Ktzt1)
Sun Shaojun Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.16%
HLE E=EB A (Kt7F1)
Yuan Hongming Beneficial owner 1,000,440 - 0.011%
N ExnEB A
Interest held by spouse 444 - 0.000005%
Bl BB AR
1,000,884 0.011%
Yan Jianbo Beneficial owner 1,097,904 - 0.013%
B % 30 ExnlEAEA
Wen Daocai Beneficial owner 21,940 - 0.0003%
SRR EmER A
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) EEERE(B)
Percentage of
Number of Number of the issued
“A" shares “H"” shares share capital
Name of supervisor Capacity held held of the Company
LR NN
¥ R & BBTRE
EEgE g4 AREE HR &R B2
Lu Wenwu Beneficial owner 600,000 - 0.0069%
BX R BEREAA
Wu Hongwei Beneficial owner 4,789,516 - 0.05%
R EHEERAA
Notes: B
. These shares were derived from the previous domestic shares of the Company. The 1. ZERDZABAEARARAK - HARBAR

domestic shares were ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi
denominated par value of RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in
Renminbi or credited as fully paid up. These shares became A shares of the Company
upon the A share listing of the Company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

2. All the shareholding interests listed in the above table are “long” position.
3. The percentages disclosed in the above table were calculated based on the total number

of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021, i.e. 8,726,556,821 shares
(comprised of 6,783,516,821 A shares and 1,943,040,000 H shares).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations of the Company

EEEHS ()

AR RIARBE B ) B =

Approximate

Class and percentage
number interest in the
of securities entire issued
interested or share capital
Name of associated deemed to be of associated
Name of director corporation Nature of interest interested corporation
BEERER
WER R E
BEERD e BT
HEHE IR A Y R =&
EEHS 1H 8L B &R EaME Bl & BB BABEDL
Gordon Riske (Note) KION Group AG (“KION™) Beneficial owner 146,460 0.11%
ordinary shares
Gordon Riske (ff 7#) BEREAA 146,460 % & 3 iz
Interest held by spouse 93,940 0.07%
ordinary shares
MAECBRF A ED 93,940 f% I 37 iX
240,400 0.18%
ordinary shares
240,400 f% 3 3@ ik
Jiang Kui Shantui Engineering Machinery  Beneficial owner 42,697 0.0028%
L Co., Ltd. ordinary shares

WHETEERBEDBRAR ESEA A

Note: Gordon Riske, a non-executive Director, was the beneficial owner of 146,460 shares in
KION and he was also deemed to be interested in 93,940 shares in KION which were
beneficially held by his wife, Ms. Benita Riske.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors, the
chief executives nor the supervisors had an interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations that was recorded in the register required to be kept
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
pursuant to the Model Code.

42,697 % & i AR

Bt & : FF#1 77 2 3 Gordon Riske 7 KION £ 146,460 A% B 17
B EmFEBA I HHEZREZ FBenita Riske X
T+ E A 93,940 R KIONAR 17 H #5 B 1# 25 -

BEXEEEN R -_—F+_-H
=t—H BEEF HERTRABRHLES
PR~ ) 3 H E fA] A8 B O B B B £ - AR BE Ak
MEBEFPEBREIE S R E KD 5352
AR ERCENZIGO AT ENELMA
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) EEERE(B)

DETAILS OF CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL AND BN EZRRERIER
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
(I) Changes in share capital ) RAEAZEBER
1. Changes in share capital (as at 31 December 2021) 1. BEAZEBEZX(BEZE_-F
——F+=ZFA=+—H)
Before the movement Increase/decrease in the movement (+, -) After the movement
/¢ L K] AREBEH(+ -) ARED%
Transfer
New shares Bonus of surplus
No. of shares Percentage issued Issue to capital Others Sub-total  No. of shares Percentage
HE BB R 7R DELER iy Nt ] il
(Oo) (QU)
. Restricted circulating shares 1,746,518,070 2.01% - - - (13,203,765) (13,203,765 1,733314305 19.86%
- BRERERR
I Sateowned g pesonsares 11642531,008 2070% - - - - - 16053108 1882%
BEEARR
2. Shares held by other domestic entites 103,987,062 131% - - - (13,203,765) (13,203,765) 90,783,297 1.04%
EenEHR
Shaeshed by dorestic ntul pesons 103,987,062 131% - - S (B (13203765 9078327 1.04%
BhaRARR
Il Non-restricted circulating shares 6,187,395,825 7799% 792,682,926 - - 13,203,765 805,886,691 6,993,242,516 80.14%
= ERERERD
I RBodnay shaes 4204315825 S350% 792,682,906 - S B3 858669 5050202516 5787%
AREEBR
) Oerens e forign s 1,943,040,000 2449% - - - - - 193040000 227%
B ETENER
I Total number of shares 7933,873,895 100.00% 792,682,926 - - - 792682926 8,726,556,821 100.00%
= khay
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) EEEHRE(B)

(I Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders (as at 31 Iy FERREBRBR(RZ=ZZ=—F

December 2021) +=B=+—H)
Total number of Shareholders  The number of shareholders is BERBAH H474432F  HABAR KR
474,432 among which 474,202 are 474,202 - HERBR R 230 = ©

shareholders of “A" shares and
230 are shareholders of “H”

shares.
Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders H10ERRIFIKIEX
Total
number of
shares held as
at the end of Number of Pledged,
Percentage of  the reporting restricted marked
Name of shareholder Type of shareholder shares held period shares held or frozen
BE
BREHR ERERYE EH B
BRREH RR%E Bt Al FReE HWRAHE REBER
(%)
HKSCC Nominees Limited Foreign shareholder 22.22%  1,938,772,406 - -
EETREEREBAGRAA HEBRR
Weichai Group Holdings Limited State-owned legal person 16.30%  1,422,550,620  1,345,905,600 -
HERREEERAA BREA
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Overseas legal person 4.78% 417,494,304 - -
Company Limited (Note) BINEA
BEEPREERROAGE)
Weifang Investment Group Company Limited  State-owned legal person 3.40% 296,625,408 296,625,408 -
HRTTREEEERRA BB EAN
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited ~ Domestic non-state-owned 1.87% 163,608,906 - -
FEESERRNAERRA legal person
BAEEEEA
IVM Technical Consultants Wien Overseas legal person 1.31% 113,938,700 - -
Gesellschaft m.b.H. BANEA
B2 41 1) VM52 917 5 # 4 h
BRAR
Tan Xuguang Domestic natural person 0.67% 58,842,596 44,131,947 -
ED BRERAA
GIC PRIVATE LIMITED Overseas legal person 0.52% 45,092,181 - -
GIC PRIVATE LIMITED EANE A
National Manufacturing Transformation and ~ Domestic non-state-owned 0.49% 42,682,926 - =
Upgrade Fund Co., Ltd. legal person
BREEXENAREGROERAAT BHREEABEA
Hu Zhongxiang Domestic natural person 0.42% 36,632,166 S =
A BAEAA
Note: Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited holds 417,494,304 A shares on it BEPRGEEBRAL A FFH417,494,304 %
behalf of shareholders under the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect ARBFREBRRIFAH °
mechanism.
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Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted shareholders

Name of shareholder

IR %8

ESEHS (88

Number of the
non-restricted
shares held

as at the end

of the reporting
period

& HR
BEERE
HRERDEE

FI10E BREMRMHFKRIFRIER

Types of shares

1% 10 1 38

HKSCC Nominees Limited
EBPREEREABRAA

1,938,772,406

Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited 417,494,304

BEAPREEZBERAF

China Securities Finance Corporation Limited 163,608,906

PEESSEKRNDBRLQT

IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. 113,938,700

B FIVME T 75 S L B R 2 7

Weichai Group Holdings Limited 76,645,020

HMEZEREBERA A

GIC PRIVATE LIMITED 45,092,181

GIC PRIVATE LIMITED

National Manufacturing Transformation and 42,682,926
Upgrade Fund Co., Ltd.

BREXEANAREERHOBER DA

Hu Zhongxiang 36,632,166

HA R

Nanjing Rongjing Huikang Equity Investment Partnership 35,365,853
Enterprise (Limited Partnership)

ARRRERRERESCECEERAER)

Overlook Investments Limited — client funds 35,365,853

SBRKREERAF-BEFPE®

Notes: Bt &% -
1. Among the aforesaid shareholders, Mr. Tan Xuguang is the chairman of Weichai 1.

Group Holdings Limited. It is not certain whether there is any connected
relationship among other top ten shareholders and the other top ten non-
restricted shareholders, or whether there is any acting in concert relationship

among them.

Among the top ten shareholders of the Company, Mr. Hu Zhongxiang holds 2.
36,632,166 shares through the client credit trading guarantee securities account.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

R NRMBERAT

Overseas listed foreign shares

AN T ANE B
RMB ordinary shares
AR LB R
RMB ordinary shares
AR L @R
RMB ordinary shares
AR L @R
RMB ordinary shares
AR LB R
RMB ordinary shares
AR L @R
RMB ordinary shares
AR L @R

RMB ordinary shares
AREERBRK
RMB ordinary shares
AR L BK

RMB ordinary shares
NI il

U ERRS BB EERERIEREE
BERAAEER AR A RMEMA+ 5
BREREMA T EERERTRREZH
BFHERBEE bR AEZ2EER —
HITBAL -

RAEFI+EREF  HHHBBEFH
X G ERFEF IR 1 536,632,166 /)% ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO (including interests filed with the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) shows that as at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other
than directors, chief executives and supervisors) had the following interests and
short positions (if any) in the shares and underlying shares of the Company:

EEEHS ()

FERR

ARARREBEZZNLBE G EIB6HTEN

TERRELM(BERETEE

bt

gp 2

FiT B8 3R &Y

B R_E-—F+-_A=+—8"
TIHAT(EE SRABTEABERESKRIN
EARBIROD REEROPES T #E= &

mEA) :
Percentage of Percentage of ~ Percentage
Long/ share capital share capital of total
Short ~ Numberof  comprising ~ Numberof  comprising issued share
Name Capacity position Ashares only A shares H shares only H shares capital
HERT
Be/ EAR K& &S RE2%
L EL) *E AREER Bl HER &R Bt Bt
Weichai Group Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Long 1,422,550,620 20.97% - - 16.30%
HEAEREERERATA EREBA e
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. (Note 7) ~ Interest of corporation controlled Long 1,422,550,620 20.97% - - 16.30%
WREISBERAA M) by you ia
REAEHNOZENER
Brandes Investment Partners, LP (Note 3) Investment manager Long - - 78578612 16.18% 3.60%
(H:3) REKR e
Lazard Emerging Markets Equity Portfolio (Note 4)  Investment manager Long - - 23,707,500 5.86% 1.30%
(Hrzta) REFR e
Barclays PLC (Note 3) (#i#3) Person having a security interest Long - - 525,552 0.11% 0.02%
in shares e
BAERMORTERNA
Interest of corporation Long - - 25,453,050 5.24% 1.17%
controlled by you e
RS EENER
25,978,602 5.35% 1.19%
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 24,102,475 4.96% 1.10%
by you wE

digeiliob ok 33
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ESEHS (88

Percentage of Percentage of  Percentage
Long/ share capital share capital of total
Short ~ Numberof  comprising ~ Numberof  comprising issued share
Name Capacity position Ashares only A shares H shares only H shares capital
EERT
Be/ AR B & EHB B & REx2g
i L) RE AR#ER Bk HR & B Bk Bk
Morgan Stanley (Note 2) (#/7#2) Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 49,335,508 5.08% 1.13%
by you 78
fRAR I B
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 42,078,545 4.33% 0.96%
by you KE
A EENER
Lazard Asset Management LLC Investment manager Long - - 328,810,940 16.92% 3.77%
REKR e
Schroders Plc Investment manager Long - - 250,936,854 12.91% 2.88%
REKR e
Citigroup Inc. Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 3,493,078 0.18% 0.04%
by you FE
e kb e kol 5
Approved lending agent Long - - 131,776,169 6.78% 1.51%
REBLREA e
135,269,247 6.96% 1.55%
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 2,000,000 0.10% 0.02%
by you KE
uiligeailapaEl:ok %
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. Approved lending agent Long - - 97410212 5.01% 1.12%
BEBHREA e

56 WEICHAI POWER CoO.,
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Notes:

Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong Province, held the entire share
capital of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Weifang Diesel Engine
Works).

The number of H shares reported above held by the relevant substantial shareholder
does not take into consideration the Company’s bonus share issuance on 21 July 2017
as there is no disclosure of interest obligation under the SFO where there is no change
in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial shareholder.

The number of H shares reported above held by the relevant substantial shareholder
does not take into consideration the Company’s bonus share issuance on 20 August
2015 and 21 July 2017 as there is no disclosure of interest obligation under the SFO
where there is no change in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial shareholder.

The number of H shares reported above held by the relevant substantial shareholder
does not take into consideration the Company’s bonus share issuance on 17 August
2012, 20 August 2015 and 21 July 2017 as there is no disclosure of interest obligation
under the SFO where there is no change in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial
shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2021.

EEEHS ()

Wt at

B £

WREHAFEEEEERZ RS @ AN E AL
RETHEFERAFFAEMXZEREERER R
7] (B 78 73 48 57 56 08 BE B B9 2 BB AR K

L2 A EERTFF A CHREE A&
FRARAR-ZFE—FLA -+ —HEAR
ETEH WHRREZESRGEE
BERRZREB AL EZE)  RIDRBEE R -

LB EEATERRIFFHREA I
FREARAR-_F-—BFNA—FTHER=-F
—tFELAZ A HMARIKRETE T H
RIREBEEFRBREGH HETBRRZRER
DI EEE R ARKEE = -

L ZI B FERRIFECHRE A I #&
HEIAANGR -_E——FNA++H —F
—AFENA=-+AR-_FE—+tFLHA=-+—H
BIAT R R 37T B) - it 5 1 IR 1% 38 55 R B & 15
Bl 1HEERRZREB S EEE - AIDAE
HERE S o

XEEES

R ZEZ—F+ = A

S+t BRARRLEEENELRRREELT
AR EMEMARERIIAR -
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DETAILS OF THE APPOINTMENT OR RESIGNATION
OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR

§$ ¥E¢(1u§)

ES - ES - SRERBASHME
NARES1E)

MANAGEMENT

1.

58

At the Board meeting convened on 30 March 2021, the Board
considered and approved the appointment of Mr. Wang Zhijian as an
executive president of the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 29 April 2021, the Board considered
and approved the resignation of Mr. Liu Yuangiang as a vice president
of the Company and approved the appointment of Mr. Jiang Ningtao as
a vice president of the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 21 May 2021, the Board considered
and approved the resignation of Mr. Hu Haihua as a vice president of
the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 7 June 2021, the Board considered
and approved the resignation of Mr. Kwong Kwan Tong as the chief
financial officer of the Company and approved the appointment of Ms.
Ling Yun as a vice president and Ms. Qu Hongkun as the chief financial
officer of the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 17 August 2021, the Board
considered and approved the resignation of Ms. Wang Li as the secretary
to the board of directors of the Company and approved the
appointment of Mr. Liu Tonggang as the secretary to the board of
directors of the Company.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD

RZEZ—F=ZAZ=ZF+THRITNES
ot EFeCESRMERETTIER
EEBEARRMITEAE -

RZE-_—FNA-_FTNLBETNE

TR EEgEERMEL TARL
EREAQAIBENIRBEEEEZE
BRAEBARQBREAR -

RZEBEZ—FRA-Z+—HEITHE
Eex L EECeCESRMAERESEL
EBTEARABIEE -

RZB-_-—FRALtBETHNESESE
FL BEFRCERNEBEEZ R LR
ERRAMBAEMNRAETEBETES
TRADFEBARE AR ML HAE
NEIMTEHEE

KRB -—FNANA+TELHBRTNES
EHL EXZECEAMETIBL L
FARREZGHENREBIZR
MAEERARNFEZTGWE -
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At the Board meeting convened on 22 November 2021, the Board
considered and approved the resignation of Mr. Sun Shaojun as an
executive president of the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 24 December 2021, the Board
considered and approved the resignation of Mr. Sun Jian as a vice
president of the Company and approved the appointment of Mr. Chen
Wenmiao and Mr. Cheng Guangxu as executive presidents and Mr.
Wang Decheng, Mr. Guo Shenggang and Mr. Liu Xingyin as vice
presidents of the Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 21 January 2022, the Board
considered and approved the resignation of Mr. Zhang Quan as an
executive president and the resignation of Mr. Zhang Jiyuan and Ms.
Cao Zhiyue as vice presidents of the Company and approved the
appointment of Mr. Feng Gang as an executive president of the
Company.

At the Board meeting convened on 30 March 2022, the Board
considered and approved the resignation of Mr. Kwong Kwan Tong as
an authorised representative and company secretary of the Company
and approved the appointment of Ms. Hu Yunyun as an authorised
representative and company secretary of the Company.

§$ ¥E¢(1||§)
RZEZ—F+—-—AZ+ZHETH
gz EEeEEaMHERLE
REBETARRBRITHEE-

%:%:*¢+ AZ+HMBETH
gantbt EEg0ERMERREL
E%E$Qﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁx
HEE - BEBEERRRATNITERE
REEKEE BEM T E - BIFEEDE
ERARRTRBIBE-

W-F-—F-A-+-ABAHE
EML EFRCEAMERRLE
B E AR D A BT 8 B R R A2 TSR A
EEAXLBRAXANNBANAE
BALBRILE AR ARITRE -

RZEZZF=ZA=THRITHES
gL ETeCERMERBEEZLLE
BEARAIREREZERQAAMENRE
EREEH=aRTAEARTRERSE
ERRIME-
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company and the Group had
the following continuing connected transactions, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

List of Connected Persons who had transactions and the

relationship with the Group

ESEHS (88

REEHERS
BE_Z-_—F+_A=+t—-BLFE A
ARERAKERETIHBEUMERS % F
REMWETHBERELDRUBATD
MEBEE -

HASEFEBEEBRRNBEERZ N
BAEALTZBE

Relationship between the Connected

Name of Connected Persons Abbreviation Persons and the Group
BHEALTRR 5 18 BEATRASEE2BERRZR
Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd. Shaanxi Automotive Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the
RASEEEBERETAA PR 5 & Company, Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd.

RAEELTHAEEDHER

Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd.
WREIEEHBER AT

Weichai Group Holdings Limited
HEEREERR QA

Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Limited
EEREEPRERRAA

Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd.*
WRAEE D OAR DA

60 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD.

Fast Transmission

EIREE

Shandong Finance

W& %

Weichai Holdings

SR Y

Chongging Weichai
Ex b 3

Weichai Import and Export
MG O

R NRMBERAT

Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Zhongqi”)
BERARAIZMBRARIRAERS
BERDF(BRAENR])49% # &

Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the
Company, Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (“SFGC")
BEARRIZMBRARAETHER
BRAB(RFEELSER]49% Em

Shandong Heavy Industry

Group Co., Ltd. (“Shandong Heavy Industry”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company, directly
held a 37.50% interest

in Shandong Finance
ARRAZEERFLFRETEEBAERDA
(LWREINEE®RSA

1Ll & B % 37.50% 1 7

Held a 16.30% interest in the Company, one of
the Promoters of the Company

B ARAT16.30% %
KRABERAZ —

Wholly-owned by Weichai Holdings
HERERZZEWNE QA

Wholly-owned by Weichai Holdings
before 29 October 2021
RZEBEZ—FTAZTNABAIA
HEERZZENE AR
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EEEHS ()

Relationship between the Connected

Name of Connected Persons Abbreviation Persons and the Group
BEATER 5 18 BEATHASEZBEERR
Weichai Power Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd. Weichai Westport Weichai Holdings held a 51% interest
HETBHE RS NERA A AR in Weichai Westport
ML ERERAENEIRSI%ER

Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd. Yangzhou Yaxing Indirectly held as to 51% by Weichai Holdings
HBMNEEEERGER DA HBMNEE MREREEEESMNEES1%E S
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. Weichai Heavy Machinery Weichai Holdings held a 30.59% interest
HEBRERODERLA ML E in Weichai Heavy Machinery
HE S IR M SR B 30.59% HE &

Weichai Electrical Equipment Co., Ltd. Weichai Electrical Equipment Wholly-owned by Weichai Heavy Machinery
HRENRBBERRA B NDE HEERZ2ENBRA
* Weichai Import and Export was wholly-owned by Weichai Power Co., Ltd on 29 October R-ZFBZ—F+ A NA MSE L Om#

2021, following which, according to the Main Board Listing Rule 14A.17, the
transactions between the Group and Weichai Import and Export were no longer treated
as connected transactions.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had continuing
connected transactions entered into in accordance with the following
agreements.

A. Provision of general services and labour services by
Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and
its subsidiaries
Pursuant to (i) the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 2 August 2019), and (ii) the general services
agreement entered into between the Company and Chongging Weichai
on 17 November 2003 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 2 August
2019), Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai and their respective
associates have agreed to provide certain labour services and general
services (namely, environmental protection, security, fire protection,
repair, maintenance and other general services and the payment of
certain town land use right tax in relation to the property occupied and/
or used by the Company, its Chongqing office branch and/or other
members of the Group) to the Company, Weichai Power (Weifang)
Casting and Forging Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Casting”, a subsidiary of the
Company), Shandong Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. (“Huadong Casting”, a
subsidiary of the Company), Weichai Power (Weifang) Intensive Logistics
Co., Ltd. ("Weichai Logistics”, a subsidiary of the Company), the
Company’s Chongging branch office (the “Chongqing Branch”) and/or
other members of the Group for a period of three years ending 31
December 2022, upon the expiry of which the parties may extend the
term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

KBHHRDERAAZEHE AiX REFIR
AR B 14A17 5 - 7N 5 [ B 5 ] 1 2 fR]
HIRGTHREREERS -

HE-_Z-_—F+A=+—HI1tF
B AEERBETIHETLE THE

REBEOARAEERERR _-_FTT=F

BREAMAR T -NAFNAA-_ANHHE
AN Z BT RERT kAT ki)
RAAREEERER BT =F+—
ATERAYHNEARBHR(ERE
FHR -_Z-AFNANA_BHNBIAE
NEHZIAMTHHEER M) #R
EERRBEEREARBKES B 2 BB
REARBRAARE BB HOED) B
BARAB(EEBER] AAF 2K E
AR UREHBEERIA(EYE
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The fees payable by the Company (and its Chongqing Branch) and/or its
subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings and/or Chongging Weichai (and their
respective associates) with respect to the provision of the said services
are determined based on the actual costs incurred by Weichai Holdings
and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates) and
apportioned on a pro-rata basis according to the area of the relevant
property occupied and/or used by the Company, the Chongging Branch
and/or the Company'’s subsidiaries plus a service charge representing not
more than 20% of such costs (save that the town land use right tax paid
by Chongging Weichai (and its associates) on behalf of the Chongging
Branch and/or other members of the Group will not be subject to the
said 20% service charge) and settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai
Holdings and its associates to the Company and its
subsidiaries

Pursuant to (i) the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 27 August 2020, collectively, the “Weichai Holdings
Utilities Services Agreement”) and (ii) the utility services agreement
entered into between the Company and Chongging Weichai on 17
November 2003 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 27 August
2020, collectively, the “Chongging Weichai Utilities Services
Agreement”), Weichai Holdings, Chongging Weichai and their respective
associates have agreed to provide the connection of certain utility and
energy services (namely, water, electricity, gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen,
compressed air, waste water treatment and supply of treated waste
water, etc.), to the Company, Weichai Casting, Weichai Power (Weifang)
Reproduction Company Limited (“Weichai Reproduction”, a subsidiary
of the Company), Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics, the Chongging
Branch and/or other subsidiaries of the Company for a period of three
years ending 31 December 2023, upon the expiry of which the parties
may extend the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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The fees payable by the Company and/or its subsidiaries to Weichai
Holdings and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates)
with respect to the provision of the said services are determined based
on the actual usage of the Company, its Chongging branch office and/
or its subsidiaries and by reference to the market prices of such utilities,
or, if it is not possible to measure such usage, pro-rated according to the
respective sales of Chongqing Weichai and the Company’s Chongging
branch office and/or other members of the Group and by reference to
the market prices of such utilities. If only government published rates are
available with respect to certain utilities, the fees payable would be
determined by reference to the government published rates plus the
wastage, depreciation and repair expenses incurred by Weichai Holdings
and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates) in relation
thereto. If no market price or government published rates with respect
to the above utilities and energy services are available, the Company
and/or its subsidiaries will pay the actual costs incurred by Weichai
Holdings and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates) in
relation to the provision of such utilities and energy services plus a
service charge representing not more than 20% of such costs. The fees
are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.
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Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas and
scrap metals etc.,, materials, diesel engines and related
products, processing services and import and export
agency services by the Company and its subsidiaries from
Weichai Holdings and its associates

Pursuant to the purchase and processing services agreement entered
into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai
on 27 November 2008 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 2 August
2019), Weichai Holdings, Chongging Weichai and Weichai Import and
Export (and other associates of Weichai Holdings) have agreed to provide
parts and components of diesel engines, gas, scrap metals, etc.,
materials, diesel engines and related products and relevant processing
services and import and export agency services to the Company, Weichai
Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“Weichai Singapore”), Weichai Middle East FZE
(“Weichai Middle East”, a subsidiary of the Company) Société
International des Moteurs Baudouin (a subsidiary of the Company), Maz-
Weichai Limited Liability Company (a subsidiary of the Company) and
Weichai Ballard Hydrogen Energy Technology Company Limited (a
subsidiary of the Company) and/or other members of the Company for a
period of three years ending 31 December 2022, upon the expiry of
which the parties may extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis. The said purchases and processing services are
transacted at market prices and are settled by the parties on a monthly
basis.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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Sale of diesel engines, diesel engines parts and
components, materials, semi-finished products, hydraulic
products and related products and provision of
processing services by the Company and its subsidiaries
to Weichai Holdings and its associates

Pursuant to the sale and processing services agreement entered into
between the Company and Weichai Power (Weifang) After-sales Service
Co., Ltd. ("Weichai After-sales Services”, a subsidiary of the Company,
formerly known as “Weichai Power Reserves and Resources Company
Limited”) as suppliers and Weichai Holdings and its certain associates as
customers on 27 November 2008 (as amended and supplemented by
various supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 27
August 2020), the Company (and Chongqing Branch), Weichai Casting,
Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Logistics and/or other Group Company
(as the case may be) shall (i) sell certain diesel engines, diesel engine
parts and components, materials, semi-finished products, hydraulic
products and related products; and (ii) provide certain processing services
in relation to the production of diesel engines to Weichai Holdings,
Weichai Import and Export, Chongging Weichai, Yangzhou Shengda
Special Vehicles Co., Ltd. (“Yangzhou Special Vehicle”), Dezhou Degong
Machinery Co., Ltd. (“Dezhong Degong”) and/or other associates of
Weichai Holdings at market prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a
term of three years ending 31 December 2023.
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Sale of diesel engines and related products by the
Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy
Machinery and its subsidiaries

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a framework
agreement on 17 November 2003 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements). The rights and obligations of Weichai
Holdings in the aforesaid agreement were assumed by Weichai Heavy
Machinery pursuant to the supplemental framework agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 August
2015.

Pursuant to such framework agreement (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018,
collectively, the “Weichai Heavy Machinery Sale Agreement”), the
Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel
Engine Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Yangzhou"”, a subsidiary of the Company)
and Baudouin (Weifang) Power Co., Ltd. (“Baudouin China”, a
subsidiary of the Company) and/or other subsidiaries of the Company
have agreed to sell to Weichai Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electric
Equipment and/or other associates of Weichai Heavy Machinery certain
diesel engines and related products, at market prices and settled on a
monthly basis for a term ending 31 December 2021, upon the expiry of
which the parties may extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Heavy
Machinery Sale Agreement dated 30 August 2021, the Company,
Weichai Yangzhou and Baudouin China (and/or other Group companies)
(as the case may be) shall sell to Weichai Heavy Machinery, Weichai
Electric Equipment and/or other associates of Weichai Heavy Machinery
(as the case may be) the said diesel engines and related products at
market prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a term of three years
ending 31 December 2024, upon the expiry of which the parties may
renew the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD

§$ ¥E¢(1u§)
AR TE R EKE QT O MR E
REMBLAREER BN ER
E m

ARFBRMEERN - TR+ —
ATLRTY - BERBRES BM
U B ) © R R U o AR
TRt AR 458 2 7] S
LERR-F-EENA-TLA
S ) 75 HE 22 1 R

BIBEEBEERBEA(CEERRAEE
—NFLtA+=-ZHOHBEEANZIE
HraEma NHIEEERIEED
FEDOARA - MBLEBRE - BEHS
BMEREEREEAR(HLESBMN] -
KRRl zHWBAR) BHZ(EHEH
ERAB(BEHEZHE] N2 FZH B
NED R/ EA AR 2 E M E A AR
ERABEEH BEENIRER I8
SEW o EMB(BEE ARHEESRT
LHBREEER BSHEMERA
HE HRFHBEE_ZT_-_—F1+=A
=t+—HIE RERESTHANEESE
Bk BEA=F o

BE-Z_ST=-_—FNA=+HITZLNH
LEREERB2ETARTHZE A2
Rl-HMEBNEEEZRE(E SHHE
fthEE A Mﬁ\ﬁﬁ@%&mﬁﬁ
ML E M BT NRE RS
%Wﬁm%%Ai%%ﬁﬁmﬁ%i
mEhgE R AEER RAKE  FH
—E-ME+-_A=Z+—HIL=1A
FE RERESFAUCHERBTERE
B BEA=F -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components,
materials, steel and scrap metal etc., diesel engines and
related products and processing and labour services by
the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Heavy
Machinery and its subsidiaries

Pursuant to the purchase and processing services agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai After-sales Services and
Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 November 2008 (as supplemented by
various supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 27
August 2020, collectively, the “Weichai Heavy Machinery Purchase and
Processing Services Agreement”), the Company (and Chongging
Branch), Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction, Huadong Casting,
Weichai Logistics, Baudouin China and/or other Group companies (as the
case may be) shall purchase certain parts and components, steel and
scrap metal etc., materials, diesel engines and labour and processing
services from Weichai Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electric Equipment and/
or other associates of Weichai Heavy Machinery (as the case may be) at
market prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a term ending 31
December 2023.

Pursuant to the purchase and services agreement entered into between
the Company and Weichai Heavy Machinery dated 27 January 2022, the
Company, and/or other Group companies (as the case may be) shall
purchase certain diesel engines and related products and raw materials,
and related labour and technical services from Weichai Heavy Machinery
and/or its subsidiaries (as the case may be) at market prices and settled
on a monthly or quarterly basis, for a term of three years ending 31
December 2024, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to renew the term for another three years on a mutually agreed
basis.

Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel
engine parts components, reserve parts and related
products and provision of labour services by the
Company its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy Machinery
and its subsidiaries

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a semi-finished diesel
engine parts supply agreement on 17 November 2003 (as amended and
supplemented by various supplemental agreements). The rights and
obligations of Weichai Holdings in the aforesaid agreement were
assumed by Weichai Heavy Machinery pursuant to the supplemental
agreement entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and
Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 August 2015.
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Pursuant to such framework agreement (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018,
collectively, the “Weichai Heavy Machinery Supply Agreement”), the
Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai After-sales Services, Weichai
Casting, Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics and/or other subsidiaries of
the Company have agreed to sell certain semi-finished diesel engine
parts, diesel engine parts and components, reserve parts and related
products and to provide the said labour services to Weichai Heavy
Machinery, Weichai Electric Equipment and/or its associates at market
prices and settled on a monthly basis for a period of three years ending
31 December 2021, upon the expiry of which the parties may renew the
term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Heavy
Machinery Supply Agreement dated 30 August 2021, each of the
Company, Weichai (Weifang) Material Forming and Manufacturing Co.,
Ltd. and Weichai (Angiu) Material Forming Co., Ltd. (and/or other Group
companies) has agreed to sell the said semi-finished diesel engine parts,
diesel engine parts and components, reserve parts and related products
and to provide the relevant labour services (as the case may be) to
Weichai Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electric Equipment and/or other
associates of Weichai Heavy Machinery (as the case may be) at market
prices and settled on a monthly basis for a term of three years ending 31
December 2024, upon the expiry of which the parties may renew the
term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

Sale of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC to Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components sale agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 13 July 2018, collectively “Fast Transmission Sale
Agreement”), SFGC has agreed to sell to Fast Transmission certain parts
and components of transmissions, namely, gearboxes, and related
products at market prices and settled every two to three months, for a
term of three years ending 31 December 2021, upon the expiry of which
the parties shall have an option to extend the term for another three
years on a mutually agreed basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Fast Transmission
Sale Agreement dated 30 August 2021, SFGC has agreed to sell and
Fast Transmission has agreed to purchase such parts and components
and related products on the same terms for a term of three years ending
31 December 2024, upon the expiry of which the parties may renew the
term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.
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Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC from Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components purchase agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 13 July 2018, collectively “Fast Transmission Purchase
Agreement”), SFGC has agreed to purchase from Fast Transmission
certain parts and components of transmissions and gears, namely, power
take off assemblies and castings, and related products at market prices
and settled every two to three months, for a term of three years ending
31 December 2021, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to extend the term for another three years on a mutually agreed
basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Fast Transmission
Purchase Agreement dated 30 August 2021, SFGC has agreed to
purchase and Fast Transmission has agreed to sell such parts and
components and related products and labour services on the same terms
for a term of three years ending 31 December 2024, upon the expiry of
which the parties may renew the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw
materials and related products and provision of the
relevant services by the Company and its subsidiaries to
Shaanxi Automotive and its associates

Pursuant to the vehicles, parts and components and raw materials sale and
heat processing services agreement entered into between Shaanxi Zhonggi
and certain other subsidiaries of the Company as suppliers and Shaanxi
Automotive and its associates as customers (the “Shaanxi Customers”) on 1
August 2007 (as supplemented by various supplemental agreements
including the agreement dated 2 August 2019, collectively “Shaanxi
Zhonggi Sale Agreement”), the Company, Shaanxi Zhonggi and their
respective subsidiaries have agreed to sell certain vehicles, parts and
components of vehicles, raw materials and related products, and provide
the relevant services to the Shaanxi Customers, at market prices and settled
by the parties generally every one to three months.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Shaanxi Zhongqi
Sale Agreement dated 30 July 2021, the Company and Shaanxi Zhonggqi
and their subsidiaries (and/or other Group companies) shall sell certain
vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw materials and related
products and to provide the relevant services to Shaanxi Automotive and
its associates (and/or other associates of Shaanxi Automotive) on the
same terms for a term ending 31 December 2022, upon the expiry of
which the parties may renew the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.
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Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap
steel and related products and labour services by the
Company and its subsidiaries from Shaanxi Automotive
and its associates

Pursuant to the parts and components and scrap steel purchase
agreement entered into between Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as buyers and Shaanxi Automotive and
certain of its associates as sellers (the “Shaanxi Sellers”) on 1 August
2007 (as supplemented by various supplemental agreements including
the agreement dated 2 August 2019), the Company, Shaanxi Zhongqi
and their respective subsidiaries have agreed to purchase certain parts
and components of vehicles, scrap steel and related products and labour
services from the Shaanxi Sellers, at market prices and settled by the
parties every one to three months, for a term of three years ending 31
December 2022, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to renew the agreement for a term of three years on a mutually
agreed basis.

Sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related
products by the Company to Yangzhou Yaxing and its
subsidiaries

The diesel engines supply framework agreement entered into between
the Company and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 27 August 2020) sets out the general terms and
conditions for the sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related
products by the Company, Weichai Logistics and/or other subsidiaries of
the Company to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for a period of
three years ending 31 December 2023. The said engines, new energy
powertrain and related products shall be sold by the Company and
Weichai Yangzhou to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time to
time with reference to market prices and/or price agreed according to
the principle of fairness and reasonableness and settled on a monthly
basis. The transactions shall be subject to normal commercial terms and
terms no less favourable to the Group than those available to the Group
from independent third parties.
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Sale of transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and
its subsidiaries

The transmissions supply framework agreement entered into between
SFGC and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as supplemented by
various supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 27
August 2020) sets out the general terms and conditions for the sale of
transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for a
period of three years ending 31 December 2023. The said transmissions
shall be sold by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time
to time with reference to market prices and/or price agreed according to
the principle of fairness and reasonableness and settled on a monthly
basis. The transactions shall be subject to normal commercial terms and
terms no less favourable to the Group than those available to the Group
from independent third parties.

Sale of axles by Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. (“Hande
Axle”, a subsidiary of Shaanxi Zhongqi) to Yangzhou
Yaxing and its subsidiaries

The axles supply framework agreement entered into between Hande
Axle and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as supplemented by
various supplementary agreements, including the agreement dated 27
August 2020) sets out the general terms and conditions for the sales of
axles by Hande Axle to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for a period
of three years ending 31 December 2023. The said axles shall be sold by
Hande Axle to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time to time
with reference to market prices and/or price agreed according to the
principle of fairness and reasonableness and with a payment term of two
months. The transactions shall be subject to normal commercial terms
and terms no less favourable to the Group than those available to the
Group from independent third parties.
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Supply of base engines, gas engine parts, utility and
labour services, technology development services and
related products and services by the Company and its
subsidiaries and associates to Weichai Westport

Pursuant to the framework supply agreement entered into between the
Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai After-sales Services and
Weichai Westport on 25 December 2012 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreement, including the agreement dated 27 August
2020), each of the Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Freshen
Air, and other associates of the Company has agreed to supply certain
base engines, gas engine parts, utility and labour services, technology
development services and related products and services to Weichai
Westport, at market prices and/or prices agreed according to the
principle of fairness and reasonableness and settled on a monthly basis
for a term from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023, upon the expiry
of which the parties may extend the term for three years on a mutually
agreed basis.

Purchase of gas engines, gas engine parts, labour
services and related products and services by the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates from
Weichai Westport

Pursuant to the framework purchase agreement entered into between the
Company, Weichai Reproduction and Weichai After-sales Services and
Weichai Westport on 25 December 2012 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 27 August
2020, collectively, the “Weichai Westport Purchase Agreement”), each of
the Company, Weichai Reproduction, and other associates of the
Company has agreed to purchase certain gas engines, gas engine parts,
labour services and related products and services from Weichai Westport,
at market prices and/or prices agreed according to the principle of fairness
and reasonableness and settled on a monthly basis for a term from 1
January 2021 to 31 December 2023, upon the expiry of which the parties
may extend the term for three years on a mutually agreed basis.
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Provision financial services to the Company and its
subsidiaries by Shandong Finance

Pursuant to the financial services agreement entered into between the
Company and Shandong Finance on 25 March 2019, Shandong Finance
has agreed to provide, inter alia, certain deposit services to the Company
and its subsidiaries for a period of three years ending 29 June 2022,
upon the expiry of which the parties may extend the term on a mutually
agreed basis.

Pursuant to the said financial services agreements, Shandong Finance
shall provide certain deposit services to the Group, the principal terms of
which are as follows:

(@  the interest rate for the deposit of the Group’s funds with
Shandong Finance shall, subject to the compliance of the relevant
requirements of the People’s Bank of China, be no less than the
highest interest rate for the same type of deposit offered by the
major commercial banks in the PRC for the same period; and

(b)  the maximum daily balance (including interests) of the Group's
deposit with Shandong Finance shall not exceed RMB24.5 billion
from 30 June 2019 to 29 June 2020, RMB28 billion from 30 June
2020 to 29 June 2021 and RMB33 billion from 30 June 2021 to
29 June 2022.

Pursuant to the financial services agreement entered into between the
Company and Shandong Finance on 30 March 2022, subject to the
approval by the independent shareholders at the general meeting of the
Company, Shandong Finance has agreed to provide, inter alia, certain
deposit services to the Company and its subsidiaries for a period of three
years ending 29 June 2025, upon the expiry of which the parties may
extend the term on a mutually agreed basis.
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Details of the annual cap and the actual transaction amount for the year hWEHEBRERFBEE T - —F+ = A
ended 31 December 2021 in respect of these continuing connected T+ BUEFEZFELREEERRSEE
transactions are as follows: EAERUNNE

2021
—E-—F
RMB’000
AR TR

A. Provision of general services and labour services by Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and its

subsidiaries

A HBEERRENBEEBR ARNAOEAAAREANBELAARUGERBEREBRE
Cap Actual
£ R B g
Provide general services and labour services by e 1 Ry Ko LB B (R B A )
Weichai Holdings and its associates RHEGEERBREE RS 90,000 33,801
B.  Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and its subsidiaries
B. HMEZBRRHEMBEEH ARABNEAAARMBEARMER, REXKDERSE
Cap Actual
LR 25
Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai S 1 A K LB B (RBE B R A
Holdings and its associates PN BB AR 750,000 348,715
C.  Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas and scrap metals etc., materials, diesel engines and related
products, processing services and import and export agency services by the Company and its subsidiaries from
Weichai Holdings and its associates
C ZALAAREMBARAMOMHRKEERRAWB(EBR ARARBEMEERG RERIARESES - EMH - RAKR
HEER MIBKRBMAEEL QRS
Cap Actual
LR S
Purchase products and services from Weichai ) 4 2 2 iR Ko H T 8 (BA B ) 1 &)
Holdings and its associates K EDMRE 2,200,000 1,179,122
D. Sale of diesel engines, diesel engines parts and components, materials, semi-finished products, hydraulic products
and related products and provision of processing services by the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings
and its associates
D. AXARRHEMBARNEMBKRERRAMBEB ARHEERBE LHRERH - EMR -¥lm BREER
HHEERREENIRYE
Cap Actual
LR BB
Provide diesel engines and related products and ) A 2 2 iR Ko E T B (BA B ) 2 &)
services to Weichai Holdings and its associates s m g R B E m LR 3,900,000 3,162,103
74 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. MLshhBRMERAT



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) EEEHRE(B)

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARBT R

E. Sale of diesel engines and related products by the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its
subsidiaries

E XAAREMBARMOHIERREANBLAAHENRAKREABER

Cap Actual
FR S

Provide diesel engines and related products to ML s R ENE NG HE
Weichai Heavy Machinery and its subsidiaries S i # K AR BA = 750,000 682,905

F. Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, materials, steel and scrap metal etc., diesel engines and related
products and processing and labour services by the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Heavy Machinery and
its subsidiaries

FF ARARREMBAFNOBKEELARAMNBLARNKBEAKSESG - EMA AMRBESES LHEREHEER
MNTRE®HRE

Cap Actual
ER £
Purchase diesel engines and related materials and 1A # 5¢ & # & H I & & 5 #1388
services from Weichai Heavy Machinery and its e i K2 A BE R MR 2 AR 7%
subsidiaries 640,000 410,969

G. Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel engine parts and components, reserve parts and related products
and provision of labour services by the Company its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its subsidiaries

G ALAAREMBARMBRNCERRAWBARNHEL KRG EL - KARERF A REBESUARREHS
8 1% IR %

Cap Actual
LR B R

Provide diesel engines related materials and services [&] # 5¢ 5 # & H [ B 2 &) &
to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its subsidiaries S i K2 A8 BE R AR 2 AR 78 220,000 124,854

H. Sale of parts and components of transmissions and related products by SFGC to Fast Transmission

H BRAZIRHEGOEIIREEHEEHTHIMARAEABER

Cap Actual
FR B

Provide parts and components of transmissions PRAEZE TR EGREEEHT
and related products by SFGC &1 & AR B E S 6,420,000 1,887,620
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2021
—E-—F
RMB’000
AR¥T R

Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and related products and labour services by SFGC from Fast
Transmission

REZIRERONEAIREERBESZHHERERER

Cap Actual
£ BR g
Purchase of parts and components of transmissions PR P T Eim iR ESHZ
and related products and services by SFGC B AR E o RS 11,700,000 4,401,256
J. Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw materials and related products and provision of the relevant
services by the Company and its subsidiaries to Shaanxi Automotive and its associates
L. ALRAREMBELARARSEEREMB(ERH ARAHFHERE - REEZRG EMREBERNREEBERYE
Cap Actual
LR B
Provide vehicles, raw materials and related products A Bt 5 & B K H M B (BF Bt ) A 7
and services to Shaanxi Automotive and its HEAE  RMHEREEE®D
associates N RR 75 5,200,000 2,951,833
K.  Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel and related products and labour services by the Company
and its subsidiaries from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates
K XAFAREWBATARAEEREANEEBE AARBAEZNH BN HRERREBRYE
Cap Actual
£ BR 55
Purchase parts and components of vehicles, scrap & Bk /3 & B & H i & (B B ) 2 7]
steel and related products and labour services EEAETEHMG - BBl EH
from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates Em kBB RG 13,700,000 9,979,272
L. Sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related products by the Company and its subsidiaries to Yangzhou
Yaxing and its subsidiaries
L. KARBBENEERENEARHERDR FRRBHILBAREBER
Cap Actual
£ BR B 5
Provide new energy powertrain and related mMEMNEEREWEB QG HE
products to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries %7 82 )R &) 77 42 B & 48 8 = & 660,000 4,741
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2021
—E-—F
RMB’000
AR TR
M. Sale of transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries
M BRAZIRFREGASENEEREMBARMERES
Cap Actual
L BR B
Provide transmissions to Yangzhou Yaxing and its  [A]#5 )1 25 2 2 H i B A &) &
subsidiaries ZRAa 50,000 1,517

N. Sale of axles by Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. ("Hande Axle", a subsidiary of Shaanxi Zhongqi) to Yangzhou Yaxing
and its subsidiaries

N BREERESERAFD(EZEER] REEAZHBLAIAENCEREMNBLAAHEER

Cap Actual
LR BB

Provide axles to Yangzhou Yaxing and its MizMEE REKE QG HE
subsidiaries Bi5 77,000 14,213

0. Supply of base engines, gas engine parts, utility and labour services, technology development services and related
products and services by the Company and its subsidiaries and/or associates to Weichai Westport

0. ALARARHEMEEB ARNOASHERMELARE SEARS REPRELE BRWTHEREREEER
R R

Cap Actual
L BR B

Provide base engines, gas engine parts and related  [7] 75 /8 # 6L R (1 B A B2 4% - @ 28
products and services to Weichai Westport 1 K AE B E on K AR 7% 580,000 293,254

P.  Purchase of gas engines, gas engine parts, labour services and related products and services by the Company and its
subsidiaries and/or associates from Weichai Westport

P. FAAAREMBEBLAODABHERRBERER REREF ESLERABERRRYE

Cap Actual
L BR B

Purchase gas engines, gas engine parts and related [A1 P08 #T AR IR BE M A2 1 - | 22
products and services from Weichai Westport B 2 AR R E o AR 78 5,270,000 2,389,306
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ESEHS (88

2021
—E-—F
RMB’000
AR¥T R

Q. Provision of financial services to the Company and its subsidiaries by Shandong Finance

Q WRHBEAFAAARENMEBLARESHERSE

From 1 January 2021
to 29 June 2021
—B2--5-A—HZE
ZE--fXA=t+NA

Cap Actual
FR S
The maximum daily balance (including interests) IR EmARR REKBR A
on the deposit services provided by Shandong RHOEFEFRBEOEAESF
Finance to the Company and its subsidiaries KR (R FB) 28,000,000 27,980,864

From 30 June 2021
to 31 December 2021
—E-_—-FXA=Z1+HZE
—E-_—-+=ZHA=+—H

Cap Actual
LR S
The maximum daily balance (including interests) WA AR R REKER A
on the deposit services provided by Shandong RHEOEFEFRBEOEAESF
Finance to the Company and its subsidiaries KR (R FB) 33,000,000 32,964,323

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the
internal control procedures put in place by the Company and the continuing
connected transactions set out above and have confirmed that the internal
control procedures were adequate and effective, and these continuing
connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and (i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information,” and with
reference to Practice Note 740, “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules,” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
above continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.
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In the letter the auditors have confirmed and stated that:

a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved by
the Company'’s board of directors.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group.

C. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions set out above, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap as approved by
the Company.

A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Reference is made to the announcement of Sinotruk (Hong Kong) Limited
dated 28 February 2022, on 28 February 2022, it received a notice from China
National Heavy Duty Truck Group Company Limited (“CNHTC") which stated
that the gratuitous transfers in respect of 65% of the equity interest in CNHTC
to Shandong Heavy Industry had been registered with the relevant government
authorities in the PRC and hence, the gratuitous transfers had been completed.
Accordingly, Shandong Heavy Industry has become holder of 65% of the
equity interest in CNHTC, and in turn, CNHTC and its associates have become
connected persons of the Company. Reference is also made to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 March 2022 in relation to certain
continuing connected transactions between the Company and the CNHTC
Group. On 30 March 2022 in which it was announced that, the Group has
entered into the framework agreements with the CNHTC Group to govern the
principal terms of the continuing connected transactions between them for the
three years ending 31 March 2024.
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Purchase of vehicles, vehicle parts and components and
related products, engines, engine parts and components
and related products, and relevant services by the
Company (and its subsidiaries) from CNHTC (and its
associates)

Pursuant to the purchase agreement entered into by the Company and
the CNHTC dated 30 March 2022, CNHTC and/or its associates (as the
case may be) shall supply certain vehicles, vehicle parts and components
and related products, engines, engine parts and components and related
products and relevant services (as the case may be) to the Company and/
or other Group companies (as the case may be) at market prices and
settled on a monthly or quarterly basis (depending on the terms of the
definitive agreements to be entered into by the parties), for a term of
three years ending 31 December 2024, upon the expiry of which the
parties shall have an option to renew the same for a period of three
years on a mutually agreed basis.

Sale of vehicles, vehicle parts and components and
related products, engines, engine parts and components
and related products, and relevant services by the
Company (and its subsidiaries) to CNHTC (and its
associates)

Pursuant to the supply agreement entered into by the Company and the
CNHTC dated 30 March 2022, the Company and/or other Group
companies (as the case may be) shall sell vehicles, vehicle parts and
components and related products, engines, engine parts and
components and related products and relevant services (as the case may
be) to CNHTC and/or its associates (as the case may be) at market prices
and settled on a monthly or quarterly basis (depending on the terms of
the definitive agreements to be entered into by the parties), for a term
of three years ending 31 December 2024, upon the expiry of which the
parties shall have an option to renew the same for a period of three
years on a mutually agreed basis.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into the
following connected transactions which were not exempt from the annual
review and disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of such connected transaction have been disclosed in compliance with
the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

ACQUISITION OF 39.31% SHARES IN WEICHAI LOVOL HEAVY
INDUSTRY CO., LTD. (“WEICHAI LOVOL")

On 13 July 2021, the Company entered into (i) the Arbos Share Transfer
Agreement with Arbos Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. and Weichai Lovol,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase 466,838,400 shares of
Weichai Lovol (representing approximately 38.62% of total issued shares of
Weichai Lovol) from Arbos Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. at the consideration
of RMB968,199,700 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,160,896,991.64), and
(i) the Qingte Share Transfer Agreement with Qingte Group Co., Ltd. and
Weichai Lovol, pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase 8,400,000
shares of Weichai Lovol (representing approximately 0.69% of total issued
shares of Weichai Lovol) from Qingte Group Co., Ltd. at the consideration of
RMB17,298,200 (equivalent to approximately HK$20,740,998.31), respectively.
Before the above acquisitions, Weichai Lovol was held by Weichai Holdings as
to approximately 60%, and accounted for as a subsidiary of Weichai Holdings.

Following completion of the acquisitions, the Company has become a holder
of approximately 39.31% of the total share capital of Weichai Lovol, and
Weichai Lovol is accounted for as an associate of the Company.
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Acquisition of the entire equity interest in Shandong Weichai
Import and Export Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Import and Export")
On 29 October 2021, the Company entered into the Equity Transfer
Agreement with Weichai Holdings and Weichai Import and Export, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to acquire, and Weichai Holdings agreed to sell,
the entire equity interest in Weichai Import and Export at the consideration of
approximately RMB313.75 million (equivalent to approximately HK$381.56
million). Before the above acquisition, Weichai Import and Export was held by
Weichai Holdings as to 100% and accounted for as a subsidiary of Weichai
Holdings.

Following completion of the above acquisition, the Company has become the
holder of the entire equity interest of Weichai Import and Export, and Weichai
Import and Export is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Company.

Except for the transactions with associates, all the transactions of goods and
services with related parties, leasing with related parties and transfer of assets
with related parties as disclosed in Notes X.5(1) to (3) to the financial
statements also constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company has complied with relevant requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Acknowledging the importance of shareholders’ interest and return, the
Company has always adopted a policy of stable dividend distribution. Prior to
proposing dividend distribution, the Board considers a multitude of factors
including the Company’s financial performance, distributable reserve, capital
expenditure, expected financial performance, expected working capital
requirement and such other factors as the Board may consider relevant.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements that enabled the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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INCOME TAX FOR H SHAREHOLDERS

According to the regulations in the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Implementation Regulations on Enterprise Income Tax Law
of People’s Republic of China which came into effect in 2008 and the Notice
of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues Relating to the Withholding
and Remittance of Enterprise Income Tax on Dividends Paid by Chinese
Resident Enterprises to Overseas Non-resident Enterprises which hold H Shares
(Guo Shui Han [2008] No. 897) (B H ELE R (B MIBIMARIEE R %MK
RIRERERMRGUCEMEHBEERENBEM) (BT K[2008]8975%))
issued by China’s State Administration of Taxation on 6 November 2008
(collectively, the “Tax Law"”), any domestic enterprise of the PRC which pays
dividends to non-resident enterprise shareholders (as defined in the Tax Law)
for the year of 2008 and thereafter shall withhold and remit enterprise income
tax with the payer as withholding agent. After receiving dividends, non-
resident enterprise shareholders may, where applicable, apply for tax refund
pursuant to relevant requirements under tax treaty (arrangement).

In accordance with the Tax Law, the Company is obliged to withhold and remit
enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the non-resident
enterprise holders of H Shares whose names appear on the register of
members for H Shares of the Company on the record date when distributing
dividends to them. For holders of H Shares who are registered in the name of
non-natural person registered shareholders (including HKSCC (Nominees)
Limited, other corporate nominees, trustees, or other organisations or groups
which are all treated as “non-resident enterprise” shareholders) on the register
of members for H Shares of the Company on the record date, the Company
will distribute the cash dividends, after withholding for payment of 10%
enterprise income tax.

Pursuant to the Notice on the Tax Policies Concerning the Pilot Program of the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect (B8R ZRBRRRE 532 5 B B B ikl
BRI BB AN) and the Tax Policies Concerning the Pilot Program
of the Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect {EAREBREM 5 5 B 1 H B
et =8 B BE R U SR B3 AN) ), for mainland corporate investors that invest
in a company via the Southbound Trading Link, corporate income tax will be
levied according to the law. In particular, for any dividend to be distributed to
resident enterprises in the mainland China which hold H shares for more than
12 consecutive months, corporate income tax may be exempt according to the
law. Such mainland enterprises shall declare and pay taxes by themselves in
respect of such dividends, which will not be withheld by such H share
company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

According to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation on Certain Policies Regarding Individual Income Tax
(Cai Shui Zi [1994] No. 20) (<EABEB ~ BIR T 548 B RARME A PRISHEA TR
R REE AN (BT [1994]5520%%) ), foreign individual resident shareholders
are exempt from personal income tax in respect of the dividends or bonus
received from domestic foreign invested enterprises for now. As the Company
is a foreign invested enterprise, for all natural person shareholders whose
names are registered on the register of members for H Shares of the Company
on the record date, the Company does not need to withhold personal income
tax. The Company shall obtain latest updates by consulting relevant tax
authorities in the PRC in due course.

In respect of dividends for the H shares of a company invested in by mainland
individual investors and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange through the
Southbound Trading Link, the H share company shall apply to China Securities
Depository and Clearing Co., Ltd., which will then provide the H share
company with the register of mainland individual investors. The H share
company shall withhold an individual income tax at the rate of 20% on such
dividends.

For dividends received by investors (including enterprise and individual
investors) in the Hong Kong market from investing in A shares listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and before Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited is able to furnish China Securities Depository and Clearing
Co., Ltd. with the identity, holding period and other detailed data of the
investors in the Hong Kong market , the differentiated tax treatment based on
the holding period of shares will not be implemented temporarily. Listed
companies shall withhold income tax at the rate of 10% and make
withholding filings with the relevant tax authorities. For those investors who
are tax residents of other countries and the tax rate applicable to dividends is
lower than 10% under the tax treaty between China and the relevant
countries, such investors may, by themselves or request the withholding agent
to act on their behalf to, apply to the relevant tax authorities in respect of the
listed company for the preferential relevant treatment under the relevant
treaties. Upon the verification of the relevant tax authorities, the amount being
the difference between the tax withheld and the tax calculated at the rate as
prescribed under the corresponding tax treaty shall be refunded.

If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the register of
members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or
trustees. The Company will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax
for its non-resident enterprise shareholders strictly in accordance with the
relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and
adhere strictly to the information set out in the Company's register of
members on the record date.
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DIRECTORS’

REPORT (CONTINUED)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the Group's five

largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group's total purchases.

At no time during the Year did a director, a supervisor, an associate of a
director or a shareholder of the Company, which to the knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have an interest

in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(i)

(i)

86

On 30 March 2022, the Company’s 2021 profit distribution proposal
was considered and approved by the Company's third meeting of the
sixth session of the Board. Based on the 8,726,556,821 shares eligible
for distribution as at 31 December 2021, the Company intends to
distribute to all shareholders a cash dividend of RMB1.85 (including tax)
for every 10 shares held, without any capitalisation of reserve.
Completion of the proposal is subject to the consideration and approval
by the 2021 annual general meeting of the Company.

On 30 March 2022, the proposed adjustment to the timeline for the
application of proceeds from the non-public issuance of A Shares (the
details of such issuance were set out below) was considered and
approved by the Company’s third meeting of the sixth session of the
Board. The adjusted timetable for the application of the relevant
proceeds is set out below:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHS ()

RMB million

ARBEH&ETT
Name of investment project Adjusted application of proceeds
EREAZRE AEAESESRATE
Amount of
proceeds
proposed to
Name of project Name of sub-project be applied 2021 2022 2023 2024
EfES
LEEL FHEE AR BRAEE 20215 2022% 2023% 20245
Fuel cell industry chain development project  Hydrogen-fueled cell and key components 500.00 65.13 200.00 234.87 -
MEEREXERERER industrialisation project
SRHELRBRESHER(ES
Solid oxide fuel cell and key components 500.00 8.16 120.55 214.35 156.94
industrialisation project
HEStMRHELRARTFELLER
Key components of fuel cell powertrain research and 1,000.00 146.44 210.00 350.00 293.56
development and construction capabilities project
MBERDNERROTHHEREREEE D
ERER
Full series of H platform high-end road-going ~ New million units digitalised power industry base 3,000.00 12.14 900.00 1,200.00 887.86
engines of China VI or above emission stage | project )
standards project MABARTHNEREN—HEE
SRIEARI EHHRREHT B ER
AEnEBKER H platform engines intelligent manufacturing upgrade ~ 1,000.00 118.04 260.00 400.00 22196
project
HYSBBRE R ET AR
Large diameter high-end engine Large diameter high-end engine laboratory project 1,075.00 140.79 311.50 330.00 292.71
industrialisation project AEEEREDREREERER
RIERREDRELXICER
High efficiency and high speed self-owned brand 685.00 77.65 250.00 270.00 87.35
engine mdustria\iigtion project
BERBANERRBERCER
Large diameter high-end engine development project 1,240.00 194.84 248.00 425.00 372.16
RIEREEBRRAER
Full series hydraulic pressure powertrain and large-scale continuously variable transmission (CVT) 3,000.00 166.02 917.73 1,011.39 904.86
powertrain industrialisation project )
RRIREHNARAARTH N EREZER
Total 12,000.00 929.21 3,417.78 4,435.61 3,217.40
A%
Notes: o
1. The figures for 2021 are the actual amounts applied by the Company to the 1. —E - FWEFAALNAEHRARIARE
relevant investment projects; and BEREANEREERE R
2. the figures for 2022 to 2024 are adjusted investment application amounts to be 2. CEC CFEFR T _NFNEFEELE

applied to the relevant investment projects.

A

AREBFERIEA AL BERTERE
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(iif)

(iv)

88

The adjustment is mainly due to the operational needs of the Group and
the actual status of the relevant investment projects and is in compliance
with the relevant requirements for the management of proceeds raised
of the Chinese Securities Regulation Commission and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. It will not adversely affect the implementation of the
relevant investment projects, change the proposed use of proceeds or
harm the interest of the shareholders of the Company. Such adjustment
will not adversely impact the normal production and operation of the
Company and is in line with the long-term development strategy of the
Company.

For further details of the abovementioned adjustment to the timeline for
the application of proceeds, please refer to the announcement of the
Company entitled " CHELEB NRDBRAFIBANR2021FFEEEER
FREERIB R EREIERE) (the Special Report of Weichai Power Co.,
Ltd. on the Deposit and Use of the Proceeds Raised in the Year 2021)"
dated 30 March 2022 published on the website of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

On 30 March 2022, the proposed amendments to the terms of reference
to the strategic development and investment committee of the Board
and to the Rules of Procedures for Board Meetings (EE &% =4781) of
the Company in order to clearly state the functions of the Board in
relation to the environmental, social and governance (“ESG"”) matters
were considered and approved by the Company’s third meeting of the
sixth session of the Board. The amended terms of reference to the
strategic development and investment committee of the Board will be
published on the websites of the Company and of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on the same date while the proposed amendments to the
Rules of Procedures for Board Meetings of the Company will be
submitted for the consideration and (if fit) approval by the shareholders
of the Company at the upcoming 2021 annual general meeting of the
Company. For further details, please refer to the relevant
announcements of the Company dated 30 March 2022 published on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

On 18 April 2022, the Company entered into a share transfer agreement
with Weichai Holdings and Weichai Lovol, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to purchase, and Weichai Holdings
has conditionally agreed to sell, 274,401,120 shares of Weichai Lovol
(representing approximately 22.69% of total issued shares of Weichai
Lovol) at the initial consideration of RMB1,584,461,400 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,944,840,309) (subject to adjustments). The
transaction is subject to the independent shareholders’ approval and has
not been completed.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION

The Group keeps itself updated with and ensures the strict compliance with all
such relevant environmental laws and regulations as applicable in the
respective jurisdictions. Meanwhile, all-round and comprehensive internal
management system and rules are in place to ensure the effective
implementation of relevant policies and regulations.

During the Year, the Group obtained the ISO14001 Environmental
Management System Certificate. During the course of production, hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes are also disposed of in a safe and efficient manner,
without polluting the environment. Pollutants so produced are in compliance
with national or local emission standards. The Group has never been included
in any list of highly-polluting enterprises by environmental authorities, nor has
it been penalised by any environmental authorities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group keeps itself updated with and ensures the strict compliance with all
such relevant laws and regulations as applicable in the respective jurisdictions.
During the Year, the Group has complied with all applicable relevant laws and
regulations in the respective jurisdictions in all material respects.

MAJOR RELATIONSHIPS INVOLVING THE GROUP

(1) Employees
The Company strictly complies with the relevant national laws and
regulations and upholds a “people-oriented” philosophy. It is committed
to providing employees with a fair, just, comfortable and good working
environment. The Company firmly believes that employees play a pivotal
role in the Company’s continuity, development and growth. Through
diversified talent attraction policies, a sound talent training system and
an industry-competitive salary and welfare system, we strive to achieve
the common growth of employees and the Company. During the
Reporting Period, the Company was awarded the “National Model of
Harmonious Enterprise with Good Labour Relations”. The management
team and staff team of the Group have been stable. During the Year,
the Group considered that the relationship with its employees and the
turnover rate were acceptable.
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(2)

(3)

(4)

Suppliers

With mergers and reorganisation on a global basis and overseas market
expansion, the Group owns production factories in many countries and
regions and its suppliers are all over the world. The Group is committed
to establishing a transparent supply chain, complying strictly with all
rules and regulations and conducting procurements in a fair and
impartial manner, to ensure the compliant operation of the supply chain.
All major suppliers have close and long-term relationship with the
Group. During the Year, the Group considered that the relationship with
suppliers was sound and stable.

Customers

Insisting on “Aiming for customer satisfaction”, the Group steadfastly
implements the key quality requirements of “goal assessment, effective
system, strict compliance, and responsibility performance”, and
deepened the philosophy of “Quality is in our hands” in pursuit of high
quality development with high quality of products. The Group
considered that the relationship with assembling factories and users was
sound and stable.

Society

With the notion of “Developing economy and service the community”,
the Group goes beyond achieving its own growth to contribute to
society by fighting against COVID-19 and having started a variety of
charitable donations and volunteer activity to actively perform its social
responsibilities and spread its positive energy as a corporation and strives
to achieve win-win development vis-a-vis society, gaining recognition
from different sectors of society.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) comprises all
independent non-executive directors of the Company. The chairman of the

Audit Committee is Ms. Jiang Yan, an independent non-executive director. Ms.

Jiang has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules, for the purpose of this appointment. Throughout the Year, the Audit
Committee discharged its responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial

results and internal control matters of the Company. In accordance with the
requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the Audit Committee has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE IN APPENDIX 14 TO THE LISTING RULES

During the Year, other than the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer being performed by Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan”) and directors not
being able to attend all annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meetings due to other important work-related affairs, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions effective during the Year of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Mr. Tan is in charge of the overall management of the Company. The
Company considers that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and
implementation of the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to
grasp business opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers
that through the supervision of its board and its independent non-executive
directors, there is adequate balance of power and authority in place.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

During the Year, the Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less than the required standard set out in
the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.
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AUDITORS

The Company appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP (fB#)EE K &5 AN HEAT (ISR EiBAR)) as the Company's
auditors on 20 June 2019 in place of Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP will retire and a resolution
for their reappointment as auditors of the Company for the year of 2022 will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year were approved by
the Board on 30 March 2022.

PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT ON THE
WEBSITES OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE
AND THE COMPANY

The 2021 annual report of the Company will be despatched to the
shareholders as well as made available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.weichaipower.com in due course.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong,
30 March 2022
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

In 2021, in accordance with relevant requirements under laws and regulations
including the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “Company
Law"), the Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “Securities
Law”), Rules Governing the Listing of Shares on Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
Guideline No. 1 for the Self-regulatory Rules for Companies Listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange — Standardized Operation of Companies Listed on
the Main Board as well as the Articles of Association and the Rules of
Procedure of the Supervisory Committee, and from the perspective of
protecting the legitimate interests of the Company and its investors, the
Supervisory Committee actively attended meetings of the Board and general
meetings and performed effective supervision on the material operating
activities of the Company and on the performance duties by the Directors and
the senior management, thereby giving well play to the supervisory function of
the Supervisory Committee, facilitating the standardized operation of the
Company, and effectively safeguarding the legitimate interests of the
Company and its Shareholders. Work of the Supervisory Committee conducted
in 2021 is reported as below:

I. DETAILS OF CONVENING MEETINGS OF THE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

In this year, the Company held nine meetings of the Supervisory

Committee:

1. On 25 February 2021, the first provisional meeting of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company in 2021 was convened,
during which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved
the Resolution on the Spin-off and Listing of Weichai Torch
Technology Co., Ltd., a Subsidiary of the Company, on the
ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in Compliance
with the Relevant Laws and Regulations, Resolution on the
Proposal in Relation to the Spin-off and Listing of Weichai Torch
Technology Co., Ltd., a Subsidiary of the Company, on the
ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, the Resolution on
the Plan for the spin-off and listing of Weichai Torch Technology
Co., Ltd., a Subsidiary of Weichai Power Co., Ltd., on the ChiNext
Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, the Resolution on the
Spin-off and Listing of Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd., a
Subsidiary of the Company, on the ChiNext Board of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange in Compliance with the “Certain
Provisions on Pilot Domestic Listing of Spin-off Subsidiaries of
Listed Companies”, the Resolution on the Spin-off and Listing of
Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd., a Subsidiary of the Company,
on the ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange which
Benefits to Safeguard the Legal Rights and Interests of the
Shareholders and Creditors of the Company, the Resolution on
the Ability of the Company to Maintain its Independence and
Sustainable Operation Ability, the Resolution on the Capacity of
Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd., a Subsidiary of the Company,
to Operate in Accordance with the Corresponding Regulations,
the Resolution on the Explanation Regarding the Completeness
and Compliance of the Statutory Procedures Performed for the
Spin-off and the Validity of the Legal Documents to be Submitted
in Relation Thereto and the Resolution on the Analysis in Relation
to the Objectives, Commercial Reasonableness, Necessity and
Feasibility of the Spin-off.
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On 30 March 2021, the seventh meeting of the fifth session of
the Supervisory Committee was convened, during which the
Supervisory Committee considered and approved the Resolution
on the Full Text and Summary of the 2020 Annual Report, the
Resolution on the Work Report of the Supervisory Committee for
2020, the Resolution on the Financial Report and Auditors’ Report
for 2020, the Resolution on the Final Financial Report for 2020,
the Resolution on the Financial Budget Report 2021, the
Resolution on Profit Distribution Proposal for 2020, the Resolution
on the Internal Control Self-evaluation Report for 2020, the
Resolution on the Internal Audit Report for 2020, the Resolution
on the Re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified
Public Accountants LLP as the Auditors of the Company for Year
2021 and the Resolution on the Re-appointment of Hexin
Accountants LLP as the Internal Control Auditors of the Company
for the Year 2021.

On 29 April 2021, the second provisional meeting of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company in 2021 was convened,
during which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved
the 2021 First Quarterly Report of the Company and the
Resolution in Relation of the Election of the Non-Employee
Representative Supervisors of the sixth Session of the Supervisory
Committee.

On 7 June 2021, the third provisional meeting of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company in 2021 was convened, during which
the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the
Resolution on the Use of Bank Acceptance Bills and Letters of
Credit for the Payment of the Funds for the Investment Projects
and the Replacement of Funds with the Same Amount.

On 11 June 2021, the fourth provisional meeting of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company in 2021 was convened,
during which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved
the Resolution on the Adjustment of Distribution of Profit of the
Company for Year 2020.
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On 28 June 2021, the first meeting of the sixth session of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company was convened, during
which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the
Resolution on the Election of the Chairman of the Sixth Session of
the Supervisory Committee.

On 30 July 2021, the fifth provisional meeting of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company in 2021 was convened, during which
the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the
Resolution on the Replacement of the Self-raised Funds Previously
Injected into the Investment Projects with the Proceeds Raised and
the Resolution on the Use of Certain Idle Proceeds for Cash
Management.

On 30 August 2021, the second meeting of the sixth session of
the Supervisory Committee of the Company was convened, during
which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the
Resolution on the Full Text and Summary of the 2021 Interim
Report of the Company, the Resolution on the Implementation of
the 2021 Interim Profit Distribution and the Resolution on
Amendments to the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory
Committee.

On 29 October 2021, the sixth provisional meeting of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company in 2021 was convened,
during which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved
the Resolution on 2021 Third Quarterly Report of the Company.

IT. OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE ON
SUPERVISED MATTERS OF THE COMPANY IN THE
REPORTING PERIOD

1.

Compliance of the Company’s operations with legal
requirements

During the reporting period, pursuant to the laws and regulations
of the PRC and the Articles of Association, the Supervisory
Committee duly supervised the convening procedures and
resolutions of general meetings of Shareholders and meetings of
the Board, the Board's execution of resolutions approved at
general meetings of shareholders, the performance of duties by
the senior management of the Company. The Supervisory
Committee was of the view that the Board and the senior
management of the Company performed their duties with
integrity and diligence, made decisions in a scientific approach,
maintained sound production and operation. The Supervisory
Committee was not aware of any action which would result in a
breach of laws or regulations or the Articles of Association or
would damage the interests of the Company and investors in the
Company.
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Financial position of the Company

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee further
enhanced its internal control, especially the examination of the
financial system. The Company has established a sound system on
external investment, asset transfer and connected transactions,
etc. In its operation, the Company observed the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC and the relevant provisions of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC"). On the control of
the movement of funds and administrative expenses, the
Company strictly controlled on each grade which ensured the
normal operation of the Company and avoided financial risk.

The Supervisory Committee was of the view that the procedures
adopted by the Board in preparing and considering the annual
financial report of the Company are in compliance with the laws,
administrative regulations and stipulations of the CSRC. The
contents of the report gave a true, accurate and complete view of
the actual situation of the listed company and do not contain false
statements, misleading representations or material omissions.

The internal control self-evaluation report of the
Company

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee duly
reviewed the 2021 internal control self-evaluation report of the
Company, and is of the view that the 2021 internal control self-
evaluation report of the Company issued by the Board truly and
objectively reflected the Company’s internal control system and its
actual operation. No major defect has been identified in the
design and implementation of the Company’s current internal
control system. The Supervisory Committee has no objection to
the 2021 internal control self-evaluation report of the Company
submitted by the Board.

Deposit and use of the proceeds

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee
conducted effective supervision on the use and management of
proceeds raised by the Company and is of the view that the
deposit and actual use of the proceeds raised by the Company in
2021 were in compliance with the relevant requirements under
the CSRC's “Guidelines for the Supervision of Listed Companies
No. 2 — Regulatory Requirement on the Management and Use of
Raised Proceeds by Listed Companies” and the Company’'s
management measures on the use of raised proceeds. The use of
raised proceeds is in compliance with laws and regulations and
there is no essential change in the use of proceeds raised funds or
prejudice to the interests of shareholders. There is no non-
compliance in the use of proceeds and no non-compliance with
laws and regulations which may harm the interests of the
shareholders, particularly the interests of the minority
shareholders, of the Company.
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Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company
Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company During the
reporting period, the Company’s acquisitions and disposals of
assets were conducted in such a way where the approval
procedures were lawful, at reasonable considerations, and under
effective decision-making, benefiting the integration of resources
of the Company and aligning with the Company’s development
strategies. No insider dealing or other actions which would
damage the interests of the shareholders or cause any asset loss
occurred or emerged.

Material connected transactions

During the reporting period, the connected transactions of the
Company were conducted under the principle of fairness and the
procedures of the transactions were in compliance with laws and
regulations. The Supervisory Committee was not aware of any
action which would damage the interests of the Company and the
shareholders.

The establishment and implementation of the
registration system for insiders of inside
information

During the reporting period, the Company strictly implemented
the Registration System for Insiders of Inside Information and
truthfully and completely recorded the names of all insiders in the
reporting, transmission, compilation, review and disclosure of
inside information before public disclosure. We also report the
relevant information to the securities regulatory authorities in a
timely manner in accordance with regulations. We are not aware
of any leakage of inside information, acts of insider trading by
making use of inside information or counseling another people to
conduct insider trading by making use of inside information. We
are not aware of any trading in the Company’s shares which is in
violation of the regulations by the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management members.
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IIT. 2022 WORK PLAN OF THE SUPERVISORY

COMMITTEE

In 2022, in strict compliance with the laws and regulations such as the
Company Law and the Securities Law and the requirements under the
Articles of Association, the Supervisory Committee will faithfully and
diligently perform its responsibilities to supervise the Company’s
standardized operations. At the same time, the Supervisory Board will
continue to strengthen its self-construction and acquaint itself with the
relevant policies, regulations and professional knowledge. It will work
with the Board and all shareholders to promote the Company’s
standardized operations and ensure the effective implementation of the
Company’s internal control measures, while preventing and reducing
risks faced by the Company to safeguard the legitimate rights and
interests of the Company, its employees and all shareholders.

Lu Wenwu
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Weifang, Shandong Province
30 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has always regarded the consistent maintenance of an excellent,
solid and reasonable corporate governance structure as its top priority.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has reviewed its
corporate governance documents and is of the view that the Company has
fully complied with the code provisions effective during the Year of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance Code”) set out in
the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other than Code A.2.1, which requires
that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be two separate
roles and should not be performed by the same individual, and that certain
directors of the Company did not attend all of the Company’s annual general
meeting and extraordinary general meeting in 2021 as required under code
provisions A.6.7 and E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code due to other
important work-related affairs. Currently, Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan") serves
as the Chairman as well as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Despite such deviation, the directors believe that the combination of the roles
of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer can promote the efficient
formulation and implementation of the Company'’s strategies which will enable
the Group to grasp business opportunities efficiently and promptly. The
Company considers that through the supervision of its board and its
independent non-executive directors, there is adequate balance of power and
authority in place.

The directors believe that the Articles of Association, the scope of
responsibilities of the Audit Committee, the scope of responsibilities of the
Supervisory Committee and the codes on securities dealings by directors and
certain executives, which constitute the basis for the regular codes on
corporate governance of the Company, have covered the principles and the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code. In respect of the following
areas, our internal corporate governance documents are more stringent than
the Corporate Governance Code:

1. In addition to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, the Company has also established the Strategic
Development and Investment Committee (the “SDIC").

2. All members of the Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive
Directors, of whom Ms. Jiang Yan, the Chairman of the committee,
holds the relevant professional qualification or professional knowledge
related to accounting or financial management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things, formulating
the Company’s overall strategies and corporate governance policies, setting
management targets, regulating internal controls and financial management,
and supervising the management’s performance, while the day-to-day
operations and management are delegated by the Board to the executives of
the Company.

The Board currently comprises 15 directors, whose details are set out on pages
34 to 44 of this annual report. The Board currently includes six executive
directors, four non-executive directors and five independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEO), Mr. Zhang Quan,
Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Sun Shaojun, Mr. Yuan Hongming and Mr. Yan Jianbo as
executive directors; Mr. Zhang Liangfu, Mr. Jiang Kui, Mr. Gordon Riske and
Mr. Michael Martin Macht as non-executive directors; and Mr. Li Hongwu, Mr.
Wen Daocai, Ms. Jiang Yan, Mr. Yu Zhuoping and Ms. Zhao Huifang as
independent non-executive directors.

The Company has formulated and implemented a “Diversity Policy regarding
Members of the Board of Directors” to support the attainment of strategic
goals and the needs for sustainable development. The composition of the
Board of Directors will be based on a range of diversity elements, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, race,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. Final decisions
will be made based upon the merits of the individuals and his or her
contributions to be made to the Board. The Nomination Committee of the
Board will review in due course to ensure the effectiveness of the board
diversity policy and to monitor the implementation of this policy. The Board
considers that the current composition of Board members provides the
Company with a balanced and diverse set of skills and experience that are
suitable for the Company’s business needs.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers each of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

The Board has notified each of the directors and supervisors in advance that
they should not trade in the securities of the Company within the period as
stipulated under the Listing Rules. All directors and supervisors confirmed that
they were in compliance with the Listing Rules in this respect.

Other than their working relationships with the Company, none of the
directors, supervisors or the senior management has any financial, business or
family relationship or any relationship in other material aspects with each
other.

Other than the service contracts entered into by them or as otherwise disclosed
in this annual report, none of the directors or the supervisors has any personal
and substantive interest, direct or indirect, in the material contracts entered
into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during 2021.
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Each of the executive directors, non-executive directors, independent non-
executive directors and supervisors of the Company has entered into a service
contract with the Company and their relevant terms of office shall be from 28
June 2021 to the conclusion of the 2023 annual general meeting of the
Company, save that the term of office of Mr. Li Hongwu, an independent non-
executive director, shall be from 28 June 2021 to 7 June 2023.

The Company attached great importance to the continuous professional
development of the directors and company secretary and paid close attention
to and actively organised relevant trainings for them. Mr. Tan Xuguang, Mr.
Zhang Quan, Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Sun Shaojun, Mr. Yuan Hongming and Mr.
Yan Jianbo, all being executive directors of the Company; Mr. Zhang Liangfu,
Mr. Jiang Kui, Mr. Gordon Riske and Mr. Michael Martin Macht, all being non-
executive directors of the Company; Mr. Li Hongwu, Mr. Wen Daocai, Ms.
Jiang Yan, Mr. Yu Zhuoping and Ms. Zhao Huifang all being independent non-
executive directors of the Company actively participated in various special
trainings in respect to corporate governance and directors’ responsibilities in
full compliance with Code A.6.5 of Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules and regulatory requirements of
the PRC. The company secretary of the Company completed relevant trainings
as required under Rule 3.29 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

In 2021, the Board reviewed and revised, where necessary, the corporate
governance policies and practice of the Company, reviewed and supervised the
training and continuing professional development attended by the directors
and senior management, reviewed and supervised the Company’s policies and
practice in its compliance with laws and regulations, reviewed and supervised
the code of conduct of employees and directors, and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

In 2021, the Company held sixteen Board meetings. The principal activities of
the Board in 2021 were as follows:

o Review of the annual and interim results of the Company;
. Review of the auditors’ report, internal control audit report, final
financial report, financial budget report and corporate social

responsibilities report of the Company;

o Review of the annual profit distribution, interim dividend and the 2020
final dividend distribution proposal;

o Consideration and approval of connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions;

o Consideration and approval of the Company’s banking facilities;
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o Consideration and approval of the amendments to the Articles of
Association, Rules of Procedure for General Meetings of Weichai Power
Co., Ltd., Rules of Procedure for Board Meetings of Weichai Power Co.,
Ltd., Terms of Reference of the Strategic Development and Investment
Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd., Terms of Reference of the Audit
Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd., Terms of Reference of the
Remuneration Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. and Terms of
Reference of the Nomination Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.;

o Consideration and approval of the engagement in the structured
deposits business by its subsidiaries and its controlling subsidiaries;

o Consideration and approval of the election of executive directors,
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors;

o Consideration and approval of the election of specialised committees of
the Company;

o Consideration and approval of the appointment of senior management
members of the Company;

o Consideration and approval of the spin-off and listing of Weichai Torch
Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, on the Chinext
Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange;

The total remuneration of the directors in 2021, including the basic salary,
performance-linked salary, incentive salary and discretionary bonus, amounted
to approximately RMB10.02 million. Independent non-executive directors were
only entitled to receive director’s fees but not other salary or remuneration. For
details of the remuneration of directors, please refer to Note X.5(5) to the
financial statements of the Company.

AuDpIiT COMMITTEE
An Audit Committee has been established by the Board.

The Audit Committee is principally responsible for supervising the Company’s
internal audit system and its implementation, reviewing the Company’s
financial controls, risk management and internal control policies and systems
as well as material connected transactions and proposing the engagement or
removal of external auditors. It is also responsible for the communications
between the internal auditors and the external auditors as well as review of
financial information of the Company and the disclosure thereof.
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The Audit Committee comprises all the independent non-executive directors of
the Company, currently including Ms. Jiang Yan, Mr. Li Hongwu, Mr. Wen
Daocai, Mr. Yu Zhuoping and Ms. Zhao Huifang. As Ms. Jiang Yan has the
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in financial matters, she
acts as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are aligned with the recommendations set out in “A Guide
for Effective Audit Committees” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

During the reporting period, the Company held five meetings of the Audit
Committee.

1. On 25 March 2021, the sixth meeting of the Audit Committee of the
fifth session of the Board was convened by way of telephone
conference. The meeting considered and approved the resolutions
regarding the financial report and auditors’ report for 2020, internal
control self-evaluation report for 2020, internal audit report for 2020,
the internal audit work plan for 2021, the re-appointment of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP as the auditors of the
Company for year 2021, the reappointment of Hexin Accountants LLP as
the internal control auditors of the Company for the year 2021, the
engagement in the structured deposits business and trading of the
relevant financial derivative products by the Company’s controlling
subsidiaries, and resolved to submit the same resolutions to the Board
for consideration and approval.

2. On 26 April 2021, the first provisional meeting of the Audit Committee
for the year 2021 was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting
considered and approved the resolution regarding the review of the
2021 first quarterly report of the Company, and resolved to submit the
same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

3. On 6 August 2021, the second provisional meeting of the Audit
Committee for the year 2021 was convened by way of facsimile. The
meeting considered and approved the resolution regarding the
determination of the auditors’ fee for the year 2021, and resolved to
submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

4. On 26 August 2021, the first meeting of the Audit Committee of the
sixth session of the board was convened by way of telephone. The
meeting considered and approved resolutions regarding the Company’s
2021 interim financial report and review report issued by the accountant
of the Company and the special report on the deposit and use of the
proceeds for the half year of 2021, and resolved to submit the same
resolutions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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On 26 October 2021, the third provisional meeting of the Audit
Committee for the year 2021 was convened by way of facsimile. The
meeting considered and approved the resolution regarding the review of
the 2021 third quarterly report of the Company, and resolved to submit
the same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

Further, those independent directors sitting on the Audit Committee have

expressed their opinions on matters including the spin-off and listing of a

subsidiary on ChiNext, connected transactions, election of directors,

appointment of senior management and profit distribution that occurred
during the reporting period.

In addition, in the course of audit of the financial report 2021 of the

Company, the Audit Committee performed the following tasks on the principle

of diligence in strict compliance with relevant requirements of the China

Securities Regulatory Commission and Shenzhen Stock Exchange as well as the
Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee under the Board of Directors and
the Protocol of Work Procedures of the Audit Committee under the Board of
Directors:

)

104

It carefully reviewed the Company’s approval work plan for 2021 and
relevant materials, and fixed the time arrangement for the audit work
for the year 2021 after discussion with CPA firm in charge of audit for
the Company;

Before the CPA firm commenced its audit work, the Audit Committee
had reviewed the first draft of the financial statements for the year 2021
of the Company and considered that the Company’s preparation of the
financial statements essentially reflected the financial conditions and
operating results of the Company, and agreed that the audit work for
2021 can be commenced based on such financial statements;

After the issue of preliminary audit opinion by the CPA firm, the Audit
Committee reviewed the financial report after the issue of the
preliminary audit opinion, and considered that the financial report for
the year 2021 of the Company gave a true, accurate and complete view
of the overall operating conditions and financial position of the
Company in 2021, and agreed that the annual report for the year 2021
and summary thereof can be prepared based on such financial report;

After the supply of the preliminary audit outcome for the year 2021 by
the CPA firm, the Audit Committee convened a meeting on 25 March
2022, on which it concluded on the audit work for the year 2021, and
considered and approved resolutions regarding the financial report and
auditors’ report for the year 2021, internal control self-evaluation report
and audit report as well as re-appointment of the auditors of the
Company for the year 2022.
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Throughout the period under review, the Audit Committee discharged its
responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial results and the
effectiveness of financial control, internal audit, internal control and risk
management system of the Group.

In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The auditors of the Company have audited the financial statements and have
issued an unqualified auditors’ report.

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

The Strategic Development and Investment Committee (“SDIC”) has been
established by the Board.

The SDIC is principally responsible for examining and reviewing the Company’s
strategic plans, monitoring the implementation of strategic planning, and
facilitating timely adjustments to the Company’s strategies and governance
structure.

The SDIC currently comprises Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman of the Board and of
the SDIC), Mr. Michael Martin Macht (Vice Chairman of the SDIC), Mr. Zhang
Liangfu, Mr. Zhang Quan, Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Sun Shaojun, Mr. Yuan
Hongming, Mr. Yan Jianbo and Mr. Yu Zhuoping.

During the reporting period, the Company held four meetings of the SDIC.

On 10 July 2021, the first meeting in 2021 of the SDIC of the Board was
convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered and approved the
resolution regarding the acquisition of partial equity of Weichai Lovol Heavy
Industry Co., Ltd. and connected transactions, and resolved to submit the same
resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.
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On 25 August 2021, the second meeting in 2021 of the SDIC was convened
by way of facsimile. The meeting considered and approved the resolution
regarding the transfer of equity in Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co., Ltd. and
connected transactions by the Company and its holding subsidiaries, and
resolved to submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration and
approval.

On 24 September 2021, the third meeting in 2021 of the SDIC was convened
by way of facsimile. The meeting considered and approved the resolution
regarding the increase in share capital by the Company in Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Co., Ltd., a controlling subsidiary of the Company and connected
transaction, and the capital increase in Weichai Power (Hong Kong)
International Development Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and resolved to submit the same resolution to the Board for
consideration and approval.

On 26 October 2021, the fourth meeting in 2021 of the SDIC was convened
by way of facsimile. The meeting considered and approved the resolution
regarding the acquisition of equity interest in Shandong Weichai Import and
Export Co., Ltd. by the Company and connected transaction, and resolved to
submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) has been
established by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the recommendation to the
Board of the remuneration packages and terms of employment of directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Company and for the
determination of the relevant remuneration policy and incentive schemes for
directors, supervisors and senior management. For details of the remuneration
policy of the Company, please refer to page 83 of this annual report.
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During the reporting period, the Company held two meetings of the
Remuneration Committee.

On 18 March 2021, the first meeting in 2021 of the Remuneration Committee
of the Board was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered and
approved the resolution regarding the implementation of incentive scheme in
2020 vis-a-vis senior management and core members of the Company, and
resolved to submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration and
approval.

On 28 June 2021, the first meeting in 2021 of the Remuneration Committee
of the sixth session of the Broad was convened by way of facsimile. The
meeting considered and approved the resolution regarding the allowance
policy of the directors and supervisors of the sixth session of the Board and the
Supervisory Committee of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one executive director and
two independent non-executive directors, being Ms. Zhao Huifang (chairman
of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tan Xuguang and Ms. Jiang Yan.

During the review period, in the course of performing its duties, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy of
the Company, assessed the performance of executive directors and senior
management members, and approved the service contracts of the relevant
directors, supervisors and senior management members.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) has been established
by the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for selecting the candidates,
selection criteria and procedures for the directors and senior management of
the Company, providing advice to the Board of Directors, and reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board (including in terms of skills,
knowledge and experience) from time to time in accordance with the
nomination principles and criteria set out in the Company’s board diversity
policy and director nomination policy and the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises one executive director and
two independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Li Hongwu (chairman of
the Nomination Committee), Mr. Xu Xinyu and Ms. Zhao Huifang.

During the reporting period, the Company held four meetings of the
Nomination Committee.

1. On 26 April 2021, the first meeting in 2021 of the Nomination
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolution regarding the nomination of candidates for
the directors of the sixth session of the Board and nomination of Mr.
Jiang Ningtao as a vice president of the Company, and resolved to
submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

2. On 3 June 2021, the second meeting in 2021 of the Nomination
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolutions regarding the nomination of Ms. Ling Yun
as a vice president and Ms. Qu Hongkun as the chief financial officer of
the Company, and resolved to submit the same resolutions to the Board
for consideration and approval.
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3. On 12 August 2021, the third meeting in 2021 of the Nomination
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolution regarding the nomination of the secretary
to the Board, and resolved to submit the same resolution to the Board
for consideration and approval.

4. On 22 December 2021, the fourth meeting in 2021 of the Nomination
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolutions regarding the nomination of Mr. Chen
Wenmiao as an executive president, Mr. Cheng Guangxu as an executive
president, Mr. Wang Decheng as a vice president, Mr. Guo Shenggang
as a vice president and Mr. Liu Xingyin as a vice president of the
Company, and resolved to submit the same resolutions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee consists of three members, with one Supervisor
being elected from the staff as a representative of employees and the other
two elected by the shareholders of the Company. The Supervisory Committee
is responsible for supervision of the Board and its members and the senior
management of the Company, so as to prevent them from abusing their
authorities and infringing the interests of the Company, its shareholders and
staff. The size and composition of the Supervisory Committee are in
compliance with the requirements of the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC. The Supervisory Committee held nine meetings during the Year to carry
out its supervision on behalf of the shareholders in respect of the Company’s
financial matters and the lawfulness and compliance in respect of the
discharge of duties by the directors and senior management of the Company.
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Attendances at meetings of the Shareholders, Board, Supervisory Committee
and special committees (attendance in person/number of meetings) during the

Year are as follows:

PREBGHRS (1&)

FA BRRARG EFF EFSLFNEER
FEEOEFEER(HERE SR RB)MNM
™~

General Supervisory Audit Remuneration ~Nomination
Meeting Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee

Name i BRERAE Ezg EZe ENZEE FMZEEE® REZEE

Executive Directors HTES

Tan Xuguang E) 15/16 212

Zhang Quan KR 3/4 16/16

Xu Xinyu GBEE 2/4 16/16 44

Sun Shaojun BLE 204 16/16

Yuan Hongming BN 1/4 15/16(

Yan Jianbo BRER 14160

Non-executive Directors FUTES

Zhang Liangfu RRE 15/161

Jiang Kui 1% 1/4 16/16

Gordon Riske Gordon Riske 1/4 15/161

Michael Martin Macht Michael Martin Macht 1/4 15/161

Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors

Li Hongwu FHR 44 16/16 5/5 4/4

Wen Daocal BiES 16/16 5/5

Jiang Yan BE 414 16/16 5/5 2

Yu Zhuoping HEE 414 16/16 5/5

Zhao Huifang HER 4/4 16/16 5/5 212 4/4

Supervisors EE

Lu Wenwu BYR 4/4 9/9

Wu Hongwei RkE 1/4 8/9

Ma Changhai 588 3/4 99

According to the requirements under Code I(d) of the Corporate Governance

Code, the attendance of alternate directors shall not be included in the

attendance of the relevant directors.

Notes:

BI(EEBERTADEIDGERE BRES
MEENSHATHREENHERR -

fif &t -

(1) In addition, the director also appointed another director as his representative to attend
and vote at one meeting of the board on his behalf.

) This supervisor appointed another supervisor as his proxy to attend and vote at one
meeting of the Supervisory Committee on his behalf.
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GENERAL MEETING AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The shareholders’ general meeting is the highest authority of the Company,
providing an opportunity for direct communications and building a sound
relationship between the Board and the shareholders of the Company.
Therefore, the Company places great attention to such meetings. In 2021, the
Company convened four general meetings. Matters reviewed and approved at
the said meetings include the following:

(1) FIRST EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING IN
2021 HELD oN 29 JANUARY 2021

1. To consider and approve the resolution on proposed general mandate to
issue Shares granted to the Board at the general meeting

2. To consider and approve the resolution on the Company’s compliance
with the conditions of non-public issuance of A Shares

3. To consider and approve the resolution on the plan for the non-public
issuance of A Shares

3.01 Class and par value of the shares to be issued
3.02 Method and time of issuance
3.03 Target subscribers and subscription method

3.04 Pricing benchmark date, issue price and pricing principles

3.05 Number of A Shares to be issued
3.06 Lock-up period
3.07 Place of listing

3.08 Arrangement of accumulated undistributed profits prior to the
non-public issuance of A Shares

3.09 Validity of the resolutions in respect of the non-public issuance of
A Shares

3.10 Use of the Proceeds

PHREBHRS (&)

RRAXEMIREEME
BRAGDNARABEENRE REFS
BADNFREEE BB RELR TR
Al ARASEERZSEH - -F
S ARAABHNRBERAG ¥ L
BHRBBNEERERE:

(—)2021F 18298820215 %
—RBERERAS

1. BERHUAEABREZEREASETE
EEBTRH —REBEOSER

2. FHENMMEMR QBT ELFHETA
BB R AR R R

3. EFZNMUWEBNQFFEQRMEITARK

EHRMHER

301 RRETRENEENEE
3.02 E 1775 30 M BT

3.03 BEAHRERERA

304 TEEEH -BTEELETER
all

3.05 BITEHE
3.06 [R & P
3.07 Lk

3.08 NRIFAFEITHMNRTFRDE
M %= BE
3.09 RRFARBITRENE R

310 558 A%

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 FR 111



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

10.

112

To consider and approve the resolution on the plan for the non-public
issuance of A Shares

To consider and approve the resolution on the feasibility analysis report
on the use of proceeds from the non-public issuance of A Shares

To consider and approve the resolution on the absence of need to
prepare a report on the use of previously raised proceeds

To consider and approve the resolution on the remedial measures for the
dilution of immediate returns upon the non-public issuance of A Shares
and undertakings by the relevant persons

To consider and approve the resolution on the Company’s plan on
shareholders’ return for the upcoming three years (2021-2023)

To consider and approve the resolution on the authorisation to the
Board and its authorised person(s) to handle the relevant matters under
the non-public Issuance of A Shares

To consider and approve the resolution on the Management Measures
on the Use of the Proceeds of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

SECOND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING IN
2021 HeLDp oN 21 May 2021

To consider and approve the resolution on the spin-off and listing of
Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, on
the ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations

To consider and approve resolution on the proposal in relation to the
spin-off and listing of Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary
of the Company, on the ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange

To consider and approve the resolution on the plan for the spin-off and
listing of Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd., on the ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange

To consider and approve the resolution on the spin-off and Listing of
Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, on
the ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in compliance with
the “Certain Provisions on Pilot Domestic Listing of Spin-off Subsidiaries
of Listed Companies”
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

To consider and approve the resolution on the spin-off and listing of
Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, on
the ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange which benefits to
safeguard the legal rights and interests of the shareholders and creditors
of the Company

To consider and approve the resolution on the ability of the Company to
maintain its independence and sustainable operation ability

To consider and approve the resolution on the capacity of Weichai Torch
Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, to operate in
accordance with the corresponding regulations

To consider and approve the resolution on the explanation regarding the
completeness and compliance of the statutory procedures performed for
the spin-off and the validity of the legal documents to be submitted in
relation thereto

To consider and approve the resolution on the analysis in relation to the
objectives, commercial reasonableness, necessity and feasibility of the
spin-off

To consider and approve the resolution on the authorisation to the
Board and its authorised person(s) granted by the shareholders to handle
the relevant matters regarding the spin-off

To consider and approve the amendments to the Company’s scope of
business and to the Articles of Association

To consider and approve the connected transactions of the Company
and its subsidiaries with Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve resolution in respect of the purchase of
vehicles, vehicle parts and components and related products, engines,
engine parts and components and related products, and relevant services
by the Company and its subsidiaries from China National Heavy Duty
Truck Group Company Limited and its subsidiaries

To consider and approve the resolution in respect of the sale of vehicles,
vehicle parts and components and related products, engines, engine
parts and components and related products, and relevant services by the
Company and its subsidiaries to China National Heavy Duty Truck Group
Company Limited and its subsidiaries
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(3) 2020 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING HELD oON 28

10.

11.

12.

114

JUNE 2021
To consider and approve the full text and summary of the Annual Report
of the Company for year 2020

To consider and approve the Report of the Board of Directors of the
Company for year 2020

To consider and approve the Report of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company for year 2020

To consider and approve the financial report of the Company and the
Auditors’ Report for year 2020

To consider and approve the Bf¥RE iR
Company for year 2020

(final financial report) of the

To consider and approve the Bif§TEE K&
the Company for year 2021

(financial budget report) of

To consider and approve the resolution in relation to the re-appointment
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certifi ed Public Accountants LLP as the
auditors of the Company for year 2021 and to authorise the Directors to
determine their remuneration

EEIE= R3S
EiBA ) (Hexin Accountants LLP) as the internal control auditors of the
Company for year 2021

To consider and approve the re-appointment of Fl{Z&

To consider and approve the resolution on the acquisition of Weichai
Power (Weifang) Intensive Logistics Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary,
by way of absorption

To consider and approve the resolution on the acquisition of Weichai
Power (Weifang) Reconstruction Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary, by
way of absorption

To consider and approve the adjusted proposal for the distribution of
profit to the shareholders of the Company for they ear ended 31
December 2020

To consider and approve the granting of a mandate to the Board of
Directors for the payment of interim dividend (if any) to the shareholders
of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

13.(a) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Tan
Xuguang as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the Company

13.(b) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Zhang
Liangfu as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the Company

13.(c) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Jiang Kui
as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the Company

13.(d) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Zhang
Quan as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the Company

13.(e) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Xu Xinyu
as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the Company

13.(f) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Sun
Shaojun as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the Company

13.(g) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Yuan
Hongming as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the
Company

13.(h) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Yan
Jianbo as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the Company

13.()) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Gordon
Riske as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the Company

13.(j) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Michael
Martin Macht as a director of the sixth session of the Board of the
Company

PHREBHRS (&)

B@QBZRMAEFEREEFELEERA
AEANEESTEFTNER

BERREEERA
=0 S

13.(0)F & &3t E R
T%/\Ei%a

BOFZRMEARERIEXERADT
%/\E%$E§$E’Ja§§%

PBOEZMMEFRNBERRIELEAAQR
%/\Eé%ai%%ﬁ%%

BEOFEMMEBREREHIEILERR
ﬂ%xdﬁﬁ%é%%ﬂ’]ﬁ%%
BHEZAMEARBRELELEAAD

ﬂ%/\ﬁi%aé%%ﬁ%m

BOEFZLRMEARERRZALTERD
T%/\Fﬁ%’é\%%g‘]

B Al
%)4}

BhEZLAMEARERREHNLIERD
T%/\Fi%aé%%;ﬁ%

£ Gordon Riske 4t 4

ZZ
BEENRER

13.0) Bk ML EBRIE
BARENEBES

13.0) wF s R £ E@ % Z2Michael Martin
Macht %t 4 & R 7] EEeEEW
BR

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 F# 115



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

14.(a) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Li Hongwu
as an independent non-executive director of the sixth session of the
Board of the Company

14.(b) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Wen
Daocai as an independent non-executive director of the sixth session of
the Board of the Company

14.(c) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Ms. Jiang Yan
as an independent non-executive director of the sixth session of the
Board of the Company

14.(d)To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Yu
Zhuoping as an independent non-executive director of the sixth session
of the Board of the Company

14.(e) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Ms. Zhao
Huifang as an independent non-executive director of the sixth session of
the Board of the Company

15.(a) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Lu Wenwu
as a non-employee representative supervisor for the sixth session of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company

15.(b) To consider and approve the resolution on the election of Mr. Wu
Hongwei as a non-employee representative supervisor for the sixth
session of the Supervisory Committee of the Company
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(4) THIRD EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING IN

2021 HELD ON 26 OCTOBER 2021

To consider and approve the resolution on the connected transactions in
respect of sale of parts and components of transmissions and related
products by Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. to Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
Transmission Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on the connected transactions in
respect of purchase of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. from Shaanxi Fast Gear
Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on amendments to the Articles
of Association of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on amendments to the Rules of
Procedure for General Meetings of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on amendments to the Rules of
Procedure for Board Meetings of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on amendments to the Rules of
Procedure of the Supervisory Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on amendments to the Terms of
Reference of the Strategic Development and Investment Committee of
Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on the Terms of Reference of the
Audit Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on the Terms of Reference of the
Remuneration Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on the Terms of Reference of the
Nomination Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution on the amendments to the
Decision Making Rules in respect of Connected Transactions of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

12.  To consider and approve the resolution on the amendments to the
Decision Making Rules in respect of Investments and Operations of
Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

13.  To consider and approve the resolution on the increase in share capital
of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., a controlling subsidiary of the
Company and connected transaction

SHAREHOLDERS® RIGHTS

Shareholders of the Company holding more than 10% of the shares of the
Company either individually or collectively requesting the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting or a class meeting shall proceed in accordance
with the procedures set forth in Article 103 of the Articles of Association.

Pursuant to Article 74 of the Articles of Association, shareholders of the
Company who hold, individually or collectively, more than 3% of the
Company’s shares shall have the right to propose a motion to the Company
for consideration at the general meeting of the Company. Shareholders who
hold, individually or collectively, more than 3% of the Company’s shares may
propose a provisional motion in writing to the Board of Directors 10 business
days prior to the general meeting. Within two days upon the receipt of the
proposed motion, the Board of Directors shall issue a supplementary notice of
the general meeting to announce the content of the provisional motion.

Shareholders of the Company are welcome to send their enquiries to the
Board via our Capital Operation Department, details of which are set out in the
section headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE
CANDIDATES FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Pursuant to the requirement of the Articles of Association, any shareholder
who, by itself or jointly, holding shares representing more than 3% of the
voting rights of the Company shall have the right to nominate candidates for
directorship. The number of shares directly or indirectly held by each
shareholder cannot be further subdivided in order to propose a motion by
himself or jointly with other persons.

The period for service of notices in writing by shareholders to the Company of
the intention to propose a candidate for election as a director in accordance
with the Articles of Association and of such candidate’s consent to be elected
shall be at least 7 days, which shall commence from the day following the
dispatch of the notice convening the general meeting for the election of
directors and shall end on the date which is no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting.

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

According to the Company’s business plan, the Company intends to increase
its logistics transportation, warehousing, packaging and other businesses. In
accordance with the relevant requirements under the “Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and the “Guideline No. 1 for the Self-regulatory
Rules for Companies Listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange — Standardized
Operation of Companies Listed on the Main Board “, due to changes in
business scope, on 21 May 2021, the Company has revised some provisions in
the “Articles of Association of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.”, including the
provisions on the Company’s business scope, as approved by the second
extraordinary general meeting of the Company in 2021.

In accordance with the relevant laws and administrative regulations such as the
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Securities Law of the
People’s Republic of China and other, in light of the Company’s actual
situation and business development needs, on 26 October 2021,the Company
has revised some provisions of the Articles of Association of Weichai Power
Co., Ltd., including amendments to guarantee matters, procedures for
convening general meetings, requirements for the term of office of
independent directors and the duties and powers of the Company’s
Supervisory Committee as approved by the third extraordinary general meeting
of the Company in 2021.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

INTERNAL CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate system of
internal control to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests.

Internal control, including a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use, maintain proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication. The purpose
of such system is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Company has an internal audit function. The management maintains and
monitors the system of controls on an ongoing basis. The Audit Committee,
which was delegated by the Board, reviews the Group’s risk management and
internal control policies and system at least once a year.

During the Year, based on the evaluations made by the management, the
Audit Committee and the Board reviewed and was satisfied that nothing had
come to its attention to cause the Audit Committee and the Board to believe
that the system of risk management and internal control covering financial,
operational, compliance and all other material controls of the Group was
inadequate, and there is an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee and the Board
considered that the risk management and internal control system of the Group
is effective and adequate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MoDeL CoDE

During the Year, the Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard
set out in the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code for
the Year.

DIRECTORS ' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors aim to present the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors ensure that financial statements of the Group are
issued in a timely manner so that the final and interim results of the Group are
announced within the periods of three months and two months, respectively,
after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and audited by the external
auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP. The
directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group'’s performance and prospects. They are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast doubt
upon the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. The
statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company has engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP as the auditors of the Company. For the year ended 31
December 2021, an amount of RMB8.8 million was paid/payable to Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP for their audit service.
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AUDITORS  REPORT

Deloitte

I.

II.

III.

122

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (22) No. P02302
To the shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

OPINION

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Power"), which comprise the consolidated
and the Company’s balance sheets as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated and the Company’s income statements, the consolidated
and Company’s cash flow statement and the consolidated and the
Company'’s statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the abovementioned financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and the Company’s
financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated and
the Company’s financial performance and the consolidated and the
Company’s operating results and cash flows for the year 2021 in
accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (“ASBEs").

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on
Auditing (“CSAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of Weichai Power
in accordance with China Code of Ethics for Certified Public Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We
determine that the following matters as key audit matters are required to
be communicated in the audit report.
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(-) FEREASHTRENELE
= (B RE AR RE R

(). Assessment for impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets (trademark rights) with an
indefinite useful life
1.  Description 1 ZEIEEIE

As stated in Notes V.22 and 20 to the financial statements,
as at 31 December 2021, included in the consolidated
financial statements were goodwill of gross carrying
amount of RMB20,774,753,991.83, which were calculated
by consolidating KION GROUP AG (“KION") and Dematic
Group, and intangible assets (trademark rights) with
an indefinite useful life of gross carrying amount of
RMB6,784,070,521.70, which were owned by KION
in intangible assets, which is qualitative significant to
consolidated financial statements. As stated in Notes Ill.20
and 21 to the financial statements, goodwill and intangible
assets (trademark rights) with an indefinite useful life shall
be tested for impairment every year, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that the asset may be impaired.
The test for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
(trademark rights) with an indefinite useful life involves
significant accounting estimates and judgments of the
management. We therefore identified impairment of
goodwill and intangible assets (trademark rights) with an
indefinite useful life as a key audit matter.

MR R TR - 22 %20
Fi/R © 720214128318 -
eV BREBEFREH
KION GROUP AG ( LA T f§ 78
[ KION | ) K Dematic Group %X
NEERAEEATAARKE
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Audit Response
Our main audit procedures for this key audit matter include:

(1) Testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of the key internal controls relevant to
the audit of assessment for impairment of goodwill
and intangible assets (trademark rights) with an
indefinite useful life;

(2)  Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology
adopted by management in determining the
recoverable amounts of asset groups or groups of
asset groups of the goodwill and intangible assets
(trademark rights) with an indefinite useful life.
This evaluation is based on the availability of the
recoverable amounts of asset groups or groups of
asset groups of goodwill and trademark rights with an
indefinite useful life;

(3) Reviewing and evaluating the appropriateness of
the key assumptions and judgments adopted by
management in the process of performing impairment
tests using the model of the present value of expected
future cash flows based on the Company’s relevant
historical records and our understanding of the
Company’s business and the industry in which the
Company operates; reviewing the basis of expected
cash flows and its reasonableness by combining actual
operation of asset groups or groups of asset groups
and market analysis;

(4)  Checking the basis of determining fair values of
recoverable amounts of groups of asset groups and
expected disposal fees, performing recalculation
and verifying the accuracy of the results from the
assessment for impairment of goodwill;

(5)  Reviewing the appropriateness of model of discounted
future cash flows used by the management and the
reasonableness of the discounted rate used by making
use of the work performed by our internal valuation
experts;
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(6)  Checking the disclosures on information related to the B R R P E R R E
assessment for impairment of goodwill and intangible ST ETNEFLEE(BZEFE
assets (trademark rights) with an indefinite useful life B BEREERE EnHE -
in the financial statements.
(). Accounting treatment for business of leasing of (D) Y HEESERNETERE
forklift trucks
1.  Description 1 ZEEEI

As stated in Notes II1.16, 29 and 35 to the financial
statements, leasing of forklift trucks is a principal business
segment of KION, a subsidiary of Weichai Power, which
includes 3 categories of business: direct leasing, indirect
leasing and sale and leaseback subleases. Weichai Power
is required to recognize classification, measurement
and disclosures on various leasing business contracts in
accordance with the requirements of ASBEs. Various types
of leasing business involves different accounting treatments
and requires the use of significant accounting judgments
with higher degree of complication. We therefore identified
accounting treatment for business of leasing of forklift trucks
as a key audit matter.

Audit Response
Our main audit procedures for this key audit matter include:

(1)  Testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of the key internal controls relevant to
the audit of accounting treatment for business of
leasing of forklift trucks, including the engagement
of information technology specialists for testing the
internal control of the system of forklift trucks leasing
business;

(2)  Reviewing various leasing business contracts, checking
and evaluating relevant financial accounting handbook,
automatic accounting treatment categorization, and
the rules and findings of classification for leasing
contracts to evaluate whether it is consistent with the
requirements of ASBEs;
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(3)  Checking the supportive evidence of inputs from the (3) MERENEHEEBR
system of forklift trucks leasing business on a sampling FHa A SRR IE
basis to evaluate the accuracy and the completeness % U B ABUE M E
of inputs; el - SEREE
(4)  Performing confirmation procedures to third parties to 4) BITRE=ZFHRER

Fro fHEXEBEEERFR
RSN RRTTEME o

evaluate the completeness of contracts recorded in the
system of forklift trucks leasing business.
(111). Recognition of revenue from supply chain solutions (=) fHrEfER R ZRIS B ATER
services
1.  Description 1 ZHIEH

As stated in Note V.51 to the financial statements, revenue
from supply chain solutions services for the year of 2021
of Weichai Power amounted to RMB28,870,948,566.65,
which was material to the overall financial statements. As
stated in Notes 1l.26 and 35 to the financial statements,
for the revenue recognition of supply chain solution
services contracts, the performance costs actually incurred
on a cumulative basis as a percentage of estimated
total costs is used by Weichai Power to ascertain the
progress of performance. The management is required
to make reasonable estimates for expected total cost and
corresponding progress of performance obligations in
relation to supply chain solutions services contracts, and
to perform continuous assessment and revisions in the
process of performance of the contracts. These assessments
and revisions involve significant accounting estimates and
judgments of the management. We therefore identified
recognition of revenue from supply chain solutions services as
a key audit matter.
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Audit Response
Our main audit procedures for this key audit matter include:

(1) Testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of the key internal controls relevant to
revenue from supply chain solutions services;

(2)  Obtaining supply chain solutions services contracts on
a sampling basis based on their risk characteristics,
and evaluating whether these business types fulfilled
the requirements of revenue recognition based on
progress of performance obligations within a certain
period in accordance with agreed actual situation
of the contracts; reviewing the appropriateness of
progress of performance obligations on a sampling
basis in accordance with cost budget information,
report of cost actually incurred and calculation tables
of progress of performance obligations;

(3) Selecting projects to interview those who were
responsible for relevant businesses on a sampling
basis, to understand the performance obligations
and progress of projects, the adjustments between
the initial estimation and budgeted cost and reasons
of adjustment, and whether there existed any other
events which is out of expectation and checking
further supportive evidence when necessary;

(4) Selecting projects as to its reasonableness and
accuracy of budgeted cost to perform retrospective
reviewing procedure;

(5) Selecting projects to check the progress of
performance obligations of projects on site when
necessary.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The Management of Weichai Power is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the 2021 annual report of Weichai Power, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Management of Weichai Power is responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with ASBEs,
and for designing, implementing and maintaining such internal control
as the Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management is responsible
for assessing Weichai Power’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting, unless the Management either
intends to liquidate Weichai Power or to cease operations or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing Weichai
Power’s financial reporting process.
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b

VI. AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE M Es e IS mRBANE

~
~
/

AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with CSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with CSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

(1) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(2)  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control.

(3)  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Management.
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(4)  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management's use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Weichai
Power’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause Weichai Power to cease to continue as a
going concern.

(5) Evaluate the overall presentation, including the disclosures,
structure and content of the financial statements, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

(6)  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within Weichai
Power to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, WERIRE B MBMEETR - RIIFETEIL
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of EIHHAMMBREBTAZAEE - AME
the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key AR ERTEE - B EFt RSP RlE
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless LLERTE - BRIEARERE T ARIREELS
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 5 SRERDEIBE T - MRASBTEESE
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should ARSI BE EHEERNAMERBIBE
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences NRFEFTEEEN TR - BIPVEETEE
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the benefits of EEFRAEFEIRZSEIE o
public interest for such communication.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP EEHEXSHABEM(EREEESE)

Shanghai, PRC FE - BE

Chinese Certified Public Accountant: R EtAD

Wang Lixin (engagement partner) TUHEEEBA)

Chinese Certified Public Accountant: A B ETAD

Sui Chuanxu FEEE

30 March 2022 202293 F30H
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

31 December 2021

RMB
ARBT
Note 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Item EH i3 20215 12A431H 20209 12A31H
(Restated)
(BEi)
Current assets REEE

Cash and cash equivalents EREe VA1 75,043,361,416.53 62,429,259,908.55
Financial assets held for trading RIMEMEE VA2 6,387,192,900.95 5,852,397,849.29
Notes receivable JEWE 1% VA3 9,602,183,466.78 19,295,757,243.60
Accounts receivable FEUER X VE4 18,190,789,560.77 15,285,272,764.88
Receivable financing W R IE AL & VAS 6,959,742,245.35 9,480,867,833.47
Prepayments BAFIA VH6 1,569,596,698.04 1,163,691,041.64
Other receivables H A FE R VA7 1,071,229,244.59 1,459,753,778.19
Inventories 7E VES 31,585,184,575.31 31,301,456,901.62
Contract assets BREE VH9 3,766,036,780.20 1,385,150,902.30
Assets held for sale REGEEE 2,014,296.30 24,237,289.50
Non-current assets due within one year —FREEBOERBEE V10 3,357,896,909.40 3,179,721,675.00
Other current assets HiREN & E VA 3,103,160,413.18 1,928,299,969.92
Total current assets REEESE 160,638,388,507.40 152,785,867,157.96

Non-current assets FRBEE
Long-term receivables REELR VE12 9,521,961,254.20 9,622,504,650.00
Long-term equity investments REARERE VA3 6,713,071,046.92 4,944,359,514.39
Investment in other equity instruments HipigEsm TARE VA 14 3,690,906,502.96 2,421,112,072.96
Other non-current financial assets HipdEReemEE VE15 262,923,856.20 243,013,050.00
Investment property REERME VA16 646,846,522.22 682,163,758.85
Fixed assets EE&E VAR17 33,190,117,856.79 31,724,647,365.84
Construction in progress ERIR VH18 6,032,124,361.34 5,046,193,396.84
Right-of-use assets FREEE VA9 5,757,986,438.76 7,714,233,013.45
Intangible assets BVEE V20 20,908,195,224.42 23,825,708,656.91
Development expenditure %L V21 212,459,914.33 287,116,831.24
Goodwill B V22 22,847,040,337.79 24,665,842,392.79
Long-term prepaid expenses ROGHER VAa23 294,121,454.13 252,157,738.41
Deferred tax assets EREFMSHEE V24 5,507,265,696.27 6,279,852,583.99
Other non-current assets HtpIEREEE VE25 821,015,934.23 566,913,969.77
Total non-current assets EREEESE 116,406,036,400.56 118,275,818,995.44
Total assets BEBE 277,044,424,907.96  271,061,686,153.40
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31 December 2021

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

SHEERBXR(E)

20214 12A31H

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Item BH 2021F12831H 20204124318
(Restated)
(BEi)
Current liabilities REARE
Short-term loans RHIER VA26 2,222,220,246.16 5,731,086,536.96
Financial liabilities held for trading RIMeHmBE VH27 111,876,471.20 57,504,235.74
Notes payable S V28 27,797,219,810.42 23,112,029,799.00
Accounts payable FE TR 5K V29 39,596,466,106.26 45,177,316,710.60
Contract liabilities EREE VA30 14,143,607,489.73 15,602,718,825.73
Payroll payable FE B T2 B V31 5,965,115,532.22 5,547,179,631.22
Taxes payable BT & VH32 1,587,336,387.25 2,190,210,373.32
Other payables HABERR V33 7,361,700,273.33 8,459,843,635.56
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FRIBEOERBEE VA34 10,760,241,864.08 11,274,647,277.08
Other current liabilities HimeaE VI35 5,836,509,910.22 6,605,718,930.97
Total current liabilities TEBESR 115,382,294,090.87 123,758,255,956.18
Non-current liabilities FrRBams
Long-term borrowings REER V36 12,906,667,271.93 12,026,638,367.24
Bonds payable [ER &S VA37 5,932,319,194.50 8,702,767,425.04
Lease liabilities HEAR V38 5,029,692,442.33 7,235,898,107.78
Long-term payables RHIERR V39 7,144,750,346.72 7,004,697,931.12
Long-term payroll payable REAPE(T 3 TR V40 11,312,236,596.44 14,200,680,302.61
Accruals and provisions i AE VHA41 445,059,417.36 509,080,971.37
Deferred income B = V42 4,272,320,314.95 4,996,880,280.64
Deferred tax liabilities EEEHEE VH24 4,541,700,032.87 5,049,832,969.04
Other non-current liabilities Hi3EReaE V43 7,115,720,413.05 6,877,782,237.66
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBAER 58,700,466,030.15 66,604,258,592.50
Total liabilities BELE 174,082,760,121.02  190,362,514,548.68
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
31 December 2021

Item 1HR

SHEEREBR(E)

20214 12A31H

31 December 2021
20215128318

31 December 2020
2020512 A31H
(Restated)
(B&Ei)

Shareholders’ equity M R
Share capital [ VH44 8,726,556,821.00 7,933,873,895.00
Capital reserve BERRTE VAa45 12,254,564,796.74 369,851,318.63
Other comprehensive income Hikra e V46 (1,128,121,143.02) (2,250,826,767.79)
Special reserve HIAKE VH47 271,641,061.54 223,430,167.81
Surplus reserve BHNTE V148 2,397,198,590.54 1,630,243,076.46
Retained earnings ROBERE VH49 48,384,964,194.07 43,561,591,779.54
Total equity attributable to the FENEARRRERART
shareholders of the parent 70,906,804,320.87 51,468,163,469.65
Minority interests DY R ER VH50 32,054,860,466.07 29,231,008,135.07
Total shareholders’ equity RS AF 102,961,664,786.94 80,699,171,604.72
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMRRER AT 277,044,424,907.96  271,061,686,153.40

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 132 to 445 have been signed by:

Legal Representative Principal in charge of accounting

EERKA FESTIIEAEA
Tan Xuguang Qu Hongkun

EEK #h 4t i
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F1RNEEFMSERNTIEMEATIAEARESE

Qu Hongkun
ith

Head of accounting department
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

B HFmiEx

2021F12A31HIFFE

RMB
AR
Incurred during Incurred in
the year previous year
Item RERER FERERE
(Restated)
(B&Eil)
I. Revenue —EERA VH51 203,547,703,297.37 197,288,388,945.87
Less: Cost of sales L E R VES51 163,946,764,918.08  158,978,858,817.89
Taxes and surcharges B RN VAHS2 796,735,088.84 832,000,211.88
Distribution and selling expenses HEER VAS53 10,902,601,764.68 10,961,099,749.97
General and administrative expenses EEEM VA54 8,056,000,035.29 7,731,078,789.83
Research & development expenses HEEA VA55 6,887,576,040.82 6,013,083,402.83
Finance expenses B17% % VF56 (450,407,733.67) 295,943,850.76
Incl: Interest expenses i FEER VH56 1,077,691,524.65 1,139,022,760.28
Interest income FILEYA VH56 1,724,138,078.06 1,279,986,400.99
Add: Other income - Bl V57 415,123,919.40 327,707,784.88
Investment income wEME VES5S8 442,083,057.70 1,294,912,961.65
Incl: investment income from associates HE : H e 2n
and joint ventures BETEL
RE Wz 187,111,511.95 253,063,274.50
Profit (loss) on change of fair value AR BEED
W (E%) V59 395,921,311.86 (409,598,297.43)
Impairment loss of credit ERREREREX V60 (207,358,155.65) (570,814,116.01)
Impairment loss of assets BERERX VI61 (687,876,553.39) (663,235,953.02)
Gain on disposal of assets BERS W 122,664,674.63 31,753,643.63
Il.  Operating profit VR 13,888,991,437.88 12,487,050,146.41
Add: Non-operating income s EEIMEA VH62 311,114,991.32 363,037,455.45
Less: Non-operating expenses W B EINTH V63 145,314,982.64 141,947,972.50
il Total profit WilbeFeake] 14,054,791,446.56 12,708,139,629.36
Less: Income tax expenses o TS E R V64 2,492,901,942.50 1,412,157,030.50
IV. Net profit EHE 11,561,889,504.06 11,295,982,598.86
()  Breakdown by continuity of operations (D) EEEHEEDE
1. Net profit from continuing operations 1 BB E R 11,561,889,504.06 11,295,982,598.86
(I Breakdown by attributable interests (D)EmEERBY S
1. Net profit attributable to shareholders of 1. BENEABIRE
the parent HF I 9,254,488,225.85 9,228,271,985.67
2. Minority interests 2. DR RER 2,307,401,278.21 2,067,710,613.19
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Item

SHRFEER(E)
2021F12A31HIFFE

Incurred during Incurred in
the year previous year
FEBRED FEEER
(Restated)

(=E19)

V. Net other comprehensive income after tax

Net other comprehensive income attributable

to shareholders of the parent after tax

B ihAR A W e B & 55
SENRERROEM
fRA WL F

(I)  Those other comprehensive income not to

be reclassified into profit or loss

1. Changes arising from re-measuring of

defined benefit plan

2. Other comprehensive income not to be
reclassified into profit or loss using the

equity method

3. Change in fair value of investment in

other equity instruments

() TREEDRERRM

Hithra e
LB ERER S
REEEE
2 A TR
mIE MRS Wk

EAb S TARE
DA fEES

1,195,519,919.89 (1,995,162,932.35)
VH46 1,122,705,624.77 (972,796,131.21)
625,093,753.70 (435,444,292.90)

694,902.41 11,854,432.02

492,233,671.71 116,444,579.15

() Those other comprehensive income
to be reclassified into profit or loss
1. Other comprehensive income to be
reclassified into profit or loss using

(D)BENBERRN

Hithra e
LRESE T ERS
M E AR A e

the equity method 2,632,875.60 2,243,452.59
2. Cashflow hedging reserve LIRS REEHREE 7,587,369.05 43,953,036.86
3. Exchange differences on foreign 3 NEMTSRENE
currency translation Z58 (5,536,947.70) (711,847,338.93)
Net other comprehensive income HRR OB E
attributable to minority R & W B BifE
interests after tax R 72,814,295.12 (1,022,366,801.14)
VI. Total comprehensive income S AW EE 12,757,409,423.95 9,300,819,666.51
Total comprehensive income attributable to SENERATRENGS
the shareholders of the parent lhgayit 10,377,193,850.62 8,255,475,854.46
Total comprehensive income attributable to BENDERRERS I
minority interests AR 2,380,215,573.33 1,045,343,812.05
VII. Earnings per share - FRUEE V65
() Basic earnings per share VEAG R 1.107T 1.167C
() Diluted earnings per share VR E R 1.107T 1.167T

There was an acquisition through combination under common control in
2021. Net profit realised by the acquiree before the combination amounted to
RMB8,440,214.48. In 2020, net profit realised by the acquiree amounted to
RMB21,142,811.90.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OffiRSRIEZEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2021 12H31HIFFE

RMB
AR
Incurred during the year
RERER
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
SRNEATRRER
Other
Share Capital  comprehensive Spedial Surplus Retained Minority
Note capital reserve income reserve reserve eamings Subtotal interests Total equity
Item LE i B% EA0R  AftRekE R BB RORAE Mt JBRREE  BREEGH
I, Atend of previous year - LEFREE 793387389500 180,552,538.58 (2.250,826,767.79)  23430,167.81  1,630,243,076.46 43,485,047,330.89 51202,320,240.95 29,231,008,135.07 80,433328,376.02
Business combinations involving enterprises Rl ThEAH

under common control - 189,298,780.05 - - - 76,544,448.65 265,843, 228.70 - 26584322870
Il At beginning of year (restated) o REENRE(RED 193387389500 36985131863 (2.250826,767.79)  223430167.81  1,630,243,076.46 4356159177954  51,468,163,469.65 29,231,008,135.07 80,699,171,604.72

[Il- Movements in current year =K

) Total comprehensive income - - 1122,705,624.77 - - 925448822585 1037719385062  2,380,21557333  12,757,409,423.95
(1) Injection and reduction
1. Capitalinjection from shareholders VR4 792,682,926.00  12,195,374,354.47 - - - - 12,088,057,28047  1,059,661,328.04  14,047,718,608.51
2. Consideraton paid for business 2. AT REANEAHE
combinations involving enterprises
under common control Va4 - (313,75402185) - - - - (313,754021.85) - (313,754021.85)
3. Acquiston of subsidiaries 3 TR VAT - - - - - - - 2861078 28361307148
4. Amount of share-based payment 4 ROZMARERROEE
taken to owners' equity XT= - 1989,697.70 - - - - 1,989,697.70 2,409,368.63 4,399,066.33
5. Acquistion of minoriy interests n 5. BETLRYRE
subsidiaries - - - - - - - 3,723,706.65 3,723,706.65
6. Repurchase and transfer of shares 6. FAAREREZLRA
by subsidiaries X - (55,202.87) - - - - (55,202.87) (66,846.36) (122,009.3)
7. Disposal of subsiciaries 7. RETLE - - - - - - - 25014783054 250,147,830.54
8, Otfer 8 Aff - 115865066 - - - - LISBES066  (MA4,16640643)  (443007,755.77)
(I Proft appropriation (Z) HEAE
1. Appropriation to surplus resenve 1. ROBHLE V48 - - - - 76695551408 (766,955,514.08) - - -
2. Distrbution to shareholders 1. HRRIAE Vi - - - - - (3647,700751.18) (3,647,700,751.18)  (558,306,031.08)  (4,206,006,782.26)
3. Distrbution to holders of other 3 BFLARGERTE
equity instruments of subsidiaries BEENOR - - - - - - - (188,028,83642)  (188,028,836.42)
4, Others 4 Efp VE49 - - - - - (16,459,546.06)  (16,459,546.06) 171751818 (14,742,027.88)
(V) Special resenve (m) 226G
1. Appropriation during the year | AERE Vi4T - - - 12081643168 - - 12081643168 73555,225.60  194,371,657.28
2. Used during the year ) KEER VR4 - - - (72605531.95) - - (7260553195 (40623,171.96)  (113,228,709.11)
V. Atend of year N REERHE 8726,556,821.00 12,254,564796.74  (1,128,121,143.00)  271,641,06154  2,397,198590.54 48,384,964,194.07  70906,804,320.87 32,054,860,466.07 102,961,664,786.94
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuITY (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

SHERREDRENEK(E)
2021F12A31HIEFE

RMB
AR#TT
Incurred in previous year
EREE
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
SERERARRES
Other
Share Capital comprehensive Spedial Surplus Retained Minority
Note capital resene income Tesenve resere eamings Subtotal Interests Total equity
liem B it & BA0E Ehada SERE BHDE KORAE it VYRREE  RREaAH
I, Atend of previous year - LEERHE 793387389500 11889672665 (127803063658 19309947145 97372822076 3728237338543 45223 941,062.71 24,550,784367.77  69,774,725,43048
Business combinations involving enterprises ey
under common control - 189,298,780.05 - - - 74385898 26368436993 - 263,684,36993
Il At beginning of year (restated) = RERNBE(RED 793387389500 30819550670 (1,278,030636.58) 19309947145 97372822076 373%6,758975.31 45487,625432.64  24550,784,367.77  70,038,409,80041
II. Movements n current year - FEEREYLE
() Total comprehensive income [SF ] - - (972,796,131.21) - - 922827198567 829547585446 1,045343812.05  9,300,819,666.51
(1) Injecton and reduction (2) BRBEARE DB
1. Capitlinjection from shreholders 1. BERAER - BI610 - - - - 9761407 379413285388 382385899595
2. Acquisition of subsidiaries 2. WETLR - - - - - - - 6411790368 641,179,036.82
3. Amount of share-based payment 3 RARMARRERNSE
taken to owners' equity Xt= - 31,978389.84 - - - - 31,978389.84 31,722,050.16 63,700,440.00
4, Acquiston of minoriy nterests in 4 BETLASBRRIE
subsidiaries - (3.573,970.99) - - - (7885243864 (8242640963) (2637852725 (108,804,936.88)
5. Repurchase and transfe of shares 5. FRAEERERLRG
by subsidiaries - 11671231 - - - - 11671231 141329499 2,580418.10
6. Others 6. Ett - 2,38,127.90 - - - - 2,3%8,127.90 1357,165.83 37150373
(1) Profit appropriaton () Hi#R
1. Appropriation to surplus resenve 1. RORRAE - - - - G5651485570  (656,514,855.70) - - -
2. Distbution to sharefolders 2. HERIAR it - - - - - (2,269,08793397) (2.269,087.93397)  (625,526,668.77)  (2,894,614,602.74)
3. Distrbution to holders of other 3 HFLARGERTE
equity instruments of subsidiaries BEENAR - - - - - - - (19851434430 (198514,344.34)
4, Others 4 Efy it - - - - - (18983953.13)  (18,983.953.13) - (1898395313
V) Special resenve (m) SR
1. Appropriation during the year 1. FERR - - - 102,744,621.55 - - 102,744,621.55 5424774623 156,992,367.78
2. Used during the year 1. TERR - - - (1241392519 - - (RAB3ISN9 (3B7TS2652300  (111,16657749)
IV, Atend of year B REERBE TOBBTIAN00 36985131863 (215082676779 22343016781 163024307646 4356159177954 51468,163469.65  29,231,008,135.07  80,699,171,604.72
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SHREREX

2021F12A31HIFFE

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

RMB
AEHT
Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item HA BT REREHE EFEEE
(Restated)
(BEit)
I. CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES — + KEEHELNBRLAE
Cash received from sales of goods or HEMM - RESHKE
rendering of services ek 192,945,154,192.92 169,220,013,844.75
Refunds of taxes WML B iRiE 1,021,615,555.04 706,279,809.41
Other cash received relating to operating W B B At BT & EED B S
activities RIR % VHo67 2,878,866,167.51 2,275,956,728.41
Subtotal of cash inflows from operating ST ENTE 4 A/ NET
activities 196,845,635,915.47 172,202,250,382.57
Cash paid for goods and services BEAR  BEXBHBXN
N 133,999,351,703.42 105,267,599,666.39
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees FRGEBIUARARTIS
HHRE 27,883,718,977.76 27,158,331,317.55
Cash paid for all types of taxes YRR IBHE 7,590,822,275.71 7,561,195,217.10
Other cash paid relating to operating activities S E A R E A 7
Eopren V67 12,714,183,708.89 9,223,541,340.01
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating RSB 4 /Nt
activities 182,188,076,665.78 149,210,667,541.05
Net cash flows from operating activities KEFDELENRERE
HHR VH68 14,657,559,249.69 22,991,582,841.52
Il CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES =« REZBHELNRESHE
Cash received from sale of investments W EHEEWE RS 32,184,332,491.45 24,887,809,161.83
Cash received from return on investments REHRBEREREINER S 481,969,423.83 403,672,335.76
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, REETEE  BEVEE
intangible assets and other long-term assets MEMEBHEERLED
BE 38 328,086,594.65 54,773,576.35
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries BRET AR MEMEZERS
and other business units AU B IR & F 5 2,470,527.25 680,238,306.06
Net cash received from acquisition of BEFARIREMEERS
subsidiaries and other business units BB & F 5 VE68 - 323,278,199.90
Other cash received relating to investing B E A B B EE) B S
activities MRS 19,621,993.50 131,683,365.32
Subtotal of cash inflows from investing BERHRERANE
activities 33,016,481,030.68 26,481,454,945 .22
Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets, REETEE  BVEAE
intangible assets and other long-term assets MEMEBHEESND
Be 6,011,074,100.21 5,765,869,451.67
Cash paid for acquisition of investments BEL RS 31,822,928,843.81 28,513,874,706.38
Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries REFRAIREMERE
and other business units L% (#9328 V68 478,691,528.94 1,618,828,798.57

Other cash paid relating to investing activities

XNEBEREREEHE
RRE

112,365,543.57

Subtotal of cash outflows from investing
activities

RERPRDRM N

38,425,060,016.53

35,898,572,956.62

Net cash flows from investing activities

RERHELNRESNE
ik

(5.408,578,985.85)

(9,417,118,011.40)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SHIREREER(E)
20214 12H31HIFFZE

Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item HH PisE RERER FEEAERE
(Restated)
(B &)
. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES =« S£&EHELNHLRE
Cash received from capital contributions & W B3R & 14,049,661,314.44 3,709,156,606.07
Incl: Cash received by subsidiaries from capital Heb : FRARKLE
contributions of minority shareholders RESZEYE]
B H & 1,059,661,328.04 3,709,156,606.07
Cash received from borrowings REEFEInE: 9,048,326,199.62 37,235,845,790.32
Cash received from bond issue BIEFAENES - 4,403,404,086.00
Other cash received relating to financing WEH R EE T HRE
activities HIRe 92,508,175.38 218,833,863.07
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing EEFHRERANGT
activities 23,190,495,689.44 45,567,240,345.46
Cash repayments of borrowings EEEHBIANRS 13,161,861,006.39 43,093,891,320.13
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or DERRF - FE S ER
profits and for interest expenses BY0RE 5,037,290,624.32 3,750,905,206.50
Incl: Cash paid to minority shareholders for A FRAIZIHELE
distribution of dividends or profits by BREAIARF -
subsidiaries FiE 814,428,987.48 745,690,697.26
Other cash paid relating to financing activities TNEMEEEENEH
COpk V67 1,867,884,887.28 1,727,288,061.04
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing FEEHHRSMI G
activities 20,067,036,517.99 48,572,084,587.67
Net cash flows from financing activities EETHELNESRE
pecke] 3,123,459,171.45 (3,004,844,242.21)
IV. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE [ - [EXRSEHHIRSRRLE
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BYny e (111,444,368.09) (86,719,048.50)
V. NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH I ReERREEEY
EQUIVALENTS FE AR 12,260,995,067.20 10,482,901,539.41
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning m: FNRERREEE
of year byl 52,873,038,942.90 42,390,137,403.49
VI.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF 7 + £#B% B4
YEAR ZEVHE V68 65,134,034,010.10 52,873,038,942.90
140 WeicHAI PowER Co., LTD. HESkE8NNBRMNERAT



raoégEgfEx

20214 12A31H

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

31 December 2021

RMB
ARBT
Note 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Item EH BisE 2021128311 20209 12A31H
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents ERES 43,437,848,602.43 32,482,779,665.43
Financial assets held for trading RHUEREE 4,661,295,689.15 112,904,277.02
Notes receivable e XV 1 9,582,005,012.68 22,933,423,164.99
Accounts receivable FEUBR IR XIV+P02 3,766,518,463.10 741,273,166.54
Prepayments B 475,472,329.86 162,769,708.16
Other receivables HAh FEIGR XIV+1m3 429,045,768.41 575,869,058.22
Inventories TE 3,071,346,702.49 4,640,893,547.51
Other current assets Hi e & E 603,639,783.97 31,193,507.32
Total current assets REEREASE 66,027,172,352.09 61,681,106,095.19
Non-current assets ERBEE
Long-term equity investments RERERE XIV+-g4 24,798,581,046.52 13,846,095,781.88
Investment in other equity instruments Hipfgss TARE 1,120,930,973.82 289,420,200.00
Investment property WEEEE 1,098,443,965.84 1,313,231,046.42
Fixed assets EEEE 5,113,818,834.20 3,845,082,810.18
Construction in progress EEIRE 2,366,089,701.22 2,709,380,692.43
Intangible assets BYEE 817,159,231.16 765,289,848.81
Development expenditure %S H 180,111,938.23 -
Goodwill S 341,073,643.76 341,073,643.76
Deferred tax assets BEFEHRERE 1,296,424,867.61 1,433,691,827.97
Other non-current assets HindEme & E 25,690,980.00 3,319,760,362.50
Total non-current assets EREEESE 37,158,325,182.36 27,863,026,213.95
Total assets BEBE 103,185,497,534.45 89,544,132,309.14
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

31 December 2021

rnoEEBEXR(E)

20214 12A31H

Note 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
ltem BB Bk 20214124318 2020 12A318
Current liabilities mEAaRE

Financial assets held for trading Ro5MtEEE - 1,946,619.00
Notes payable ENZER 15,331,350,383.77 10,792,728,129.90
Accounts payable FERTIRER 12,586,779,069.59 16,618,894,133.35
Contract liabilities aRafE 3,810,398,339.36 7,534,474,203.01
Payroll payable R Bl T S5 875,028,219.51 849,289,374.57
Taxes payable EXFHE 171,225,613.35 305,435,720.64
Other payables HAh fETAR 2,432,210,612.25 2,401,621,771.41
Other current liabilities HitmeaE 1,467,973,241.26 1,886,059,206.68
Total current liabilities RBREEE 36,674,965,479.09  40,390,449,158.56
Non-current liabilities EVEN=N
Long-term payables REERR 2,474,949.03 3,812,880.19
Long term payroll payable REAERTI T 5 M 67,721,384.78 47,448,706.50
Deferred income R 1,290,579,807.54 1,159,091,139.04
Deferred tax liabilities ELEEHER 7,012,216.80 6,653,805.68
Total non-current liabilities EREBESE 1,367,788,358.15 1,217,006,531.41
Total liabilities BEE 38,042,753,837.24 41,607,455,689.97
Shareholders’ equity LER T
Share capital [ 8,726,556,821.00 7,933,873,895.00
Capital reserve BERNIE 12,830,652,737.03 695,679,231.81
Other comprehensive income Hikra e 166,208,016.50 43,129,170.00
Special reserve =S 151,908,227.74 117,118,730.74
Surplus reserve VYN 5,061,719,832.23 4,263,872,010.04
Retained earnings KOECF)E 38,205,698,062.71 34,883,003,581.58
Total shareholders’ equity R AT 65,142,743,697.21 47,936,676,619.17
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMRRERAR 103,185,497,534.45 89,544,132,309.14
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COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

NGEDEES

2021F12A31HIFFE

RMB
ARBT
Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item HH BisE RERER FFEEEE
. Revenue — BEUA XIV+15 49,121,021,139.15 53,492,984,987.14
Less: Cost of sales A EER XIV+15 36,467,131,104.02 40,883,749,295.26
Taxes and surcharges e &M 308,670,747.98 273,487,496.39
Distribution and selling expenses HEBHA 1,234,042,768.76 1,361,760,231.74
General and administrative expenses EEEH 1,292,880,995.05 1,076,465,182.57
Research & development expenses & 2,513,514,826.06 2,186,983,481.58
Finance expenses B E A (653,950,250.21) (358,669,613.61)
Incl- Interest expenses B : FIEEH 248,852.58 -
Interest income FIEYA 650,242,780.40 369,367,588.01
Add: Other income o B 178,458,357.91 172,467,422 .66
Investment income (loss) KREW=(ER) XIV+1H6 454,228,224.57 (1,130,077,406.49)
Incl: Investment income from associates Heb : HEEPEM
and joint ventures AN
REM = 16,462,542.01 112,997,281.78
Profit on change of fair value DR EEZBNE 50,338,031.13 64,160,277.02
Impairment (loss) gain of credit ZREEGEX)FIE (3,493,559.18) 1,404,072.48
Impairment loss of assets BERERKX (139,149,172.78) (1,961,966.02)
Gain on disposal of assets BERENRS 78,457,601.29 22,071,376.41
Il Operating profit - BERE 8,577,570,430.43 7,197,272,689.27
Add: Non-operating income o EEINRA 36,316,768.10 54,642,428.18
Less: Non-operating expenses W BEINTH 20,230,060.34 11,997,432.77
il Total profit = FEEE 8,593,657,138.19 7,239,917,684.68
Less: Income tax expenses W FEMER 924,101,997.34 674,769,127.68
IV. Net profit 7o SFERE 7,669,555,140.85 6,565,148,557.00
(I) Breakdown by continuity of operations (—)geEEEsa
1. Net profit from continuing operations 1. B EREETE 7,669,555,140.85 6,565,148,557.00
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax - B s REHNT A EE 123,078,846.50 163,112,200.10
() Those other comprehensive income not to ()T ENIEHEERN
be reclassified into profit or loss Hupsz AUz
1. Change in fair value of investment in 1 EMERTERE
other equity instruments NABEEH 123,078,846.50 163,112,200.10
VI. Total comprehensive income N EREWEEE 7,792,633,987.35 6,728,260,757.10
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2021

RMB
ARHT
Incurred during the year
AERER
Other
comprehensive Retained
Note Share capital Capital reserve income Special reserve Surplus reserve eamings Total equity
Item E it B LN Efirais LV N RARAE REREA:T
. Atend of previous year - IFFRBE 7933,873,895.00 695,679,231.81 43,129,170.00 M7,11873074 426387201004 34,883,00358158  47,936,676,619.17
1. Others 1. B gyt - - - - - (1370834197 (13,70834197)
I Atbeginning of year (restated) =+ 7933,873,895.00 695,679,231.81 43,129,170.00 M7,11873074 420387201004 3486929523961  47,922,968,277.20
Il Movements in current year B
() Total comprehensive income - - 123,078,346.50 - - 7,669,555,140.85 1,192,633 987.35
(I njection and reduction
1. Capital injecton from 1. BRBRAER
shareholders Vi 792,682,926.00  12,195,374,354.47 - - - - 12,988,057,280.47
2. Acquisiton of subsidiaries 2. RRAHFAR)
by way of absorption - (3,148,800.00) - 11,787,463.80 30,892,308.11 81,503,947.51 121,034,919.42
3. Business combinations 3 A-25TRE
involving enterprises Al
under common control VIR2 - (57,252,049.25) - - - - (57,252,049.25)
(1) Profit appropriation (=) HEnk
1. Appropriation to surplus 1. REESNE
reserve - - - - 766,955,514.08 (766,955,514.08) -
2. Distribution to 2 HERIAR
shareholders Vh49 - - - - - (3647,700,751.18)  (3,647,700,751.18)
(V) Special reserve (m) EARE
1. Appropriation during the 1. KERR
year - - - 36,683,303.9 - - 36,683,303.9
2. Used during the year ) TERR - - - (13,681,270.76) - - (13,681,270.76)
V. Atend of year B AEERHE 8,726,556,821.00  12,830,652,737.03 166,208,016.50 151,908,227.74 506171983223 3820569806271  65142,743,697.21
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuITY (CONTINUED) NoBRRESSEFHR(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 12A31HIEFE

RMB
AR%T
Incurred in previous year
LERER
Other
comprefensive Retained
Note Share capital Capital reserve income Spedial resenve Surplus reserve eamnings Total equity
Item %R it A BADE Etirala ZERE BEDE AR REERSH
I Atbeginning of year - TEETHE 7933,873,895.00 695,679,231.81 (119.983,030.10) 9489984580 360735715434 3124345781425 4345528491110
Il Movements n current year o KEERRUcE
() Total comprehensive income (-) GedsEeg - - 163,112,200.10 - - 656514855700 6,728260757.10
(1) Injection and reduction () BEEATED
1. Acquistion of subsidiaies 1. RhEHFLE
by way of absorption - - - - - - -
2. Cancellation of treasury 2 HEEEERR
shares repurchased - - - - - - -
(I Profit appropriation (2) HEsE
1. Appropriation to surplus 1. EREBLE
reserve - - - - 656,514,855.70 (656,514,855.70) -
2. Ditrbution to 2 HRRNAR
shareholders Vhd9 - - - - - (2269,08793397)  (2,269,087,93397)
(V) Special reserve (m) ERgE
1. Appropriation during the 1. RERR
year - - - 30,462,536.59 - - 30,462,536.59
2. Used during the year 2 TERE - - - (8,243,651.65) - - (8,243,651.65)
Il Atend of year = KEFREE 7933,873,895.00 695,679,231.81 4312917000 N71873074 426387201004 3488300358158 47,936,676,619.17
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

raREREXR

20214 12H31HIFFZE

RMB
ARBT
Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item 1HA BT RERER FEFRAERE
. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES — « & EHELNHLRE
Cash received from sales of goods or HERMm - REEK
rendering of services WHHR S 59,534,581,486.01 56,617,752,007.06
Refunds of taxes W ERE 37,880,719.40 14,413,663.22
Other cash received relating to operating U B E A AT O E B
activities BEMRE 1,159,876,820.76 1,058,860,376.28
Subtotal of cash inflows from operating RSB 4 A/ N
activities 60,732,339,026.17 57,691,026,046.56
Cash paid for goods and services BEMm  BXEK
XNMRES 41,796,137,141.73 39,709,237,375.27
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees IREBTIARART
RS 2,326,350,935.03 2,312,250,657.52
Cash paid for all types of taxes TR RIERE 3,087,384,445.06 2,711,941,015.03
Other cash paid relating to operating activities ST E ARG RS
BERANH 1,448,574,897.75 1,739,874,165.22
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating RASEBNIE SR /NET
activities 48,658,447,419.57 46,473,303,213.04
Net cash flows from operating activities R E LR
Reng#a XIV+E7 12,073,891,606.60 11,217,722,833.52
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CoMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

RBARMERER(1E)
2021F12A31HIFFE

Incurred during

Note the year
Item HH BisE RERELE
II.  CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES =+ BREZHELHNRLAE
Cash received from sale of investments W EHREUE RS 4,203,070,703.78
Cash received from return on investments BERERRBEIRNES 492,265,957.20
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, REETEE
intangible assets and other long-term assets B AEMN
Hit REAE
W R IE 4 EEE 123,176,850.51
Other cash received relating to investing W B H At BRL B EED
activities BEENR S 514,650,917.13

Incurred in
previous year

LEHREE

790,982,112.59
750,077,689.20

4,430,900.00

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing
activities

REZBRSIMAN G

5,333,164,428.62

1,545,490,701.79

Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets, BRETEE

intangible assets and other long-term assets B EEMEAM

EHEELMNIRE 1,938,757,341.76 2,203,694,169.70

Cash paid for acquisition of investments RESZNNES 16,746,329,385.41 1,521,116,756.00
Other cash paid relating to investing FEM IS EEE)

activities ERNES 542,102,983.61 835,203,588.38
Subtotal of cash outflows from investing REEBHRERE DT

activities 19,227,189,710.78 4,560,014,514.08

Net cash flows from investing activities

RERBELEN
ReneFs

(13,894,025,282.16)

(3,014,523,812.29)
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CoMmPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

RBAREREER(E)
20214 12H31HIFFZE

Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item HH BisE KERER EEFRERE
. CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES =+ £ZBEHELNHELRE
Cash received from capital contributions R & TR 3R & 12,989,999,986.40 -
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing EXEHES AN
activities 12,989,999,986.40 -
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or DA - FE%R
profits and for interest expenses ERFEX RS 3,683,620,898.66 2,252,358,713.49
Other cash paid relating to S EMEEEEE)
financing activities @RS 2,659,268.29 -
Subtotal of cash outflows from HETBRE ML/ E
financing activities 3,686,280,166.95 2,252,358,713.49
Net cash flows from financing BEEHEEN
activities ReneFs 9,303,719,819.45 (2,252,358,713.49)
IV. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE 11« [EXREEHHIEL N
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS He BN E 109,885.21 62,430.95
V. NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH I ReRRLEEY
EQUIVALENTS L NEE 7,483,696,029.10 5,950,902,738.69
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning m: FEEE R
of year ReEEMHRE 32,355,590,939.01 26,404,688,200.32
VI. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF 75 FREE MBS SEY
YEAR FRER 39,839,286,968.11 32,355,590,939.01
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

I.

CORPORATE BACKGROUND

Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock company
limited by shares incorporated in Weifang, Shandong on 23 December
2002.

The RMB ordinary A shares and overseas listed foreign H shares issued by
the Company were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, respectively. The registered address of
the Company’s headquarters is 197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street, High
Technology Industrial Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong Province.
The Company operates in the transportation equipment manufacturing
industry. The major scope of operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) covers: design, development, production, sale,
repair, import and export of engines and auxiliary products, automobile,
automobile axle and components, gear boxes and components and other
automobile components, hydraulic pumps, hydraulic motors, hydraulic
valves, gears and gear transmission devices, ancillary casting and casting
products of hydraulic components, internal combustion engines, new
energy powertrain systems and ancillary products; technical consultation
and technical services; leasing of self-owned houses; sale of steel;
business management service; forklift trucks production, warehousing
technology and supply chain solution services. For the aforesaid scope
of operation, operating permit(s) should be held for those operations
requiring administrative permission.

Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Shandong Heavy Industry Group
Co., Ltd., established in the PRC, are the parent company and ultimate
holding company of the Group respectively.

These company and consolidated financial statements of the Company
were approved by the board of directors of the Company on 30 March
2022.

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Please refer to Note VI for changes
this period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

LI

150

PREPARATION BASIS OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Preparation basis

The Group has adopted the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises and relevant provisions promulgated by the MOF. In addition,
the Group also disclosed relevant financial information in accordance
with Compilation Rules No. 15 for Information Disclosure by Companies
Offering Securities to the Public — General Requirements for Financial
Reporting (2014 Revision), the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Continuing operations

The Group carried out assessment on the going concern for the 12
months’ period commencing from 31 December 2021, and did not
recognize any matters and situation leading to material doubt on the
continuity of operation. Therefore, these financial statements have been
prepared based on the going-concern assumption.

Basis of book-keeping and principle of measurement

The Group adopts the accrual basis as the basis of book-keeping in
accounting. Other than certain financial instruments, these financial
statements have been prepared at historical costs. Disposal group held-
for-sale is carried at the lower of carrying amount or the net value of
fair value less selling expenses. If the assets are impaired, corresponding
provisions for impairment shall be made according to relevant provisions.

Under historical cost method, the amount of assets was measured at the
fair value of cash or cash equivalents or consideration paid at the time
of purchase. Liabilities were measured at the amount of money or assets
due to the current obligations actually received, or a present obligation
of the contract amount, or the measurement of cash or cash equivalents
in accordance with daily activities to repay the liabilities of the amount
expected to be paid.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

II.PREPARATION BASIS OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Basis of book-keeping and principle of measurement
(Continued)

The fair value refers to the amount, at which both willing parties
engaged to an orderly transaction who are familiar with the condition sell
their assets or transfer their liabilities. WWhether the fair value is observable
or measured by valuation techniques, the measurement and disclosure of
the fair value in these financial statements were all based on it.

For financial assets with transaction prices as the fair value upon initial
recognition and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technigue equals to the
transaction price.

Fair value measurements are categorized into three levels based on the
degree to which the inputs of the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

152

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Accounting policies and accounting estimates are formulated based on
the actual characteristics of production and operation. These are reflected
in the identification of leases, provision for credit losses in respect of
receivables, classification of fixed assets and depreciation estimation,
classification of intangible assets and long-term pre-paid expenses and
estimation of amortization.

Statement of compliance with Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises

The financial statements present, fairly and fully, the company and
consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2021 and the
company and consolidated results of operations, changes in equity
and the cash flows for year 2021 of the Company in accordance
with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises.

Accounting year
The accounting year of the Group is from 1 January to 31
December of each calendar year.

Business cycle

Business cycle refers to the period from the purchase of assets used
for processing to the realization of cash and cash equivalents. The
business cycle of the Group is twelve months.

Functional currency

Renminbi (RMB) was the currency used in the major economic
environment in which the Company and its domestic subsidiaries
operate the business. The Company and its domestic subsidiaries
used RMB as their functional currencies. The Company’s overseas
subsidiaries may determine their own functional currencies based
on the currency used in the major economic environment in
which they operate the business. In preparation of these financial
statements, the Company adopted RMB as the functional currency.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

5.

The accounting treatment of business combinations
involving enterprises under common control and
business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control

Business combinations include business combinations involving
enterprises under common control and business combinations
involving enterprises not under common control.

Business combinations involving enterprises under
common control

A business combination involving enterprises under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties
both before and after the combination, and that control is not
transitory.

Assets and liabilities that are obtained in a business combination
shall be measured at the carrying amounts on the financial
statements of the acquiree as at the combination date. The
difference between the carrying amount of the net assets obtained
by the acquirer and the carrying amount of the consideration
paid for the combination (or the aggregate face value of shares
issued as consideration) shall be adjusted to share premium under
capital reserve. If the capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the
difference, any excess shall be adjusted against retained earnings.

Costs that are directly attributable to the combination are charged
to profit or loss when incurred.

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill

A business combination involving enterprises not under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
enterprises are not ultimately controlled by the same party or
parties before and after the combination.

Combination cost refers to the fair value of assets paid, liabilities
incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the acquirer
for acquiring control of the acquiree. For business combinations of
enterprises not under common control achieved in stages through
multiple transactions, the combination cost shall be the sum of the
consideration paid on the date of acquisition and the fair value, as
at the date of acquisition, of the equity interests in the acquiree
held prior to the date of acquisition.

Bt 5 ¥R R it 5E (78)

20214 12H31HIEFE
= - EZ8FHBIRKE S5t hEH(1E)

B — 2% T AR — =B T3
AN ETTRER A

EEREHDBRA—EH TEEEHM
IR —IEHI T REEB -

] —1EH T EEE G

SEAHNEEESHATRIEZRE—
TR Z T &R - B%EH
WHEEREE - BRI 2R TR
BB o

ELEAHTRENEENRE %
BHAEERSHANEEEMRR
B -AH RN FEERAEER
XNHAHEENREEE(HETR
DHEERRENEE - AREARED
RBRASEE - BRAOR BT R Rl
BB W -

RETEEAHBENTHRERE
R RELER A BB

FE[E]—1EF T IR E IR EE
HAHNEEEAMHAMRIRR—

jsz AR Z 75 REIESIH - RIER

—HEHIT R DEA B -

AU AEEE T RBUSHEE K
ZHIEMNLNEE - BESRED
BEMBTHEDETAENRIAE
B -BRZRARZ DS EHIER 2
HTHEESHN  BHKAREE
AXMMEEERERZAEERHE
MIRBE TR EEBERANAAE
B2 °

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &% 153



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

154

5.

WEICHAI PowER Co.

The accounting treatment of business combinations
involving enterprises under common control and
business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control (Continued)

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill (Continued)
The fees paid to intermediaries including audit, legal services,
appraisal and so forth and other related administrative expenses
incurred by the acquirer for the business combination are charged
to profit or loss for the current period when incurred.

The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
acquiree qualifying for the conditions of recognition acquired
by the acquirer in the business combination are measured at fair
value on the date of acquisition. When the business combination
contract provides that, upon the occurrence of multiple future
contingencies, the acquirer shall require the return of consideration
paid for the business combination, such contingent consideration
as set out in the contract shall be recognised as an asset by the
Group as a part of the aggregate consideration transferred in the
business combination, and be included in the cost of combination
at the fair value at the date of acquisition. Within twelve months
after the acquisition, if the contingent consideration needs to be
adjusted as new or further evidences are obtained in respect of
circumstances existed as of the date of acquisition, the amount
previously included in the goodwill shall be adjusted. A change
in or adjustment to the contingent consideration under other
circumstances shall be measured in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 — Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Instruments and Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies. Any change or
adjustment is included in profit or loss for the current period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

5.

The accounting treatment of business combinations
involving enterprises under common control and
business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control (Continued)

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill (Continued)
Where the combination cost is larger than the portion of fair value
of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired in the business
combination, the difference is recognized as goodwill as an asset,
and initially measured at cost. For those with combination cost
lower than the portion of fair value of net identifiable assets of
acquiree acquired in the business combination, re-verification
is first carried out on the measurement of the fair value of all
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as well as the
combination cost. For those with combination cost lower than the
portion of fair value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired
in the business combination after re-verification, they are charged
to profit or loss for the current period.

If either the fair values of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired in a combination or the cost of
business combination can be determined only provisionally by the
end of the period in which the business combination was effected,
the acquirer recognizes and measures the combination using those
provisional values. Any adjustments to those provisional values
within 12 months after the acquisition date are treated as if they
had been recognized and measured on the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising from the business combination shall be recognized
separately in the consolidated financial statements and measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Control refers to the power of
an investor over an investee, and exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns.
Once the relevant facts and situation which alters the elements
that define control change, the Group shall perform re-evaluation.
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6.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

For a subsidiary acquired through a business combination involving
enterprises not under common control, the operating results and
cash flows from the date of acquisition (the date when the control
is obtained) are included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated cash flow statement, as appropriate.

No matter when the business combination occurs in the reporting
period, subsidiaries acquired through a business combination
involving enterprises under common control or the party being
absorbed under merger by absorption are included in the Group’s
scope of consolidation as if they had been included in the scope
of consolidation from the date when they first came under the
common control of the ultimate controlling party. Their operating
results and cash flows from the beginning of the earliest reporting
period or from the date when they first came under the common
control of the ultimate controlling party are included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow
statement, as appropriate.

The significant accounting policies and accounting periods
adopted by the subsidiaries are determined based on the uniform
accounting policies and accounting periods set out by the
Company.

The effect of all intra-group transactions between the Company
and its subsidiaries and among subsidiaries on the consolidated
financial statements is eliminated on consolidation.

The portion of subsidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the
Company is treated as minority interests and presented as “minority
interests” in the consolidated balance sheet within shareholders’
equity. The portion of net profits or losses of subsidiaries
attributable to minority interests is presented as “minority
interests” in the consolidated income statement below the “net
profit” line item.
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6.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Where the amount of losses of a subsidiary attributable to the
minority shareholders exceeds their share of the opening balance
of owner’s equity of the subsidiary, the excess shall be allocated
against minority interests.

Acquisition of minority interests or disposal of interest in a
subsidiary that does not result in the loss of control over the
subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction. The carrying
amounts of the interests attributable to the parent and minority
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. The difference between the amount by
which the minority interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is adjusted to capital reserve. If the
capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the excess is
adjusted against retained earnings.

Classification of joint arrangements and accounting
treatments for joint operations

Joint arrangements include joint operations and joint ventures. The
classification is determined by considering the structure, legal form
and contract terms of the arrangement according to the rights
and obligations of the joint parties in the joint arrangements. A
joint operation refers to the arrangement whereby the parties have
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties only have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The Group adopts equity method for computing the investments
in joint ventures. For details, see Note Ill. 14.3.2 Long-term equity
investment calculated by equity method.
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7.

WEICHAI PowER Co.

Classification of joint arrangements and accounting

treatments for joint operations (Continued)

The following items should be recognized by the Group in relation
to its sole and shared ownerships in the joint operation: solely held
assets, as well as jointly held assets according to its share; solely
assumed liabilities, as well as jointly assumed liabilities according to
its share; income derived from its entitled share of production of
the joint operation; income derived from the sales of production of
the joint operation according to its share; solely incurred expenses,
as well as expenses incurred by the joint operation according to its
share. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to the joint
operation are computed according to requirements applicable to
specific assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

If the Company invests or sells assets, etc. to the joint operation
(except when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to
other participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss
due to the transaction will be recognized only before the assets are
sold to a third party by the joint operation. Where asset impairment
losses are incurred in respect of assets invested or sold, the Group
recognizes the losses in full amount.

If the Group purchases assets, etc. from the joint operation (except
when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to other
participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss due to
the transaction will be recognized only before the assets are sold to
a third party. Where asset impairment losses are incurred in respect
of assets purchased, the Group recognizes the losses to the extent
of its share.

Recognition criteria for cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises the Group’s cash on hand and deposits that can
be readily withdrawn on demand. Cash equivalents are short-term
(usually mature within 3 months from the date of acquisition),
highly liquid investments held by the Group, that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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9.

Foreign currency operations and foreign currency
translation
9.1 Foreign currency operations

Foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial
recognition, in the functional currency, by applying to the
foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate prevailing
on the transaction dates. On the balance sheet date, foreign
currency monetary items are translated into Renminbi using
the spot exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising from the difference between
the spot exchange rate on that day and on the date of
initial recognition or the previous balance sheet date are
taken to profit or loss in the current period except for the
following: (1) The exchange difference in respect of special
borrowings denominated in foreign currencies that meet
the criteria for capitalization are capitalized during the
capitalization period as a cost under the relevant assets; (2)
The exchange difference in respect of hedging instruments
used for hedging for avoiding foreign exchange rate risks
is accounted for using hedge accounting; (3) For monetary
items classified as at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"), exchange difference arising from
the change in other gross carrying amounts other than
amortized costs is taken to other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary foreign currency items measured at historical
cost shall still be measured at the amount in the functional
currency translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing on
the transaction date. Non-monetary foreign currency items
measured at fair value are translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing at the date on which the fair values are
determined. The difference between the amount in the
functional currency after translation and the amount in the
original functional currency is accounted for as fair value
change (inclusive of exchange rate change) and is taken to
profit or loss for the current period or recognized as other
comprehensive income.
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9.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Foreign currency operations and foreign currency

translation (Continued)
9.2 Translation of foreign currency financial statements
To prepare the consolidated financial statement, the
financial statements denominated in foreign currency of
a foreign operation are translated to RMB in compliance
with the following requirements: all assets and liabilities
on the balance sheet are translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing at the balance sheet date; all equity items
are translated at the spot exchange rates at the dates on
which such items arose; income and expenses and profit
appropriation items in the income statement are translated
at the spot exchange rate at the date of transaction; all
exchange differences of assets, liabilities and shareholders’
equity resulting from the translation are recognized as other

comprehensive income and taken to shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency cash flows and the cash flows of foreign
subsidiaries are translated using the spot exchange rate
as of the date on which the cash flows occur. The effect
of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents is
presented separately as an adjustment item under “effect of
changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents” in

the cash flow statement.

The opening balances of the year and prior year’s figures
are presented according to the translated amounts of the

financial statements of the prior year.

When control over the Group’s foreign operation is lost
due to the disposal of ownership interests of foreign
operation or partial disposal of equity investment or
other reasons, exchange differences of foreign currency
statements attributable to the shareholders of the parent
company related to such foreign operation and presented
under shareholder’s equity item in the balance sheet are all

transferred to profit or loss for the current period.
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9.

10.

Foreign currency operations and foreign currency

translation (Continued)

9.2 Translation of foreign currency financial
statements (Continued)
In partial disposal of the equity investment or other reasons
that lead to the reduction of the proportion of interests
in foreign operation but there is no loss of control over
such foreign operations, the difference of foreign currency
translation related to the part of foreign operation disposal
will be attributed to minority interests and will not be taken
to profit or loss for the current period. In partial disposal of
equity interest in an overseas associate or joint venture, the
foreign currency translation difference related to the foreign
operation shall be taken to profit or loss for the current
period according to the proportion of the disposal of the
foreign operation.

Financial instruments

The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument.

Where financial assets are purchased or sold in a regular way, assets
to be received and liabilities to be borne for it are recognized on
the date of transaction, or sold assets are derecognized on the
date of transaction.

The financial assets and financial liabilities were initially recognized
at fair value. For the financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for the current
period, related transaction expenses are directly taken to the profit
or loss for the current period; for other types of financial assets
and financial liabilities, related transaction expenses are included
in the initial recognized amount. For accounts receivable excluding
significant financing components or regardless of financing
components of contracts less than one year initially recognised
based on Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No.14-
Revenue (“Standard on Revenue”), they are initially measured at
transaction price defined based on the Standard on Revenue.
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10.

WEICHAI PoweRr Co.,

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method is the method that is used in the
calculation of the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and in the allocation and recognition of the interest income
or interest expense over the accounting periods.

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash flows through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
to the amortized cost of a financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Group shall estimate the expected cash
flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial assets
or liabilities (for example, early repayment, extension, call and
similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses.

Amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the
amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus
the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method
of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets
After initial recognition, the Group shall measure different
types of financial assets at amortized cost, FVTOCI or FVTPL.

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows,
the Group shall classify the financial asset into a financial
asset measured at amortized cost. Such financial assets
mainly include: cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable,
accounts receivable and other receivables, etc.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND - BESFHBRRS5HLEH(ZE)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10. Financial instruments (Continued) 10. EMIE(E)

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial 10.1 @B EN 7 1EE G E (&)
assets (Continued)
If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on TREENSRGBRREERT
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of FHELNREREBERTAS
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding MUAKRE R A SR AERAF]
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose BHXA  BAEEEEZ SR
objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell such BEMEBEXIAMEIE RS
financial assets, the Group shall classify the financial asset ERERBBEXNHEZERE
into a financial asset FVTOCI. Notes receivable classified as at ERBEN  AIZemEESH
FVTOCI upon acquisition by the Company are presented as RUARAREBEAEEEZEA
receivable financing. Hipir&a mm S mEE - K%
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Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets classified LAnBEEEEEHTAR
as at FVTPL and those designated as at FVTPL which are HERNEREESRDERIN
presented in held-for-trading financial assets. Those due over AnBEFGEEEEEHTAEH
one year and expected to be held for over one year since BammemEENEER/NAAR
the balance sheet date are presented in other non-current BEEEEEBH AEHER
financial assets. WEREE  JITNZZME R

BE - BEERBRAEBRB—
FIHBRYRERE—FR
SIRREMIERB SREE -

e A financial asset which does not satisfy the criteria o THADBANEMRKA
for a financial asset classified as being measured at AERNSREE  UAR
amortized cost or a financial asset at FVTOCI shall be BEFEAHEZEHTAR
classified as a FVTPL. fohzr & W i) & Bl & 2 IR

AL BB
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e At initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably o EVRHERE - RHERK
designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL if BERLGEEE - A%
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces accounting 7] DA & mb & 2 AT
mismatch. S IR E AR R BER
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial

assets (Continued)
On initial recognition, the Group may, based on a individual
financial asset, irrevocably designate a non-trading equity
instrument investment which is non-contingent consideration
and recognized in business combination involving enterprises
not under common control as financial asset measured at
FVTOCI. Such financial assets are presented as investment in
other equity instruments.

The Group's purpose of holding the financial assets is for
trading if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

o The Group’s purpose of holding the relevant financial
assets is primarily for recent sale.

° The relevant financial assets are, on initial recognition,
a part of the centrally-managed identifiable financial
instrument portfolio, and objective evidence indicates
that short-term profit model exists in the near future.

° The relevant financial assets are derivative instruments.
However, derivatives that meet the definition of
financial guarantee contracts and those designated as
effective hedging instruments are excluded.

WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. M4 NBRMNBERLAD
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - EZ8FHBIRKE S5t hEH(1E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.1 Classification and measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

10.1.1 Financial assets at amortised cost

10. €T HR(E)
10.1 £2AEER 7 IHH 5 (1

1011 AR ARG E 2

The financial asset at amortized cost is subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. Gain or loss arising from derecognition,
impairment or amortization is recognized in profit or
loss.

The Group recognizes interest income on financial
assets measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. The Group calculates interest income
based on the gross carrying amount of financial
assets multiplied by the actual interest rate, unless the
financial assets become credit-impaired financial assets
in subsequent reporting period. For those financial
assets, the Group shall apply the credit-adjusted
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the
financial asset in subsequent reporting period. If the
financial assets no longer has credit impairment during
the follow-up period as a result of an improvement
in its credit risk, and this improvement may be linked
to an event that occurred after the application of
the above regulations, the Group calculates interest
income based on the gross carrying amount of
financial assets multiplied by the actual interest rate.
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10.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Financial instruments (Continued)

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
10.1.2 Financial assets classified as at FVTOC/

Impairment gains or losses on a financial asset
classified as at FVTOCI and the interest income
calculated using the effective interest method and
exchange gains and losses shall be recognized in
profit or loss. Except for them, changes in fair value
of such financial assets shall be recognized in other
comprehensive income. The amount of such financial
asset recognized in profit or loss of each period
is equal to the amount deemed as measured at
amortized cost all the time and recognized in profit
or loss of each period. When the financial asset is
derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in other comprehensive income is
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit
or loss.

After designating a non-trading equity instrument
investment as a financial asset at FVTOCI, the changes
in fair value of such financial assets are recognized
in other comprehensive income. When the financial
asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in other comprehensive income
are transferred from other comprehensive income
to retained earnings. During the period that the
Group holds these non-trading equity instrument
investments, the Group has established the right of
collecting dividends, whose economic benefit will
probably flow into the Group, and the amount of the
dividends can be reliably measured, then the Group
will recognize dividend income in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) BT IS IR R PIE(48)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2021412 H31HILFE
ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND — - E2SHBRNE G ()
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued) 10. EMIE(E)
10.1 Classification and measurement of financial 10.1 ZAEER 7 FEEE (1B)
assets (Continued)
10.1.3 Financial assets at FVTPL 013 A A BEFEAA
BE A E R B A
Financial assets at FVTPL shall be subsequently NARBEFSEEE
measured at fair value. Gains or losses from change ATAEHERNEREE
in fair value and dividends and interest income related AR BEETEES
to such financial assets shall be recognized in profit or B ARBEZITKY
loss. MISSIBR A K BHZ & Bl

B E R IR A AR B
AFTAE BEE -

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other 10.2 T AREMIE S EE
items
The Group shall recognise a loss allowance for expected REBEE MR AFT R TR
credit losses on financial assets at amortized cost, financial BE  nEAURAREEFZA
assets classified as FVTOCI, a lease receivable, contract assets HEH AEMGE RaN et
and financial guarantee contracts that are not designated as BE  HERKK  AREEMN
financial liabilities at FVTPL. RARnBEFEBEEEHTA

EMBEENSRA G T EE
RERATREMERBARERE
TTRIE S AT B 12 I MR IB K 2

1o
The Group makes a loss allowance against amount of R BB AERIREHRZ HHEK
expected credit losses during the whole life of the receivables HEWRIE - A REE M HE(R
and contract assets arising from transactions adopting ¥ ERE21 R —HE R
Standard on Revenue and the lease receivables arising from R SR ERUGK - K&
transactions adopting Accounting Standards for Business EizREE RN B EFERANNE
Enterprises No. 21 — Leases. HERBRSEEBREE -
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other

items (Continued)

For other financial instruments, at the balance sheet date,
the Group assesses changes in credit risk of relevant financial
instruments since initial recognition. If the credit risk of
the above financial instruments has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures loss allowance
based on the amount of expected credit losses during the
whole lifetime; if credit risk of the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group recognises loss allowance based on 12-month ECL
of the financial instrument. Increase in or reversal of credit
loss allowance is included in profit or loss as loss/gain on
impairment. Except financial assets classified as at FVTOCI,
allowance for credit losses decreases the carrying amount of
the financial assets. For financial assets at FVTOCI, the Group
recognises credit loss allowance in other comprehensive
income and does not decrease the carrying amount of such
financial assets in the balance sheet.

The Group measures loss allowance at the full lifetime ECL
of the financial instruments in the previous accounting
period. However, at the balance sheet date, for the above
financial instruments, if significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition no longer applies, the Group measures
loss allowance for the financial instrument at 12-month ECL
at the balance sheet date for the current period. Relevant
reversal of loss allowance is included in profit or loss for the
current period as gain on impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.

Financial instruments (Continued)

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
1021 Significant increases in credit risk

The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk
of the relevant financial instruments has increased
significantly since the initial recognition at each
balance sheet date. While determining whether the
credit risk has significantly increased since initial
recognition, the Group takes into account the
reasonable and substantiated information that is
accessible without exerting unnecessary cost or effort,
including qualitative and quantitative analysis based
on the historical data of the Group, external credit
risk rating, and forward-looking information. Based
on the single financial instrument or the combination
of financial instruments with similar characteristics of
credit risk, the Group compares the risk of default of
financial instruments on the balance sheet date with
that on the initial recognition date in order to figure
out the changes of default risk in the expected lifetime
of financial instruments. For financial guarantee
contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party
to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the
date of initial recognition in the application of criteria
related to the financial instrument for impairment.
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
1021 Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk

When triggering one or more of the following
quantitative and qualitative criteria, the Group believes
that the credit risk of financial instruments has
increased significantly:

o Quantitative criteria are primarily that the
probability of default of the remaining duration
of the reporting date rises by more than a
certain proportion compared with the initial
recognition

o Qualitative criteria primarily include major
adverse changes in the debtor’s business or
financial position, the debtor’s internal credit
rating is actually lowered or is expected to be
lowered, etc.

At the balance date, the Group assumes that credit
risk of the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the Group
determines that the financial instrument is only
exposed to lower credit risk. If the risk of default of
a financial instrument is low, the borrower is highly
capable of meeting its contract cash flow obligations
in the short term, and the financial instrument is
considered to have a lower credit risk even if there
is an adverse change in the economic situation and
operating environment over a longer period of time,
but it may not necessarily reduce the borrower’s
performance of its contract cash obligations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP EIRERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2021412 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
10.2.2 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
include observable data about the following events:

(1) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(2) A breach of contract by the debtor, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

(3)  The creditor, for economic or contracted reasons
relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty,
granting to the debtor a concession which
will not otherwise be granted in any other
circumstances;

(4) It becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganizations;

(5) The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties of
the issuer or the debtor.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
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10.

Financial instruments (Continued)

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
10.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses

The Group assesses the expected credit losses of
financial instruments based on individual and group
basis. The Group recognises the credit loss on
receivables, lease receivables, contract assets, etc., of
significant amount and insignificant amount but with
special credit risk on an individual asset basis, and
otherwise recognises credit loss of relevant financial
instruments on a group basis. The Group considers
the credit risk characteristics of different customers
and evaluates the expected credit losses of accounts
receivable on the basis of groupings by age, by quality
of credit history and by overdue age. The Group
considers various credit risk characteristics including
instrument type, credit risk ratings, collateral type,
date of initial recognition, remaining term to maturity,
industry, geographical location of the debtor and the
value of collateral relative to the financial asset, etc.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
10.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)
The Group determines expected credit losses of
relevant financial instruments using the following
methods:

o For financial assets, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive.

o For lease receivables, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive.

. For a financial guarantee contract, credit loss
is the present value of difference between the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder,
the debtor or any other party.

o For credit-impaired financial assets at the
balance sheet date, credit loss is the difference
between the gross carrying amount of financial
assets and the present value of expected future
cash flows discounted at original effective
interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
10.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)
The Group’s measurement of ECL of financial
instruments reflects factors including unbiased
probability weighted average amount recognised
by assessing a series of possible results, time value
of money, reasonable and supportable information
related to historical events, current condition and
forecast of future economic position that is available
without undue cost or effort at the balance sheet
date.

10.2.4 Write-off of financial assets
The Group shall directly reduce the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial
asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition of the relevant financial
asset.

10.3 Transfer of financial assets

The Group shall derecognise a financial asset when one of
the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, (2)
the financial asset has been transferred and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset is
transferred to the transferee; or (3) although the financial
asset has been transferred, the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset but has not retained control of the
financial asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.

Financial instruments (Continued)
10.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset,
and it retains control of the financial asset, the Group will
recognize the financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement in the transferred financial asset and recognize
an associated liability. Relevant liabilities are measured using

the following methods:

o If the transferred financial asset is measured at
amortized cost, the carrying amount of relevant
liabilities is the carrying amount of continuing
involvement in the transferred financial asset less
the amortized cost of the rights retained by the
Group (if the Group retains rights for the transfer
of the financial asset) plus the amortized cost of the
obligations undertaken by the Group (if the Group
undertakes relevant obligations for the transfer of
the financial asset), and the relevant liabilities are not

designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL.

. If the transferred financial asset is measured at fair
value, the carrying amount of relevant liabilities is
the carrying amount of continuing involvement in
the transferred financial asset less the fair value of
the rights retained by the Group (if the Group retains
rights for the transfer of the financial asset) plus the
fair value of the obligations undertaken by the Group
(if the Group undertakes relevant obligations for the
transfer of the financial asset), and the fair value of
the rights and liabilities is measured on a stand-alone

basis.
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10.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Financial instruments (Continued)
10.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that satisfies
the derecognition criteria, for financial assets classified
as at amortized cost and financial assets at FVTOCI, the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
asset transferred and the sum of the consideration received
from the transfer and accumulated amount of the fair value
changes originally taken to other comprehensive income
corresponding to the derecognized part shall be taken to
profit or loss for the current period. Where the financial
asset to be transferred by the Group is a non-trading equity
instrument investment designated as at FVTOCI, accumulated
gains or losses previously taken to other comprehensive
income are transferred out from other comprehensive
income and taken to retained earnings.

For a part of transfer of a financial asset that satisfies
the derecognition criteria, the carrying amount of the
transferred financial asset is allocated between the part
that is derecognized and the part that is continuously
involved, based on the respective fair values of those parts
on transfer date. The difference between the sum of the
consideration received for the part of the derecognition and
the accumulated amount of the fair value changes originally
taken to other comprehensive income corresponding to
the derecognized part and the carrying amount on the
date of derecognition for the derecognized part shall be
taken to profit and loss for the current period. Where the
financial asset to be transferred by the Group is a non-
trading equity instrument investment designated as at
FVTOCI, accumulated gains or losses previously taken to
other comprehensive income are transferred out from other
comprehensive income and taken to retained earnings.

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that does not
satisfy the derecognition criteria, the Group will continuously
recognize the transferred financial asset in its entirety.
Considerations received should be recognized as a financial
liability.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity

instruments
Financial instruments or their constituent parts issued
by the Group are classified into financial liabilities or
equity instruments on initial recognition on the basis of
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
economic nature but not only its legal form, together with
the definition of financial liability and equity instruments.

10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities
On initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified
into financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial
liabilities.

10.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL consist of financial
liabilities held for trading (including derivative
instruments of financial liabilities) and those
designated as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are presented as held-for-trading
financial liabilities or other non-current liabilities
according to their liquidity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities (Continued)
10.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)
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If one of the following conditions is met for
a financial liability, it suggests that the Group
recognises financial liability held-for-trading:

WEICHAI PoweRr Co.,

The purpose of undertaking the relevant
financial liability is mainly for the purpose
of repurchasing in the near future.

The relevant financial liability is, upon
initial recognition, a combination of
identifiable financial instruments that are
centrally managed and there is objective
evidence that the Company has recently
adopted short-term profit-making
methods.

The relevant financial liability is a derivative
instrument, except for derivatives that
qualify for financial guarantee contracts
and derivatives that are designated as
effective hedging instruments.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - BEGFHERRS5HL5H(EE)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity

10. €T HR(E)
104 £HEENER T AT

instruments (Continued) (&)
10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial 1041 2B 158 KR AT
liabilities (Continued) E(5E)
10.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued) 0410 U AR EEFER
HEeHt AZHE
=B EE)
The Group des